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PREFACE 

The nature and construction of a given historical work 

carries with it the obligations and implications of a con­

siderable amount of expended effort toward the ultimate 

goal of presenting to the reader the historical events of 

the subject matter involved, in a readable and instructive 

creativeness that will leave in its wake the correct and 

proper knowledge of the major sequences that must necessar­

ily become inherent in the revelation of human efforts. 

The author has sought to accomplish these motives in 

recording the history of the Klamath Indian Reservation, an 

area comprising over one million, two hundred and fifty 

thousand acres of land, timber, and other natural assets, 

located in southeastern Oregon , just east of the Cascade 

mountains. 

Briefly, it will become apparent that there has been an 

attempt to deal with the ethnological background for the 

direct purpose of giving the reader some idea of the origin, 

and life of the aborigines involved, but it should be noted 

here that this is also not an attempt at scientific exposi­

tion. The author has felt the need only for the purposes of 

clarification. The remaining sources have been those of 

research of the historically accounted for, and the personal 

contact with outside contributions. 



With the latter in mind it becomes cognizant to offer 

personal acknowledgement to those who were responsible for 

the success of this narrative. 

To those residents of Klamath County whose interest 

and patience in securing valuable material, the author is 

indebted to; Judge U. E. Reeder, Carroll B. Howe, Audrey 

McPherson, B. G. Courtright, superintendent of Klamath 

Indian Reservation, Joseph Monks, Chief Clerk, Klamath 

Indian Reservation, Malcomb Epley, Editor, Klamath Evening 

Herald, Percy Dixon, and Mrs. Lizzie Kirk. 

For the privilege of using their private collection 

of priceless photographic negatives, the author is espec­

ially indebted to Mrs. Ida Momyer Odell, whose collection 

represents a historical masterpiece, and to Mrs. E. K. 

Loosely. Others who contributed to this element are, C. B. 

Howe, and Mrs. Lizzie Kirk. 

Finally, the author is indebted to Dr. Dan E. Clark, 

and Dr. John Ganoe for their guidance in the research and 

organization of the material, and to Ivan McLeod, for his 

proof reading of the manuscript. 
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University of Oregon 

August, 1946 



INTRODUCTION 

Link River, which is sometimes refered to by the resi­

dents of the Klamath country, as "the shortest river in the 

world", was host on this particular evening to a flight of 

Pelicans, six of them, who were seemingly illustrating the 

graceful art of whirring up and down this short and roguish 

stream. One might have justly suspicioned them of preying 

upon some innocent fish by their sudden and dart-like maneuv­

ers, the precision of which took them within inches of the 

water's crest. 

They knew these waters, every inch of them, and they 

must have known too of the old Indian camp which lay not far 

away on the banks of the river. How long they had flown 

there no one will ever know. The ancestors of 11 old Mose 111 

might have known, but they would have been unable to tell in 

spite of the fact that they had been there some several hund­

reds of years. 

The truth is, they must have flown there a long time be­

fore the eyes of a Klamath, ru~odoc, or a Yahooskin Snake ever 

beheld the wings of this great white bird. But if one knew 

all these things of age one might be in circumspect of the 

time when the Klamaths and Modocs made their first appearance 

at Yulalona, 2 a site they held in common, or at Kowasti, 3 on 

the shore of Upper Klamath Lake, where the Klamaths eagerly 

waited to break the soil of their 11 new home 11 under the direc-
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tion of the first Indian Agent. 

The record does not show previously to 1825-26, of their 

contact with white civilization, yet a statement by Peter 

Skene Ogden, atrBpper of the Hudson Bay Company, would indi­

cate that they had known -of traders and trappers who had 

come their way at an earlier date, else their attitude would 

have not been what it was when they were found by him. On 

this occasion it was the Klamaths of the upper marsh area 

with whom he had come in contact, and we learn for the first 

time in written records of these particular p eop le. 

They had lived from time immemorial in the southwestern 

part of what is now the state of Oregon, and to be more spec­

ific, on the eastern slope of the Cascade range in what is 

now known as the Upper Klamath Lake area. It wa s here that 

they were to a lly themselves under a new form of l ife. This 

time under the supervision of the government of the United 

States. 

There is a movement of public opinion today that is dem­

anding the abolishment of the 11reservation 11 as a national 

policy in dealing with Indian affairs, and it is possible 

that the American Indian may yet take his place in American 

society as a responsible and independent individual, subject 

to the s a me qualities of law and man ners of living that h ave 

been extended to those r aces of lesser heritage in America. 

I.I 
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CHAPTER I 

In recent years, the eastern part of Oregon has been 

the proving ground of archaeological researches which have 

done a great deal to ascertain the probability of early man 

in that area. Cressman1 and others have labored tediously 

to show the existence of a people there whose remains indi­

cate that they must have inhabited this region many hundreds 

of years ago. This has been accountable for largely to the 

discovery of the articles of their culture in the caves2 in 

the southeastern part of the state. 

We do not know when the Paiute Indians, or as they are 

more commonly known, 11 Snake Indians 11 , made their first ap­

pearance in eastern Oregon, as they were a roving lot. But 

it is safe to say that they must have arrived a long time 

before the advent of the white man, with whom they were to 

come into conflict with in the middle of the 19th century. 

What is known about them appears to indicate that they 

belonged to the Shoshoni tribes of Paiute Indians that inhab­

ited the western parts of the United States, specifically, 

the Snake River country, which involves the states of Wyom- • 

ing, Idaho, Nevada, and Oregon. They were also known to have 

penetrated other areas, and were identified as the most 

northerly division of the Shoshean family. 3 

It seems that they formerly occupied western Wyoming, 
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meeting the Ute on the south, the entire central and south­

ern parts of Idaho, except the territory that wa s claimed 
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by the Bannocks, and a small strip of territory in Utah, 

west of the Gree.t Salt Lake. The Snake River country in 

Idaho is perhaps to be co.nsidered their homeland, or strong­

hold. The northern bands were found by Lewis and Clark in 

1805, on the headwaters of the missouri river in western 

Montana, but they had ranged previously farther ea st on the 

plains country, from whence they had been driven into the 

Rocky Mountains by the hostile Atsina and Siksika, who had 

already possessed firearms. They had not established them­

selves at any place on the Columbia river, although they had 

reached that river on their raiding excursions, for which 

they were famous. 

The origin of the term Shoshoni appears to be unknown. 

It does not seem to be a Shoshoni word, 4 and although the 

name is recognized by them as applying to the~selves, it 

seems to have orig inated among some other tribe. The Chey­

enne name for the Commanche, who speak the Shoshoni language, 

is, 11 Shishinoatshitaneo 11 , or 11 Snake people 11 ; but they, the 

Cheyennes, seem to have a different name for the Shoshoni. 

It has no etymological connection with the designation 

Shoshoni. 5 It has been variously used and frequently applied 

to the northern bands of the Shoshoni, especially those of 

Oregon, and by recen.t official us.age· the term 11 Snake II has 

been applied or restricted to the Yahuskin (Yaho.oskin) and 
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Wal-Pah-Pe (Walpapi) of Oregon. Hoffman6 was of the opinion 

that the term snake comes from a misconception of the sign 

for Snake Indian, made by a serpentine motion of the hand 

with the index finger extended. This he thought really has 

a reference to the weaving of the grass lodges of some of 

the Shoshoni, a reasonable assumption, since they are known 

as "grass people 11 , or some similar name, among numerous 

tribes. 

The more northerly and eastern Shoshoni were horse and 

buffalo Indians, and in character and in wa.r-like spirit they 

compared favorably with most of the western tribes. To the 

west in western Idaho, along Snake river, and to the south 

in Nevada, the tribes there represented a lower type. Much 

of this country is barren and was devoid of large game, and 

since a culture of any given type depends upon the geograph­

ical setting for its cultural traits, it is not surprising 

to find that these Snake Indians depended to a large extent 

upon fish, which was supplemented by rabbits, roots, nuts, 

and seeds. 

These foods, however, were not uncommon to other tribes 

who lived in less desolate areas. The name, 11 digger 11 was 

applied to these Shoshoni, and they were a.lso called, 11walk­

ers11, which alluded to the fact that they were too poor to 

own horses, or had not been able to gain them by conquest 

from other tribes. This term, however was not restricted to 

this area, as it applied to horseless Shoshoni everywhere. 
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None of these Shoshoni were agriculturists. In general, 

the style of habitation corresponded to the two types of them. 

In the north and east, they lived in Tipis, but in the sage ... 

brush country to the west they lived in brush shelters with­

out roofs, being merely half-circles of brush behind which 

they obtained an imperfect protection from wind and snow. 

It is thought7 that they also lived in caves in the winter 

time when extreme temperatures prevailed. There were many 

dialects among them, corresponding to a more or less degree 

of isolation of the several tribes. They presented no essen­

tial differences, and were all mutually understood. 

When the Hudson Bay Company, a British fur trading con­

cern, organized the 11 Sna.ke Expeditions 11 for the purposes of 

extending their interests in the pacific northwest, they se­

lected Peter Skene Ogden as the leader of the second-year 

expedition, that is, of 1826, and so contributed in part, to 

the further knowledge of the Snake India.ns; this time in the 

form of a written account. 

On his second trip in the pursuit of Beaver skins in 

the interests of this company, Ogden had many experiences 

with them. In one instance, he came upon a Snake hut, 8 and 

his curiosity being aroused, he decided to investigate. 

Upon close examination of this circumstmce he found an old 

Snake woman stirring something in a lerge stone bowl, and 

discovered that its contents were mashed_ ants and locusts. 

He relates that these IndiE.1,ns gave preference to the ants 
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for they were more oily and tasty. 

They made a paste of these and dried it and then 

chewed it for food . He further stated that these Indians 

lived on these things for about four months out of the year. 

Another significant thing that he noticed was that out of 

thirty Snake families that he had encountered, there were 

only three children to be seen in the camp, the others were 

too ill to move "about as a result of starvation which had 

been upon them for some time . 

He estimated that the Snakes had a population of about 

2,500 , and that they were divided into two groups , the upper 

and lower . On his third trip under the same conditions as 

noted above , he was confronted by an old Snake woman who re­

vealed that: 

from the severity of the winter last 
year her people were forced to live on the 
bodies of their relations who had died 
from starvation . She had not killed any 
herself, but she had been living on the 
bodies of two of her own childre~ who had 
died from weakness (starvation). 

Whether it was the severity of winters or that of other 

factors , it is rather evident that this condition of exist­

ence among the Snake Indians was a current of conditioning 

in the stream of living among them . To anyone who might be 

familiar with the snake country, this ought to appear as 

consonant with its geographic features . The ruthless char­

acter of their mode of living was a product of it . Man the 

world over is governed to a large extent by his relative 



environment, and no less the same may be said for these 

tribes. 
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The "snake country 11 , as referred to in fur trader par­

lance, is a high plateau, irregular in contour, and rises in 

elevation from three to over five thousand feet. Its soil, 

light at times and in places, and then a heavy, sticky adobe 

in others, and variable in its volcs.nic alternates, produced 

little in forms of subsistance. The variety of grasses, 

roots, sagebrush, were aids in some matters of protection. 

Food, though, had to come from running feet or flying wings, 

and much of this was scanty. Insects played their unworthy 

role, too. 

We can say then, that these people had an inherent right 

to be masters of the 11 raid 11 , and other forms of warfare to 

perhaps a higher degree of skill, or at least to a more wan­

ton degree of lust in their struggle for survival. 

The importance of the Snake tribes as related to cer­

tain phases of Oregon history, and particularly to the seg­

ment that concerns the Indians and their wars in Oregon , is 

illustrated by Spier, 10 who has shown that after acquiring 

horses, the Snake Indians became a d8ngerous menace to their 

neighbors. 11 After having been driven out of the Rocky Moun­

tains, as mentioned above, they turned their efforts west­

ward to the detriment of the other tribes, and early emmi­

grants to the Oregon Country. He has said among other things 

that a series of movements beginning in the 18th century 
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(1750) resulted in the withdrawing of the Salish to the north 

of Priest Rapids (Wash) because of the occupation of their 

territory by the Sahaptins and the Cayuse. 

The Mollas also withdrew into the mountains westward, 

even beyond the Willamette river. The Sahaptins, Tyighpams 

settled in part of their country (Mollas) , and the Tenino 

joining the Wasco. The immediate c2use of these movements 

seemed to have been the pressure of Snake Indian raids, at 

their height about 1830 . Now this is supposed to be conso­

nant with the very early acquisition of horses by most of 

the Snakes. However , this does not mean that ell Snake 

tribes had them, for the "digger" Snake Indians had no 

horses at all as late as 1841. 

Thus it seems that the Snake tribes were bent upon 

their drive to occupy all of eastern Oregon . This they 

accomplished together with the Bannocks by 1860. 12 Their 

attacks on the Warm Springs reservation was done in part, 

by the age- old hatred for these Indians as well as to incon­

venience the white settler and his institutions . 

While the process of arresting the influence of the 

Snake Indians vrns to wait for a few years , the Klamath and 

Modoc tribes had inhabited the southeastern slopes and val­

leys of what is now the Klamath country , and the latter had 

lived partly in northern California , near what is now the 

Tule Lake section . They were less protected from the invas­

ion of white settlers than the Klamaths who lived to the 
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north of them, but their environment was still much differ­

ent from that of the Pai ute tribes to the east, and north. 

In either case, they had lived in comparative isolation, and 
13 

had begged Ogden not to reveal their location to the Snakes. 

It is true that some ·of the Klamaths had traded captives 

with the Columbia river Indians and had visited relatives 

there. It is also true that the Modocs ranged as far west 

as Yreka, California , where they too had traded captives. 

But as to when these people began their settlement in the 

country in question, it is still simply a matter of pre-his­

toric conjecture that will have to be attended to by arch­

aeological discovery . 

There was a great contrast between the homelands of all 

three of these tribes . The Klamaths lived by the shores of 

Upper Klamath Lake with its verdant slopes , blue waters , and 

rugged terrain; a most attractive sight . The principal feed­

er stream of the area, the Williamson River which rises about 

thirty miles to the north in the swamps, was a source of 

much tribal livelihood. After passing through the Klamath 

marsh , it pursues its winding course and empties itself after 

having joined the Sprague River six miles from its mouth. 

The two rivers thus contribute to the waters of Upper 

Klamath Lake . This body of water is about eighty feet high­

er than that of what was once Lower Klamath Lake. Wood Riv­

er, with its affluent Crooked River, is another noteworthy 

feeder of the lake . The Lake is about 32 miles long and 
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varies between three and seven miles in width . On the east­

ern shores it is more shallow than on the western . The wa­

ters of the lake first empty themselves through Link River , 

and after a course of half a mile or a little more, fall 

over a rocky ledge at what was once called Linkville or what 

is now known as Klamath Fal l s . 

From there onward the stream takes the name of Klamath 

River , and it formerly received the waters of Lower Klamath 

Lake, then follows a circuitous course to the Pacific Ocean , 

on the northern California coast . It hardly needs to be 

said that through this whole course of travel it passed by 

many Indian camps ana. villages , some Klamath , and some Modoc , 

but mostly Klamath in this area . It is not strange to find 

the Modocs farther to the south on Lost River and its adjac­

ent area- ---- they were driven there by the arrogance of the 

tribe that was racially and linguistically related to them, 

the Klamaths . 14 

The Modoc country presents a close analogy to the envir­

onment of the Snakes , already described . It differs in that 

it lies closer to a source of water and wooded hills , but is 

geographically related to that of the Snake areas. It has 

been described15 as a country whose soil is formed of sand­

stone interstratified with ir-fursorial marls, or clay form­

ations. The nature_l bridge on Lost River has been upheaved 

by afault which left a rocky natural passage across the 

river that wa.s to play a rather important part in lat er times . 



This area was less productive than the shores of the 

grassy , green flatlands that surround much of the home of 
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the Klamaths. The Modocs, however, were able to live there 

in a rude fashion, and being an open country it did not offer 

the conducive elements o~ livelihood to the extent of a sat­

isfactory or cheerful setting such as that possessed by 

their northern neighbors, the Klamaths. They knew this too. 

The culture of these people was of a lesser quality in 

the richness of life, and we may allude here again to the 

influence of the geographical setting, and its almost unerr­

ing patterns of st atus and role of civilizations in their 

respective patterns of regulations as to ultimate condition-

ing. 

Cressman16 has stated that the culture of the region as 

found by the basketry of the area indicates that it would 

appear to be the center of diffusion or the spreading of the 

respective cultures of the area. This he terms to be one 

which includes archaeologically the Northern Greet Basin that 

extends to Lovelock (Nevada) on the south to the Deschutes 

and John Day River on the north. According to this evidence 

we do not know , even though this region extends to the west­

ern limits of the Klamath basin, a great deal about the Kla­

math region archaeologically . The type of basketry found in 

the caves of southeastern Oregon is associated with that 

found in Lovelock and Rumbolt caves. He concludes this offer 

of evidence by saying that: 



If our theory of diffusion is cor­
rect , its appearance at Catlow Cave would 
be expected to antedate its apnearence at 
this marginal locality. We may have her17 the origin of the Klamath-Modoc culture . 
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However it may be , this is at least a definite step 

forward in uncovering things we do not know about these 

people beyond the pale of the written record . The most 

accurate early information that we have of the Klamaths and 

Modocs comes , as we have already nointed out , from the diary 

of Ogden who discovered them by accident in the late fall of 

1826. His discovery was a belated one, for one of his party 

the year before had seen them , but unfortunately, left no 

record of it . 

These fur trappers had left their old tracks18 and had 

turned south towards the forks of the Deschutes which would 

take them in a southerly direction . In the process of doing 

all of this, Ogden discovered two lakes which came to be 

known as East Lake and Paulina . This occurred on November 

sixteenth . They moved slowly and crossed over another branch 

of the Deschutes , and from here they knew the trail as one 

of their party, Thomas McKay , had been there the year be­

fore. It was not long until they turned toward the Klamath 

country , and soon enough they encountered the first bands of 

the Klamaths of the ma~sh area . The village where these 

Indians lived was composed of twenty 11 tents 11 built up on the 

water, approachable only by canoe ; the tents being built out 

of logs sha,ed like block houses, and the foundation was 
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composed of stone or gravel about six feet in height. 

After remaining a few days among them, during which a 

certain amount of trade was carried out, an opportunity for 

observation of their 9articular condition as a tribe was 

revealed in the statement that: 19 

Thirty Clamittee Indians paid us 
a visit. Fine men in good condition 
but wretchedly clad. 

This might indicate a general condition for all of the Klam­

ath tribes, but such is not the case . The marsh area in 

which this scene took place was in those times devoid of any 

of the assistance of white civilization, and the natives were 

dependent solely upon their own resources for clothing, food , 

and shelter . The Wocus seed, ducks, fish and some wild game 

furnished the means of existence , assisted by roots etc. 

( see Plate III) 

Under such conditions as these plus the fact that the 

marsh area is a high, swampy, flatland , leaving the inhabi­

tants exposed in an open country to the elements of nature , 

it should not be expected that they were to be found in as 

full abundance as their relative further south, who were 

given the additional satisfaction of having a still greater 

amount of protective shelter, food sources, etc . , that are 

found in aforested area such as around Klamath Lake . Even 

These sometimes felt thepinch of starvation, in spite of what 

they had for their own resources . 

Following the Williamson river (see Plate I) these men 
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reached Upper Klamath Lake on December 12, 1826, and made 

several more observations. One of them was that the Klam­

aths had a contemptuous opinion of all traders, indicating 
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a previous contact with the white world at some earlier time. 

The type of indi vid_ual found here was better clothed and 

sheltered, and in more fRvorable circumstances than reported 

by Ogden of the up-land group . Without spending a great 

deal of time, the Hudson Bay trappers passed on down through 

the Modoc country, and into California. 

According to the evidence so far, it would be a fair 

question to ask why the Klamaths, although war-like in some 

respects, did not bear the imprint of being murderous sav­

ages in their attitude toward white intruders. Gatschet 2O 

and Spier21 have alluded to this characteristic and they 

have offered an explanation for it. 

First, the geographic locale of their home site had 

left them almost unknown to the outside world. Secondly, 

they did not have to travel great distances in search of 

food, and shelter. Thirdly, they had been unmolested by the 

inroads of white travelers, and lastly, their historical ex­

perience as a tribe had not left the scars of destitutition 

and want in the mind and on the bodies of their respective 

generations . This may account for the greater degree of 

self-satisfied arrogance that persisted among them as a 

tribe. 



CHAPTER II 

By 1843 the movement to the Oregon Country by many hun­

dreds of people in their search for new locations, brought on 

by various reasons , was aggravated by the conflict between 

the white settlers and their desire for homes , and the atti­

tude held by the tribes of the country that these people 

were invaders of what they held to be their own , though not 

having a sovereign title to the land that they occupied . 

They had held it by the ancient right of possession which 

according to them was sufficient enough . 

This conflict is not a new one; it has been one of the 

links of American history, and in almost every case, the In­

dian was forced to give ground to superior numbers and 

forces of circumstance . It is not , therefore , surprising to 

find that the same pattern of inevitable conflict should 

again arise with the same plots , new characters, and on a 

new stage . The chief difference was that the government of 

the United States had a policy for dealing with the Indian 

that wa s becoming rather well developed; namely, the reser-

vation . 

After the provisional government of Oregon Territory 

had been established in 1843, the newcomers beg an to look 

about them for further development of their interests . 

Anson Dart 22 had been appointed Superintendent of Indian 
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affairs for Oregon on July 20 , 1850, and three agents were 

also appointed; namely, Anson G. Henry, Reverend Henry 

Spaulding, and Elias Wampole. In October of that year, 

three commissioners were appointed to negotiate treaties 

with the several tribes in the Territory for the purpose of 

extinguishment of their claims to lands lying west of the 

Cascade range of mountains. 

Three years later when Joel Palmer took charge of Ind­

ian affairs, he found the natives in a restless condition, 

and warlike in their attitudes . By the fall of 1854 the 

situation looked critical. Writing to the Indian Commision­

er at Washington, he reve8led that: 

The crisis of the destiny of the 
Indian race in Oregon and Washington 
Territories is now upon us; and the 
result of the causes now operating 
unless speedily corrected will be dis­
astrous to the whites, destructive to 
the Indians, and a heav23reproach upon 
our national character. 

Palmerfs fears were not unfounded. The Indian had witnessed 

the arrivel of emmigrant trains, and understood that this 

meant that his ancestral domain was being encroached upon, 

at least to his way of thinking. 

To the Snake Indian this meant further opportunity to 

invest all of the genius for resistance that his ancestry 

had taught him . He knew no other answer . Certainly he was 

not inclined to favor the giving up of those things which he 

had counted a.s his heritage, and still more certain was the 

fact that he would not permit all this change to take place 
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without offering more than a token resistance. 

Palmer had reported that there had been a renewal of 

warfare24 east of the mountains in which half of the power­

ful tribes of the Nez Perce had joined. He was aware of the 

fact that unless the disturbance were quelled , it would lead 

to the necessary removal of other friendly tribes to the 

Warm Springs Reservation which had been established in 

1855. Gold had been discovered in centrel Oregon and this 

only added to the responsibility of maintaining peaceful con­

ditions on all fronts. 

When the sporadic warfare actually broke out in 1852 it 

was one of a gue:r:illa-like type, carried on in isolated sec- , 

tions, and had not yet become organized on a large scale un­

til in 1855 when it began to take on the appearance of a 

larger and more definite scheme. The principal motive be­

hind Snal~e raids was the stealing of horses and cattle from 

the settlers. This was the chief cause of the violence, and 

a form of retaliation was not slow in getting under way . 

This condition of affairs could not be carried on with­

out the inclusion of considerable loss of property and life, 

and the Snake Indian had little regard for either. Through 

the 1850 1 s and into the next decade they carried on their 

attacks. In one particular instance they went so far as to 

attack the Agency buildings at the Warm Springs Reservation~5 

forcing Dr. Thomas L. Fitch, the acting Agent, and several 

other employees to flee for their lives. Several Indians 



were killed in this encounter and one white man. This oc­

curred in 1859. 
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Rifles and ammunition began to move to various points, 

and vegeance groups began trailing the raiders into the in­

terior. One account reveals that a party of this kind came 

upon two Snake lodges, killing all the Indians and recovering 

some of the stolen horses found there. 

The same kind of accounts can be found relating to the 

mining parties who attempted to cross over into the gold reg­

ions. One might pursue these stories to almost no end for 

the next few years. The military forces of the government 

had not yet reached any proportion of real effectiveness in 

subduing these depredations. That was to come later. 

In the meantime, other places in the state were giving 

up evidences of this same struggle, but one of the most 

peculiar quirks about this series of Indian wars was the 

fact that the Klamaths and Modocs took no part other than to 

ally their sympathies with it. The explanation if any, can 

be found in the fact that they ha.d no real reason for getting 

into it . They had not been driven from their lands, although 

white settlers were moving into the Klamath country by 1860. 

Further, there had not been any real form of antagonism from 

white settlers as yet. 

The first break in the relations between the Modocs and 

the white immigrant came from an incident that occurred, at 

what is now known as Bloody Point, on the eastern side of 
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Tule Lake in 1852, when eighteen immigrants were murdered, 

and the Modocs were accused of the deed . The guilt of this 

act has been disputed many times by both white and Indian. 

These Modocs who were accused of this deed had lived in 

and about the Lost River, Tule Lake country in the s ame man­

ner of ancient heritage as their neighbors and relatives to 

the north . They spoke the southern di2.lect, and before the 

war of 1872- 73, in which they lost their freedom, they formed 

the southern part or chieftaincy, extending over the Lost 

River Valley 26 and the shores of Lower Klamath Lake, includ­

ing Tule Lake . 

Of their number, one hundred end fifty or more lived on 

the middle course of the Sprague River; some of them were 

scatt ered at the lower reaches . They called themselves 

Moatokni-maklBks, which was abbreviated to Moatokni, Mod­

okish (living at Motak) this being the name of Modoc or Tule 

Lake . The more important local divisions were the groups at 

Lower Klamath Lake, the Kumbatatwash and the Pasxanuash at 

Tule Lake. The Nushaltxagakni or the Spring Lake people 

were located at Bonanza , and the Plai-Yaneks or 11 uplanders 11 

were on Spr ague River, at end above 11 Yaneks 11 • Formerly the 

Modocs ranged westward as far as Butte Lake and Butte Creek , 

in Syskiyou County, California, w~ere they fished and dug the 

Camas root . 

They were referred to as a churlish people 27 and the 

fact that they showed themselves more aggressive towards 
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whites was the fact that they lived in an open country 

through which agreater number of white neople were moving . 

This contact aided in bringing on the acts of violence that 

they were charged with . 

The record of deeds among white men and Red, is one th~t 

has been largely written by the white, and it should not be 

unusual to find that the accounts are colored in favor of 

the white man . It has been atradition to blame the Indian 

for many things that he did not do , and in many cases the 

opposite must have taken place also. However the case may 

be, and to present both sides of the story , the Indian ought 

to be allowed to tell his . Whether the white r a ce is willing 

to accept it is enother matter . There is good evidence to 

lead one to believe that the Indian, and in this case, the 

Modoc , was accused of things that he did not do . 

Jeff Riddle, a Modoc and a son of Winema, and who will 

always be associated with the Modoc war, wrote e book28 in 

which he has tried to tell the Indian side of events leading 

up to that war . Among many things that he points out w0 s 

the fact, as he puts it , that the Pitt River Indians a tribe 

living nea.r the Oregon- Cal ifornialine , committed deeds for 

which the Modocs were blamed. An examole of this is one 

which narrates the story of how ~long about the year 1853, 

the Pitt River Indians waylaid and killed quite a number of 

immigrants, both men and children, somewhere near the place 

where Alturas, California now stands. 
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Some of them made their escape and reached Yreka, Calif­

ornia, and gave the alarm . The miners there made up a posse 

of about sixty- five men and headed for the scene . One James 

Crosby was chosen to be the captain , and they started out 

through the Modoc country in pursuit of the murderers . The 

company arrived at the scene of the kil ling and buried all 

of the dead that they could find . In passing through the 

Modoc country, they met several bands of Modocs but did not 

molest them . 

Although the company made an extended search, no trace 

of the actual murderers was found, and a.long towa.rds evening 

they made a camp down on the east side of Tule Lake . Some 

of the Modocs visited the camp , and according to Riddle , 29 

the white people had treated the 
Modo c s finely , the same as usual . The 
very first white people that the Modocs 
had got close enough to, had given them, 
clothes, flour, coffee , tea, bacon and 
blankets . They were really glad when 
the immigrants were in the country, and 
that was the reason they were not afraid 
of Crosby ' s party . 

Now it seems that during that first night while encamped 

there, and while Crosby ' s men were asleep, they were about 

twenty Pitt River India.ns who had been lying flat on the 

ground watching the proceedings. Suddinly in Indian fashion, 

the camp was broken up by wild shouts and confusion; the . 
Indians had attacked . Some of the men ran into the lake for 

protection . Some were hit by arrows , and only one got a ser­

ious wound . Crosby reputedly fired all of his cartridges in 

defense of himself and was credited with saving the situation 
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by rallying the men to the defense. At any rate, the attack­

ers were driven off . 

The next morning, Crosby and his men moved on in their 

search. They had not gone far when they came upon a party 

of fourteen Modocs encamDed in the open, and without any 

a_eliberation or attempt at making inquiries first, they 

opened fire, killing all but three of the group . This, as 

riddle claims, was the first Modoc blood spilled by the 

whites. 

A careful analysis of his book will reveal that there 

is a good deal of coloration and some exaggeration in the 

fact that the white man is always placed in the nosition of 

being the aggresor, and the Indian, the Poor, defenseless and 

down-trodden victim. Nevertheless, there are just two main 

sources of information concerning these events, one, the 

white version of such actions, and that of the opposing side, 

the Indian. To weigh them honestly and objectively, the 

reader will immediately be confronted with a confusion as to 

what ought to be the verdict. It is known that the early 

immigrants to the shores of America did receive friendly 

treatment from certain tribes of Indians, and also that he 

did not receive such friendly treatment. 

It is entirely possible that Modoc and white relations 

could have been friendly at first and that for one reason or 

another , this friendly relationship could have been terminat­

ed at almost any time. Considerable activity was going on 
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in the Oregon country at the time, 1853, thet the above 

event took place . When the immigrants had reached the wood­

ed hills of Oregon, they already had acquired a historical 

experience in Indian affairs, and with that, a probable pre­

judice against the Redman. The same may be said for the 

Indian too. The Modocs, in the written record of the white 

man, are referred to as a murdurous tribe that preyed upon 

passing immigrants whenever they came through their country. 

Riddle offers the explanation of the Bloody Point murders 

by saying that it was done by Modocs alright , but that it 

was done by individual members of the tribe, and not by 

tribal action. This, however, is no satisfactory explana­

tion, and would not have been a satisfactory one in the eyes 

of any white group of people. They would have simply held 

the entire tribe as responsible for the acts of any Modoc, 

which in this case they did without any hesitation or altru­

istic considerations. This pattern of judgment is encrusted 

with age, and it has existed with all cultural complexes 

throughout civilizations. 

Another event triat increased the flow of Modoc dislike 

for the newcomer, was the massacre on Lost River, near the 

natural bridge, of some Modocs , who according to Riddle, 

were brutally murdered, including the father of Captain 

Jack, Modo c sub-chief. If these things are true, it is not 

any wonder that the Lost River group was 11 churlish 11 in their 

attitude, and suspicious. 



From these kinds of events which must have occurred 

many times, the situation wa s growing worse for the rela­

tions between the relative position of the tribes and the 

Oregon settler. By the time that the Territory had become 
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a state in 1859, a great many people had definitely made it 

their new home, and any further disturbances or killings had 

become expressly incompatable wit_h the desires of public 

opinion. 

The commonwealth possessed at this time some men who 

had already demonstrated their abilities as leaders. One of 

these, Lindsay Applegate, who had done considerable service 

to the people , was the chief instigator of a movement for 

the establishment of a military fort in the Klamath region 

to protect the travelers who desired to pass that way. 

As a member of the state legislature in 1862, he urged 

the passage of a memorial to congress praying for the estab­

lishment of Ft. Klamath and the negotiation of a treaty with 

the Klamath and Modoc Indians. This movement was to bring to 

an end any further organized attacks upon the white settlers 

and travelers insofar as any future Indian warfare was con­

cerned. 

He had said, 30 that if the forts were manned with vol­

unteers, and that if they had a base from which to work , 

that they would be able to protect their homes from further 

vandalism. 

The federal government finally yielded to the clamor of 
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the public voice and established Ft. Klamath in 1863, for 

the expressed purpose of affording a me ans of protection to 

t h e newcomers. It, however, was not to become established 

without a political struggle. 

The Klamath region proper had had few settlers and the 

emigrants were passing far to the south on Tule Lake. It 

seems that Ashland, a town west of Klamath, sought to have 

it established at Tule Lake. Jacksonville, a mining town to 

the north and west of Ashland, wanted the fort to be estab­

lished above Klamath Lake so that it would get the trade 

from the fort. 31 As explained by Loosely: 

General Alford was in command of 
troops of Oregon, and he advised with 
Colonel Drew, who he sent out to look 
for a location. Drew reasoned that as 
Jacksonville was the county seat, why 
not give it the benefit of the trade. 
He recommended that the fort be built 
above Upper Klamath Lake. So it was 
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CHAPTER III 

The fort w s built at a location of about six miles 

above the site of the present a'gency; off the limits of the 

Klamath Reservation boundary line, and under the direction 

of Capt. Kelley, U.S.A. The original fort was a crude affair 

resembling a log, block-house type of construction, and was 

replaced in 1868 with the lumber of the times. The Civil 

War was over, and the fort was garrisoned with regular sold­

iers of the U.S. Army (see plate V). It wa s to remain there 

until 1889, when it was abandoned by the government as a mil­

itary post. 

With this military entity established, it was the fore­

runner of another event that had been shaping itself in the 

evolution of western settlement for similar reasons; namely, 

the organization of the several tribes into an established 

reservation. 

On March 4, 1864, Senator Harding, Oregon, introduced a 

bill in the Senate to authorize the President to negotiate a 

treaty with the tribes of southern Oregon. The bill was 

read twice by its title and referred to the Senate Committee 

on Indian Affairs. With the usual preliminaries over with, 

the bill entered the floor of the Senate for final debate. 

At this time, as well as later, very few men of eastern 

birthright had any conception of the size, distance, nor for 



30 

that matter of the Oregon Indian problem. Furthermore, very 

few of them realized the importance of the danger that 

threatened the Oregon settlements. 

The nation had not yet finished the problem of con­

flict within its own borders, and the Congress of the United 

States could hardly be expected to have at a finger's touch, 

the proper feeling or respect for the problem of Indian af­

fairs in Oregon. Transportation and communication being 

what they were, allowed for little aid in the matter of an 

almost intangible enterprise three thousand miles away. 

Senator Nesmith of Oregon reviewed the needs of a trea­

ty with the Indians of southern Oregon, and in particular, 

those of the Klamath region. Among other thing s , he pointed 

out that travel was getting heavy through the area; that the 

Indians had cut off the travel completely at times; that the 

government itself had suffered the loss32 of some 50 or 60 

thousand dollars through the violance of Snake raids on the 

Warm Springs Reservation and the surrounding country. 

In spite of this, Senator Foster of Connecticut offered 

the objection to the bill that it had not been accompanied 

. by a written report from the Senate committee of Indian af­

fairs, an error on the part of the committee. Senator Wil­

son of Massachusetts made the move33 to lay the bill over 

for a few days. To this action, Senator Nesmith replied 

that the bill was of urgent necessity, and asked that it be 

given immediate passage. On Tuesday, March 5th, it was 
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brought up again, and Senator Nesmith read into the record a 

letter of private correspondence from the Commissioner of 

Indian Affairs, Wm. P. Dole, supporting the treaty request~4 

By March 22, 1864, the Senators from Oregon had won 

their fight to create a treaty with the Indians of southeas­

tern Oregon. On that day a message35 from the House of Rep­

resentatives by Mr . McPherson, its clerk, announced that the 

body had passed Senate bill #25 to authorize the President 

to negotiate a treaty with the Klamath, Modoc, and other 

tribes associated with them. Two days later the Senate an­

nounced that the final signatures had been affixed represen­

ting that unit, and on March 28, Mr. Hay, the President's 

secretary, announced Mr. Lincoln's signature. 

The legal machinery had now set in motion the force of 

circumstances to make way for this long-sought reality. But 

this was Me_rch! It would be six months or more yet before 

the last final act would seal the maturation process; the org­

anization of the ground work for the reservation. 

The roots of the Indian policy were said by one source~6 

to have been found partly in the historical experience of 

the English settler who had met them face to face in the 

every day business of living, and the remainder in the ex­

pansion of the second and third generations who had to bear 

the brunt of the westward advance. Accordingly, they were 

determined to have what they sought in the expanding econo­

my of a young nation. 
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Further, that the English settler had simply taken for 

granted that no primitive people, especially one using bow 

and arrow, could be their equal in any respect either of 

deed, thought or belief, and consequently any ethical or 

moral conviction which the Indian might have or chance to 

possess, could not possibly be worthy of holding. This, it 

was concluded, was based upon a misconception of Indian 

character and capacity; a misconception that was to cost 

hundreds of lives. 

The governing body of the post-Revolutionary War era 

passed an a ct on August 7, 178637 called 11 0rdinance 11 for 

the regulation of Indi an affairs, and divided up the Indian 

a.epartment into two parts. The southern one included all 

Indiens below the Ohio River into one large domain. The 

northern part included all Indi ans above and west of the 

Hudson River. Each one WRS to have a superintendent, and 

was to appoint deputies. Further, it provided that none but 

citizens of the United States snould be suffered to live 

among them or be allowed to trade with them . 

The superintendent was to have reported to the Secre­

tary of War, and to have been under his jurisdiction. This 

is an important fact to be remembered. They had no juris­

diction over the Indians at all. Their only duty was to 

superintend the trade. The framers of the Constitution 

deemed it of importance that the central government should 

have control of Indian affairs, and this probably was a 
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justifiable move . In August , 1789, the first step was taken 

to influence the lives of the Indians . 38 

It appropriated the sum of $20 , 000.00 for the negotia­

tion and treatment with the Indian tribes, and authorized 

a commission t o be appointed, who referred to as 11Agents 11 in 

dealing with the Indians . The suggestion made by these com­

missioners provided the licensed trader system , which in a 

modified , and now somewhat streamlined way , is the system 

that is used today . No agent was authorized for appointment 

before 1797 . In the meantime , temporary ones were appointed . 

On April 18 , 1796, 39 Congress adopted c1 law authorizing the 

establishment of trading houses on the western and southern 

frontiers . Those agents appointed under the new law were 

the first ones to occupy this position . 

It was an experiment with the government and the term 

of the Agents was limited to two years . The primary object 

was to protect the frontier , which had suffered notoriously 

during the Revolutionary War , and had continued to do so in 

the post- war years . The act was allowed to exist until 

1822 , 40 when it was permitted to expire and the system was 

abolished . 

In the meantime , an act by Congress in 180041 provided 

for the division of the United States northwest of the Ohio 

River into two separate parts of government, and the duties 

of the Superintendent of Indian Affairs was united with 

those of the Governors of the territories then established , 



34 

which were the Northwest Territory and the Indiana Territory . 

In 1802, 42 the government passed an act authorizing the Pres­

ident to expend annually a sum not to exceed $15 , 000 . 00, 

llcausing them (the Indians) to be furnished with domestic 

animals ana_ i mplements of husbandry 11 • The Agents yet had no 

power to a_irect the lives of the Indians . 

On April 21 , 1806, Congress authorized43 the c:ppoint­

rnent of an officer t o be designated as 11 superintendent of 

Indian Trea_e 11 , whose duties it seems was to take charge of 

all goods intended for trade , and transmit them to such places 

as shall be directed by the President . After this act our 

Indian affairs were administrated by officers who were in 

some instances governors of the various territories , who 

acted as ex- officio superintendents of trade , agents who 

were appointed under the law of 1802, the superintendents 

of Indian trade , and the factors or agents in charge of the 

trade at focal points . 

Subsequently in 1819 the foundation for the present 44 

system , that is , unti l more re cent times , was laid . Agents 

acting at first as farmers, teachers, and performing such 

duties as the President might direct . From this time on the 

provisions for the administration of affairs , so that event­

ually sub- agents were appointed, and other employees of the 

respective agencies , were carried out by other dealings with 

the Indians . 

By July 9 , 1832 , the President was authorized45 to ap-
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point or approve a commissioner of Indian affairs. The du­

ties of this officer were to be general . By this provision , 

the Bureau of Indian Affairs was established . It had act­

ually been functioning since 1824 , but had not been recog­

nized as a legitimate department . 

The Indian Intercourse Act of 183446 reestablished the 

old license trader system of 1790 with modifications , and 

greatly enlarged the powers of the government over the Ind­

ians and Indian country . It forbade any white person from 

living in the Indian area without the expressed permission of 

the Commissioner of Indian Affairs ; section ten of this act 

provided for this, and it also broadened the scope of the 

powers of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs . This act was 

the first real concrete effort to organize a legal entity 

for the Indian, and it had the full and real desire of the 

government to do something constructively for the Indian . 

The growth of the government ' s control of the Indian 

came about through natural processes and the control over 

his personal life came through the development of the legal 

aspects of trade . The case of Ogden vs Gibbon47 in which 

the Supreme Court ruled that 11 commerce is also intercourse 

and must be recognized as such, and the ca.se of U.S. vs Hol­

iday, 48 which decided that commerce with Indians by whites 

and citizens of the United States are subject to regulation 

by the exclusive powers of Congress, are two examples of 

this growth of regulatory power . 
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As the population of the United States increased, and 

the westward movement on the frontier swept everything be­

fore it, the events pressed hard on Congress for a more in­

timate contact with the Indian. The designation of Army Off­

icers as Indian Agents in 1834 further extended this author­

ity. This was, as we shall see, to be of unfortunate cir-

cumstance. 

In the meantime, let us look at the closing phases of 

development of the growth of this Federal policy of adminis­

tering Indian affairs. On March 3, 1847,
49 

Congress fur­

ther extended its authority of right over the Indian by 

passing an act that provided that, 11 all annul ties and goods 

allowed to the Indian should be made to the heads of famil­

ies 11. Civil liberties were taken away from them by a rider 

clause of this act that declared, 11 all excutory contracts 

made and entered into by the Indian ana. the government for 

payment of goods or money shall be denied and held null and 

void 11 • 5O This placed the Indian in the position of a minor. 

He was now strictly award of the government . 

The Department of the Interior took charge of Indian 

affairs under the office of the Secretary of the Interior on 

March 3, 1849. The act of 1834, a1ready_ mentioned, gave no 

authority to Agents nor to officers of courts to take cogni­

zance of offenses or crimes in Indian territory, so the act 

of March 1854 was passed which allowed the courts a limited 

ru thority over crimes and misdemeanors against whites only. 
51 

------------- ---------
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Two more acts of 1870 and 1878 completed the series of ad­

ministrative provisions for legal supervision of the Ameri­

can Indi an. In 1878, Indian police were organized for the 

first time (see plate XI). 

Thus far we have tried to show how the relationship be­

tween the United States government a nd the Americ an Indisn 

became administratively strengthened. This growth came 

about not as a means of repression of the Red Men, but what 

the people of the times thought wa s needed. 

It is easy to look back at the times and make the mis­

take of reeding into the picture those things that we may be 

inclined to believe as aresult of incorrect interpretation 

of events . When one considers that the west in particular 

presented an immediate need for a definite policy in spite 

of anything that had happened before, it becomes more evi­

dent that the government saw its needs in terms of immediate 

controls if it was to cope with the problem at all. 

52 There are those who have excoriated the government for 

this policy, comparing it to monopolistic finesse. It is 

possible that there may be an element of truth in some of 

this, but the fact should always be remembered that the gov­

ernment of the United States is simp ly that of the people 

who live in it, and it cannot be any stronger, wiser or more 

just than those who are elected to run it. If it dealt un­

f a irly with the Indian, which it did at times, it should be 

remembered that somewhere the government wa.s betrayed by 
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individuals. Recent allocations of federal funds, as we 

shall show later, more than compensated for l osses sustained 

by former circumstances, as in the case of the Klamath tri­

bes. This happens to every generation, and it is one of 

historical experience. 
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CHAPTER IV 

From the fire tower which today overlooks the highway, 

about a mile above the present agency, one may gaze down­

wards some one thousand feet and contemplate upon the scene 

that took place there some 82 years ago------------ here is 

an island surrounded by Crooked River or what was some times 

called Crooked Creek, that is still the possessor of those 

lofty pines, and the soft, green grasses that felt the trod 

of silent feet that had come there that day to make a solemn 

agreement; it was October 14, 1864. 

In compliance with instructions from Indian Commission­

er Wm. P. Dole, Washington, J. W. Perit Huntington, Superin­

tendent of Indian Affairs for Oregon, accompanied by Agent 

Logan of the Warm Springs Reservation, passed through the 

Deschutes valley to Ft. Klamath and found a large number of 

Indians assembled, 53 seven hundred and ten of whom were Klam­

aths , three hundred and thirty nine Modocs, md twenty two 

from the Snake tribes. The latter should be remembered. 

After a brief stay the representatives of the tribes 

and those of the government met at Council Grove where the 

articles of agreement were presented to the Chiefs; where 

Lindsay Applegate acted as interpreter; where the head men 

of the tribes affixed their 11marks 11 , and closed the trans­

action whereby their ancient homes now became their 11 new 11 
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one. It was 11 new 11 beceuse they would not have to leave, 

those who were Klamaths, but this would not be the case for 

the others. 

The treaty (see Appendix) was a lengthy one consisting 

of twelve articles with amendments. It was not actually ac­

cepted as completed at the time in terms of legality, as Con­

gress still had some ammendments to clear up, that were added 

to it. This point will be discussed later. For the most part 

it WAS the conventional treaty. Lines of demarcation were 

defined , (see plate VI) the provisions for a certain sum of 

money to the tribes for compensation of their lands, and 

other provisions dealing with a multitude of factors. It 

was not legally proclaimed until 1870. 

One writer has attacked the good purposes of the govern­

ment by pointing out several errors in the composition. 54 It 

is true that the word 11 east 11 was mistakenly placed instead 

of 11 west 11 , an error that could happen to any document. The 

treaty prov ided a payment of a total sum of $80,000.00 to be 

paid out of the treasury of the United States over a period 

of years, but these were not to begin until after the treaty 

had been ratified , in which case no funds were forthcoming, 

during the intervening years. 

The above sum of money if divided among the members of 

the tribes involved, would not have been a very large amount , 

something like seventy-five or eighty dollars apiece, assum­

ing that there were about one thousand members of the origin-

j 



al reservation group. Gatchet, 55 has said that there were 

about two thousand souls to which this amount applied, but 

the record does not show that many on hand. 56 
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According to article three of the treaty the sum of 

$35 ,000 .00 was agreed upon as to being paid in addition to 

the other stipulated sum of $80,000.00, already mentioned. 

The langusge of it revealed that 11 a portion whereof shall be 

used to pay for such articles ~s may be advanced to them at 

the signing of the treaty, and the remainder shall be used 

to subsist them during the first year after their removal to 

the reservation 11 • We shall discuss this element in more de­

tail at a later and more applicable time. 

A noteworthy section of the treaty as found in Article 

IV promised among other things that the government agreed to 

construct at a suitable point on the reservation, one flour 

mill, ablacksmi th, shop, a wagon and plough maker I s headquar­

ters, and the necessary buildings for a manual of labor 

school. These are all items of physical plant assets that 

were needed at once or in the immediate future on the reser­

vation. 

It further agreed to, at the descretion of the govern­

ment, cause a 11part or whole of the reservation to be sur­

veyed into tracts of land and assigned to members of the 

tribes 11 or to others of the Indians who may benefit from it. 

It placed a restriction as to the head of a family being the 

only one eligible to the abstract title to the tracts, and 
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set the limits of acreage involved. The tribes could not 

sell the land thus promised to outsiders, subject to for­

feiture of all rights and titles to same. In keeping with 

previous laws the government prohibited the sale or drink­

ing of spirituous liquors. These laws had been passed by 

an act of Congress in 1834 E!1 d supnlemented in 1862. 57 

Certain irregularities will appear as to the receipt 

of funds as promised. In order for any of these payments to 

come through they required an act of Congress appropriating 

the sum or sums involved in the treaty. This appears to be 

one of the great weaknesses in the administration of Indian 

affairs by the government in carrying out its obli6ations to 

the tribes. 

It might be supposed that pressure of one kind or P.no­

ther many times caused the nation 1 s lawmakers to overlook 

their obligations. When it is observed that there could be 

many opportunities for this, it could be a forgivable act on 

the part of Congress, yet there is evidence that will seem 

to indicate that some of it was pure neglect. 

The treaty set up a system for the control and manage­

ment of the affairs of the Klamaths, Modocs, and certain 

Snake groups, and brought to an end any further encroach­

ments upon public welfare. It did. not bring under control 

a certain number of outlaw Sriake bands who continued to har­

ass certain parts of eastern Oregon. 





CHAPTER V 

With the machinations of the treaty organization and 

settlement over with, the next great problem became the act­

ual beginninbs of arrangements for the coming of the first 

Klamath Reservation Agent, Lindsay Applegate. 

He had served in a minor capacity in the early treaty 

preliminaries, and had been associated with the tribes of 

the region in the prosecution of this enterprise. It will 

be recalled that only twenty-two Snake Indians had put in 

their appearance at Ft . Klamath at the time of the arrival 

of Huntington's party there, preceeding the treaty arrenge­

ments. These were the representatives of the Yahooskin band 

who had been agreeable to their force of circumstances. 

A review of the whole first year ' s operations in detail 

58 is contained in a letter written by Applegate in August, 

1866. This reveals many items of importance as to the con­

ditions of affairs . It seems that he set out for the Klam­

ath Reservation in the month of October, 1865, after having 

officially accepted his duties in September of that same 

year . 

His first object WPS to attempt to create a treaty with 

a Snake Chief, named Howlock , who was the chief of the prin­

cipal band of Sna.kes not accounted for in the treaty, and 

who was said to be inhabiting the regions of the Sprague 
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River Valley. To accomplish this, he sent out a deputation 

of Yahooskin Snakes, together with Pauline (Paulina), the 

chief of the Wal-Pah-Pe 1s, a band of half Snake and half 

Klamaths. 

These Indians returned saying that Howlock had declared 

himself for a continuation of the wars, indicating the re­

bellious attitude of a great many Snake Indians. This cir­

cumstance immediately presented to the agent a rather hope­

less situation, as he was in no position at this time to do 

anything about it. Giving up the plan, temporarily, he re-

turned to the reservation to ascertain the feeling of the 

tribes there, and then made plans to go to Ashland. 

Returning to the reservation again soon, he set about 

to bring further influence on Howlock to give up and come 

onto the reserve, and in order to accomplish this he enlis-

ted the services of Chief Paulina. It seems that in August, 

1865, a treaty had been signed between Paulina and Hunting­

ton, and they were to become a part of the new life. Paul­

ina, as proof of his sincerity, offered to accompany Apple­

gate with his warriors on this undertaking. This, however, 

caused him to begin to have a suspicion of the Chief's ac­

tions, as Paulinabrought few of his people onto the reser­

vation and hesi te.t ed about taking up arms against Howlock. 

In December we find the government's representative at 

Ft. Klamath, issuing food supplies to the Snakes, including 

Paulina and his people. These supplies consisted of shorts 
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and flour and were intended to last them until Spring. The 

supplies were borrowed from the military at Ft. Klamath. 

The reason for this is explainable in the fact that no funds 

had yet been provided by the government for the purchase of 

the same. 

The treaty had not yet been ratified and this beginning 

to work a hardship of the affairs at the reservation. Com­

menting upon the situation, Applegate remarked that: 59 

I became convinced at this time of 
the growing conviction of the tardiness 
and disaffection of the government ful­
filling treaty stipulations, and I gave 
it as my opinion in a communication to 
your office, that something ought to be 
done about it by the government as soon 
as possible, to inspire the Indians with 
proper confidence in it (treaty). 

In order to carry out a plausible appearance of the govern­

ment 's intentions, and in order to ascertain the qualities 

of soil, keeping in mind the grain and vegetable needs, 

Applegate commenced making arrangements for placement of 

those crops. This occurred in April, 1866, as he had left 

the reservation in the previous winter and returned again 

to Ashland. 

Toward the close of April he began making preparations 

f-or the trip back to the reservation, after having secured 

the supDlies, on credit. He left Ashland on May 1, 1866, 

following the old immigrant tr9il, the present route of the 

Ashland-Klamath Falls highway, and proceeded without diffi­

culty, except for fallen timber as far as the emigrant 
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caused him to open up a heretofore unknown route . 
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He changed his course from almost due east and followed 

as f ar a s Link River in a north-easterly direction, a route 

that had been followed by some parties going to the gold 

fields. At Link River he chang ed the course to a west of 

north through the mountains bordering the country on the 

east side of upper Klamath Lake . 

After having traveled through a pass in the mounta ins 

that had never before been used by white travelers , he reach­

ed the head of Klamath Lake at a point eight miles from Ft . 

Klamath, and called by the Klamaths 11Kohasti 11 , or place of 

beginning. Deeming this a satisfactory location, he set up 

his headquarters and began making arrangements for opera tions. 

In making his plans for this journey over the Cascades 

he had included several people as passengers. Among them 

were his young son Oliver, who was about twenty years old, 

Samuel D. Whitmore, a man named Reed, and another son, 

Lucien. Oliver had previously accompanied his father to Ft. 

Klamath a s a clerk in the summer of 1865 . But in May 1866 

they had started this journey to 11Kohasti 11 • 

Jepsen60 has given a full account of it, and it is 

learned that when they reached Link River and h ad crossed 

over the old bridge that is spanned by a later one now , they 

did not know exactly where the route should go, and it so 

happened that a Link River Ind_i2n, who later was known as 
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"Old Mose", agreed to guide them. They followed up the east 

side of the lake instead of attempting to go around through 

Lost River Gap and through the Sprague River Valley as orig­

inally thought of. This route later came to be known as the 

old fort road and can still be seen in parts today. 

Kohasti, or place of beginning, was one that was admired 

by Applegate, and consisted of an area that wa.s marked by 

fine timber, clear streams, and with a climate that was seem­

ingly milder than at Ft. Klamath. It was not far from the 

Indian village on the banks of the Williamson River, and 

near enough to the fort for needed purposes. He remarked: 61 

this place for an agency could 
scarcely be excelled. 

At the time of this location he made the observation that 

there was a place three miles to the north where a fine mill 

site could Je had , and in 1868 the agency was moved there. 

In the me8ntime, operations for ploughing were begun , 

and this resulted in sixteen acres being planied in the var­

iety of oats, barley, corn, beans, turnips, carrots, and 

other items of harvest. H~ mentions that the Indians assis­

ted in putting up fence to the extent of closing about 1000 

acres with a brush-log inclosure . This activity caused the 

Klamaths and Snakes to feel that the government really was 

intending to keep its word. 

The enthusiasm of the Indians for the work is expressed 

in the fact that they were willing to assist with whatever 

the director requested them to do. He kept group of from 
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ten to thirty six men making way for the new site, and pre­

paring the soil for crops. What he did not realize was the 

tricky and deceiving climate of this part of the Klamath 

country; in fact is applicable to all parts of it, in regard 

to frosts. It was not long until he was to discover that 

most of his vegetable crop had been ruined by it. 

The bitterest lesson of all was to be found in the 

realization that the government was to forget him and his 

Indian wards until 1867 before they were to receive any real 

assistance in the form of supolies and goods that were badly 

needed. During this time they were dependent mostly upon 

their own resources and what scanty help they received 

through the efforts of the agent. It was working a hardship 

on the relations between the agent and certain bands of Snake 

who had not yet come on the reservation. 

In the closing paragraphs of his account Applegate re­

marked that the Modocs who had been on the reservation a 

very short time had left it and had gone back to their old 

home in the Lost River country. Further, Paulina and his 

people too had not stayed, having left in April, 1866, and 

he remarked: 62 

and I am led to believe that he 
went away with hostile designs and 
that there is not now a union of all 
Snakes for a more determined war. 

In spite of these trying conditions, the manager of the gov­

ernment's attempt to provide a new home for the Indians car­

ried on his purpose. 
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The account of how some of the Snake bands were induced 

to give in to the idea of living on the reservation is brou­

ght to light in the facts 63 concerning that of the repeated­

ly mentioned Paulina. It seems that when he refused to sign 

the treaty with the others in the fall of 1864, Huntington 

directed the capture of some of his people, among them his 

wife. Seeing this, the chief signed at Ft. Klamath August 

12, 1865. 

When word finally came in the fall of 1867 that the 

treaty had been ratified by the Senate, but not yet pro­

claimed, it was of great stimulus to the hopes of those who 

would be mostly influenced by it. Huntington had sent word 

to Applegate to meet him on the road, and assist him in 

bringing in some of the supplies that had been promised . 

To do this, it required that a road would have to be cut 

through central Oregon toward The Dalles, the starting place 

of the supply trains. 

It was cheaper to do this than to try to go around and 

through the western valleys and mountains to the Klamath Res­

ervation. There was still agreat danger of being attacked 

by Snake bands who were at war in central Oregon. To assist 

him in this task, Captain Applegate asked the commander at 

Ft. Klamath for aid. 64 So a military escort was granted and 

a detachment of six men under Corporal Burns was given to 

this effort. 

As this force was considered too light for 1.vhat was 
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needed, his son Oliver undertook to recruit an escort from 

the faithful Klamaths , and it was not long until about 

thirty men made up the contingent . The party set out north­

ward following an ol d Indian trail from Ft . Klamath on the 

16th of October, roi passed the upper Klamath marsh . At a 

point nea.r what is now La Pine, Oregon, they remained for a 

few days and wai ted . 

A messenger was sent back to the reservation to inform 

one of the chiefs , Palmer, (see Plate VII) to proceed north­

ward with twenty men and to widen the trail, making it pass­

able for wagons . The military escort was left at Q;ueah Val­

ley, and the main party consisting of the Applegates and a 

trapper named Estes, moved on past Farewell Bend (Bend, Ore­

gon) and finally met Huntington and the train at a point 

near the present town of Madras . 

This long- awaited-for train consisted of some sixty 

head of cattle, some of the treaty emi)loyees for the Klamath 

Agency, adozen teamsters, and other helpers, and fifteen 

Warm Springs scouts . They had not had to traverse any for­

ests so far , but had experienced considerable trouble with 

rough and miry country , since the fall rains had s~t in . 

It was a toilsome , weary journey over a route of some 

two hundred miles back to the agency at 11 Kohasti 11 , but after 

several days of slow travel, the party of Indians and whites 

wa s to be seen nearing the l ast barrier, the ridge that sep­

arates the flatlands of the agency from the tra il to the 
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north. Near the last hill before the arrival, they met Mr. 

Whitmore, the agency farmer, with a load of h.s_y and who had 

been unable to get any further. The journey had been com­

pleted on November 16 . 

After having been gone for about a month, md having 

covered more than four hundred miles of difficult ground , 

the arrival of the wagon train was followed by a distribu­

tion of provisions, implements, dry goods, and other useful 

articles among the Indians, who were jubilant over the affair . 

An interesting sidelight of the reaction is gained from 

the statement that : 65 

Among goods distributed were lengths 
of red fl1:mnel to be made into dresses and 
other garments by the Indian dames , and 
many a yard of government flannel was seen 
flapping from the top of the 11 stake 11 , and 
11 rider 11 fence that the agent had already 
built along the edge of the agency from 
Kowasta , three miles north to the site of 
the present agency . 

Here we have an insight into the early days on the reserva­

tion under the direction of Lindsay Applegate who had labored 

in a concientious manner to provide an establishment for 

those people who had acquiesed to the influence of a growing 

nation . Two more years and he would be gone . 



CHAPTER VI 

Realizing as before that the Congress of the United 

States, in being three thousand miles away from the scene 

of the rise of the Klamath Reservation, as a political en­

tity, could not feel the full scope of operations; could not 

be in touch with the pulse of its dire needs. 

Scarcely a little more than two months efter the act of 

negotiating a treaty with the tribes had been made law, the 

assembly at Washington passed another act 66 which granted to 

the State of Oregon a tract of land which embraced some 

800 ,00 acres of mostly timbered lands that were to be used 

in part for the construction of a public road. 

Rememberin6 tnat the reservation had not yet been estab­

lished at the time the above act was passed (July 2, 1864), 

and that any designation of boundary lines concerning the 

reservation would have to wait final confirmation of the 

treaty, Congress unwittingly, and as far as we know, without 

any Qeliberative aforethought, confused its legislation by 

granting this land with certain road rights that were to be 

used by a private company for the construction of the same. 

Article I of the treaty had provided for the right of 

wey for a public road. It hnd also provided for the right 

of way for railroads to be cut through the reservation. 

What it did not provide for w~s the right of private parties 



54 

to sell off lands of the reservation for private profit . It 

granted this land to the State of Oregon who in turn granted 

the land to a certain company for the priviledge of construc­

ting a road way which eventually was to cut through the 

heart of the Klamath Reservation , a circumstance that was to 

bring chagrin and confusion to those who were responsible 

for it . 

This road was to run from Eugene, Oregon, down through 

the sout~ern and e9stern part of the state (see Plate VIII) 

to Silver City , Idaho, a mining center of that time . The 

parties concerned in the construction of that road were to 

be known as the Oregon Central Military Road Company, com­

posed of locs.l Eugene business men . Wb.en the treaty was fin­

ally signed by the Senate in 1869 , nothing wa.s said about 

the matter of having made this grant, and its subsequent re­

granting by the State of Oregon to this company concerning 

any rights of sale of Indian lands . 

The grant as specified by the state to the com9any pro­

vided that the road right allowed for alternate sections of 

public lands, designated by odd numbers on each side of the 

road for three miles deep, and if constructed according to 

that, would cut through the whole of the Sprague River Val­

ley . 

The Senate in the fall of 1867 had ratified the treaty 

with the Klamath, Modoc , and Snake tribes, and thereby auto­

matically bound itself to the terms of the treaty , as set 



RE ~Additional are~ 
claimed by the 
tribes 

Green-Elliot Survey 
1900 

Brown- Added y The 
Thiel :::iurvey 1888 

t . v llow-Mercer u~-
vey 187 

ms.ey l,it. 

---1 f..~ '3ycan 
Bell i ... ... 

7 
. .rv:arsb 

er I I·~' 
' !..~·· • I, , .... 

aim I 71 -,,. J ~/I I • 

MAP SHOWING INDIAN BOUNDARY CLAIMS 
QREGON CENTRAL MILITARY ROAD) 

PLATE_ VIII 



55 

forth in Article XII. The House of Representatives had 

passed a bill authorizing this grant to the State of Oregon 

on July 2, 1864, and the bill became a law after the Sen­

ate's concurrenc e of the same. Exactly three months and 

twelve days before the treaty with the Klamath tribes was 

signed at Council Grove, the government had granted it to 

the State of Oregon, who in turn made the grant to the above 

company. It was to prove most confusing to the best of white 

attorneys, and it would appear to be somewhat ridiculous to 

the Indian. 

Lands previously granted by the United States except 

for the right of way, were excepted from the grant , but not 

in this case. The road was to be constructed in width, with 

gradat ions and bridges as the State might prescribe, and it 

was to be completed within five years (1869). The land ex­

cept for the ~irst thirty sections-divisions as the governor 

of the State certified that ten continuous miles of the road 

had been completed". was to be sold. 

Ordinarilty, one would assume that there must hqve been 

a motive for the promotion of such a road. True, Oregon was 

a land of opportunity, and her citizens were entitled to the 

natural growth that each of the commonwealths throughout the 

nation had obtained. But one should remember that in almost 

every cas e of development of the country some enterprising 

individual or group has seen the need for development in 

terms for private profit, under the herPlded banner of 
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altruistic benevolence. 

It seems that Mr . B. J. Pengra, a citizen of Eugene, 

was possessed with the desire to create a magnificent Oregon 

through the development of her natural resources. He WQS 

accredited67 as having been the leading spirit in the form­

ing of the Oregon Central Military Road Company and as a man 

who wanted more th&n anything else to be identified with 

projects of magnitude. He had visualized Oregon made rich 

through the railroad and road development. Bruce has said 

that: 68 

he wanted to be a statesman, a 
leader, a doer of great things. It 
was not the monetary gain that inter­
ested him, but the thrill of being a 
part of the vital and important enter­
prises. 

Without any reason for doubting this, the Morning Oregonian 

had characterized him69 as the most active spirit in the 

development of the road from Eugene over the Cascades moun­

tains, and in obtaining the grant from the federal govern­

ment • 

. The actual need for the road over the mountain had been 

discussed for some time before the company actually was 

formed. In early April 1864, the Oregon State Journa17O ran 

an editorial upon the value of the proposed road across the 

Cascades . The article went on to illustrate the purposes of 

such a road being necessary to furnish a way of tra.nsporta-

t ion and travel to the mining country, and ultimately to con­

nect to a line of stages with the Pacific Railway. Also, 

......ii. 
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the road would induce settlers and miners to occupy portions 

of the state east of the Cascades and south of the Blue 

Mountain country. 

Throughout the history of the United States, the common 

people have always seen the need for things long before the 

national government or even the state government could see 

it, and it seems that here was the case again. In the maj­

ority of such cases they took such action as within their 

ability to provide. There had to be a leader and Mr. Pengra 

provided the initiative. But let us look closer at the re­

cord. 71 

Although the motives quoted did not 
appear in print until the road company was 
a reality, we have evidence to show that 
the O.C.M.R. Co. was also formed to the 
purpose of taking adv2ntage of the land 
grant which would be given to the State of 
Oregon by the national Congress. 

How long then, plans for such a road company had been dis­

cussed we do not know. However, on December 18, 1863, Sena­

tor Harding introduced in the Senate a bi1172 for lands to 

aid in the construction of a road (military) from Eugene to 

Silver City. 

It is also known that Mr. Pengra spent several days 

during the first session of Congress in Washington lobbying 

for this bill that was introduced by Senator Harding on Dec­

ember 18. 73 Whatever the implications are, there is yet 

nothing unusual about this. It has hapuened hundreds of 

times in the history of our nation's growth. There seems to 
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be little doubt that there was a pressure group interested 

in the promotion of this road and the attending opportunities 

that were attached to it. 

The company as organized on June 13, 1864 was comuosed 

of nineteen stockholders74 consisting of B. J. Pengra, G. W. 

Colby, John Boggs, N. D. Rideout, W. H. Parks, R. F. Parks, 

Edgar Mills, E. B. Pond, Nicholas Luning, W. C. Belcher, F. 

B. Simpson, J. W. Peck, Isaac Allen, B. F. Baker, M. P. 

Jones, D. H. Holbrook, Isaac Lohmann, and A. D. Breed. 
75 A newspaper had said that there was the appearance of 

a feeling among the citizens of Eugene that the middle fork 

road was a necessity. The articles of incorporation had 

been filed with the Secretary of State and it concludes with 

the statement that: 76 

this looks like business, and evi­
dences appear to show that our people 
know no such thing as failure. 

It appeared that there never was any doubt that the lands 

would be a sufficient source of revenue for the enterprise, 

and the whole community was back of it. 

It is an odd circumstance that the company, according to 

Mr. Pengra77 had surveyed the first 46½ miles of road during 

the summer of 1863 before the grant was made by the govern­

ment and then given to the company. 78 It is also known that 

between June 11 and June 21, 1864, a man named Odell surveyed 

the first section of the road from Eugene to the present 

site of Hazedell. 79 It appears that some preconceived plans 
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were ever acknowledged legally. 
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An interesting move on the part of the land company was 

made during the session of Congress of 1865-66 which granted 

to them additional lands in lieu of those which were auto­

matically removed because of prior disposal. This ammend­

ment80 granb..alsuch odd sections, not reserved or otherwise 

legally appropriated with six miles on each side of the 

road81 to be selected by the surveyor general of the state. 

This ammendrnent passed Congress without any discussion. 82 

According to the record83 the construction of the mili­

tary road had reached the head of the Sprague River Valley 

in 1868. The company had agreed originally to complete the 

road in five years from the time construction began. In 

March 1869 a bill was introduced84 in Congress to extend 

the time until 1872, and the bill was passed. A certain Mr. 

Mallory who defended the bill pointed out that the citizens 

of Eugene, Oregon had donated money to build the road. He 

further stated that this had been done at a cost of $200 ,000 

in gold, up to the present point of construction, all of 

which had been uaid by the people. 

This has been regarded as a fraud85 for a glance at the 

financial statement issued by the company in 1867 will show 

that this argument could be nothing else, since $39,298.50 

had been received by coin and that the capital stock of the 

company was only $100,000.00. Additional assessments could 

not have possibly made the figure reach $200 ,000 _.oo in gold~6 
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(see appendix for financial statement). 

The principal object in presenting all this evidence 

lies in the repercussions that followed in a few years among 

the Klamath Indians when they discovered homesteaders sett­

ling their lands and by right of purchase from the Oregon 

Central Military Road Company . If any one believes that 

they could not see through the implications of this, they 

had only to hear the testimony of feeling among them a few 

years later when they threatened to go on the war path if 

the government did not stop this sort of procedure. 

But for now, the road builders had not met any opposi­

tion to their plans, either legally or otherwise and their 

claim seemed to be impregnable from any standpoint. 



CHAPTER VII 

When Lindsay Applegate left the Agency in 1869, his 

place was taken by Captain O. C. Knapp, an Army Officer, who 

now was to have charge of the management of affairs. 

This move on the part of the government was unfortun­

ate in several respects. Knapp was a man who had been used 

to the environment of the military way of life, and the slow, 

plodding, and sometimes indifferent way of aborigines wa~ 

not especially his liking. He had been used to seeing orders 

carried out; he had known about Indians before coming there, 

and his attitude was one that was not especially conducive 

to the maintenence of the most cordial relations between 

himself and the tribes. 

In contrast to this, they had had for four years, or 

a little more now, the sympathy and patience of a civilian, 

who also was a pioneer of the original adventure of setting 

up the ground work of an enterprise that he had taken a great 

deal of pride in. The change over was something new to them. 

Knapp had come to the Agency in the temporary capacity 

of Acting-Agent. He had no more than arrived on the scene 

than he began receiving letters and comulaints from white 

settlers that some of their cattle and property was being mo­

lested by Indians, and the charge· stood squarely that the 

Modocs were the ones that were responsible for it. 
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This agitation of the settlers brought further demands from 

them that the Modocs , who as we will remember, did not remain 

on the Reservation but for a short time after the signing of 

the treaty, and who had left it again in April 1866 , to go 

back to their old home on Lost River, where they had stayed 

up to now . 

Knapp had or ders from Washington to investigate the 

situation and made plans accordingly . 87 Col. A. B. Meachem , 

Superintendent of Indian Affairs for Oregon, was appointed 

to act as peace commissioner and was instructed to make rea­

dy to call upon the Modocs in an effort to persuade them to 

return to the reservation . Subsequently, Meacham, with 

Ivan D. Applegate, John Meacha~, George Nurse, and Gus Horn , 

made plans to go to the Modocs, who were in their old country 

on Lost River , and try to pursuade them to return to the re­

servation. They left on the journey in late November 1869 

and succeeded in convincing them that they should return . 

The Modocs agreed to return on the condition that the 

Agent guarantee them protection from the Klamath tribe . 

Meacham assured them that they would receive full protection. 

In a few days time the Modocs were removed to a place on the 

reservation that was to be known afterwards by them as Modoc 

Point , a location of about four or five miles below the pre­

sent Agency on Upper Klamath Lake . They were satisfied for 

the time being with their ststus and had gone about the bus­

iness of making the most of their new home . 
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Then one day, it happened. 88 Some Klamaths who had 

come down to their location of work, gathered in pine rails 

that had been made by Modocs for their own use, and had car­

ted them off. When q:>proached by Capt a in Jack, the leader 

of the Modoc band, the Klarnaths retorted that this was their 

reservation and that all the timber and resources were 

theirs, and that they, the Modocs, were not entitled to any 

of it. 

According to the record, 89 Captain Jack and his friends 

did not attempt to retaliate in any way for the incident . 

In spite of the taunts and jeers of the Klamaths, Jack went 

to Knapp and filed a verbal complaint over the manner of 

treatment that had been afforded his band in their efforts 

to 11 get along 11 • Knapp suggested that the Mo docs move a few 

miles up on the Williamson River so that they could not be 

bothered by the Klarnaths . 

Jack explained the situation to his sub-chief, John 

Schonchin, and they moved from Modoc Point to a position 

about five miles north on the Williamson River. That winter 

no more trouble existed between the two groups . They even 

went fishing down on the banks of Lost River together, after 

which they all returned to the reservat ion . In April 1870, 

the Modocs again tried to accumulate Pine r a ils for shelter . 

The result ag a in was the same . The Klamaths h9uled them off. 

This time Jack agein went to the Agent and comp lained, 

only to be to la.: 90 
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You blacks---- of ab----; d---­
your heart. If you ever come around 
here again and bother me with your com­
plaints, I will put you where no one will 
ever-bother you again. Now, get ,out of 
here , and bed---- quick about it, too. 
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Jack was not quick about it. He resented fiercely that he 

was being treated in this manner . He made an attempt to 

tell the agent his feelings through his friend, Bogus Char-

lie. ( see plate ). The next day, the entire band of Mo-

docs moved off the reservation and went back to their old 

settlement, Lost River. 

It is evident that if the above account is true, and 

there seems to be sufficient proof for ~t, then it should 

not be mysterious as to why the Modocs adopted the attitude 

that they did at a later time. 

In a letter91 written by Meacham, it is revealed that 

this state of affairs did not meet with his approval : 

the Modocs were settled here last Dec­
ember. Semi-barbarous as they are , it has 
been difficult work to keep the peace among 
them (Klamaths-Modocs). The Klamaths are 
brave, but insolent and are overbearing to 
the other Indians, especially to the Modocs. 

The cdrrespondence contained other matters concerning the 

reservation, wherein he found it necessary to divide the res­

ervation into two parts, leaving the Klamaths under the con­

trol of Agent Knapp, and.the other half under the control of 

Ivan Applegate which included the Snakes, Modocs, and Wal­

Pa.h-Pes, with headquarters for them at Yainax, the sub-ag­

ency that Lindsay Applegate had created in 1864. 
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Apparently circumstances were not in the best of har­

monious accord, for he re-emphasizes the fact again by con­

cluding:92 

the Klamaths tried to drive off the 
other Indians, and the Snakes wanted to go 
back to their old home at Camp Warner. 

The Modocs had resisted every effort to gain them back on 

the reservation and were reluctant to come back in 1869. 

The matter now stood on precarious grounds . Had there been 

a judicious handling of the affair, it might have gone far 

toward eliminating the Modoc War. On the other hend, one 

does not know what one might have done under the circumstan­

ces. Had Lindsay Applegate been there, it is thought that 

there might have been a reasonable chance to reduce the fric­

tion to a minimum. 

It is interesting to learn that there is a confirmation 

of the fact as reported above concerning the movement of the 

Modocs to a new location on the Williamson River, and that 

they had actually undergone some persecution at the hands of 

the Klamaths. It is still more interesting to know that Mea­

cham scorned the methods used by Knapp in the handling of 

Indian affairs at the reservation. It is further revealed 

that: 93 

They remained on the reservation 
about three months, when through the con­
stant interference of the Klamath Agent, 
Knapp, who ordered them to move a few 
miles to a new location. ·Here again , the 
Klamaths ceaselessly annoyed them, and 
again Agent Knapp blundered by ordering 



them again to move a few miles to a 
new location, where they would be sur­
rounded by Klamaths. Th~ mistake may be 
was made in ignorance, but I cannot blame 
them for leaving the reservation under 
such management. 
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It is the opinion of the author that these circumstances had 

a great deal to do with the sowing of the seeds of the Modoc 

War, which was to follow in a few years; a war that was need­

less and cruel. 

In the meantime, an order issued by Meacham94 on Septem­

ber 15, 1870, removed Captain O. C. Knapp from his position 

as Agent; brought the son of the Superintendent, John, to the 

reservation in the capacity of acting-agent. With due credit, 

it should be st~ted that the new officer found the business 

affairs in good shape, and it should be further pointed out 

that Knapp did have the ability to manage these aff airs. His 

weakness as an agent seems to have been his lack of under­

standing of Indian character and capacity, and a willingness 

to patience with an ignorant and helpless Indian. 

Knapp officially ended his term as Agent on October 1, 

1870, the day that John Meacham arrived at the agency. 95 The 

young man was a careful observer and apparently had some of 

his father 1 s ability in thoroughness. Besides noting the 

condition of things in general as already mentioned, he be­

came concerned with the fact that Indian women were in the 

habit of hanging around the agency, a matter that young Mea­

cham did not think too kindly of. One woman in particular 
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was seen habitually around the office and the private houses 

and other buildings of the agency . 

Attempting to correct this he noted that she lost no 

opDortunity to make herself insinuating in the presence of 
96 others, and when asked to leave, 

she was saucy and impudent , and hard 
in the extreme . 

Nevertheless, Meacham succeeded in carrying out this social 

reform to the extent of exterminating it completely within 

the matter of a short time . He reuorted to his father that 

his orders had met the hearty apuroval of the men of the res­

ervation . 97 

From the time that the first agent had taken over , 

there had been the hope that a saw mill , which was needed 

badly, and a flour mill, would be constructed . Work had 

started on the saw mill but not much had been accomplished . 

However, as noted by Meacham, in the month of October the 

work on the new mill was progressing to a good degree of 
98 satisfaction, contrary to a report by Good that it had been 

compleled in 1868. 

On the 24th of October the lower saw was set to work and 

by the 31st had cut nearly 20 , 000 feet of timlrer . 99 This 

brought forth a great deal of enthusiasm , such as, 1OO 

I feel safe in saying that the mill 
is an entire success, and that it fully 
meets the most sanguine expectations . 
Sawyer Ellis says that when both saws 
are hung that it will cut 8,000 feet per 
ten hours. 
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It might be difficult to feel that such enthusiasm could be 

had over a material thing such as a saw mill, but when con­

sidered that this country wes still wilderness of trees, and 

that constructlon of buildings which were badly needed, was 

now made possible with a new swiftness , it is not to be won­

dered at in their enthusiasm . 

On the 5th day of November , the wagon train of Chief 

Commissary McKay arrived with new supDlies of such items as 

twelve mules , one horse , twelve sets of harness , two complete 

wagons , and numerous other items . Evidently the matter of 

goods of necessity were slowly coming through , but not too 

quickly though, for the agency buildings were still crude and 

needed much improvement . True , farming had ~lready gotten a 

good start and the above items would be welcome, es so far 

there had been a shortage of the things of dire needs such as 

plows and farming machinery in general . 

The industry of the Indians had manifested itself almost 

from the start . It was through their hard efforts that the 

improvements that had been made were accountable for . It is 

now recorded that O. C. Applegate101 was working on a new 

road running down below the reservation with a crew of Ind­

ians . On the 17th of November the road was completed . 

Making the complimentary se.lutation to Applegate for his 

work in this respect , it WBS pointed out that : 102 

Mr. Applegate certainly deserves a lo t 
of credit for his energy and perserverence 
that he displayed in pursuing this work to 
completion, when one considers the inclement 
weather, and also the Indians have displayed 



a most tangible evidence of determin­
ation to be like white men. 
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The above statement was the first tangible evidence that the 

Indian had had the desire to be like white men. Certainly 

under such men as they had had in part so far, they had the 

right to expect to reach this goal. 

The social life of the Indians at this time on the res­

ervation (1870) was still governed largely by old tribal cus­

toms and beliefs. Even today, spiritualism still exists 

among them103 to a certain extent. The incident is told104 

that one of the greatest obstacles that Me.acham was confron­

ted with was the sickness of the Indians in the past winter. 

Pneumonia was the most ruthless killer up to this time. Now 

as a part of their social customs they had practiced the ser­

vices of 11 medicine man II or 11 doctor 11 • 

This practice had existed for a long time and no attempt 

was made in the early years to combat it due to other needs. 

But by 1870, when the reservation had a competent one of its 

own in the person of Dr. Cardwell, the practice was discour­

aged es it was of no value in terms of cure, at least not to 

the white man 1s version. A year or so earlier Knapp had for­

bade it to be used to the extent that, 105 

he shackled them and imprisoned them 
for attempting to persist in the practice. 

Yet in spite of this it was to be some few years yet before 

it was to be stamped out altogether. 

In connection with the early health of these Indians it 

J 
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ought to be pointed out that at the time mentioned earlier, 

most of them were still living in their old way of 11wickiups 11 

or crude shelters and that only a very few 11 cabins 11 or 11 shacks 11 

had been built. This is one of the main reasons why the saw 

mill was felt to be of such urgent necessity. 

The houses that they had did not have any glass wino.ows; 

just the open square, and so long as they were in gooa. heal th, 

these would be satisfa,ctory enough. But when pneumonia set 

in they were of the worst kind. This might be partly accoun­

ted for in the Indians making the transition from their cen­

turies old way of life to that of a new civilization. Such 

transitions have had an effect on cultures before. This how­

ever, is only a suggestion. 

In the case of these people, in addition to not having 

inclosed windows, there was also no door other than the open­

ing. So it might be imagined that in the winter time with 

temperatures ranging down as low as fifteen or twenty degrees 

below zero, which is not uncommon for the country at that 

time, these earlJ houses were fine examples of a dangerous 

habitat for any human, let alone an Indian. 

Other things though were not as bad as might be supposed, 

as their food was of good order considering the conditions. 

The supnlies furnished them by the government, in addition to 

those things that they knew how to get, kept them fromhunger. 

John Meacham reported that he did not believe that there was 

a half a dozen Indians left who still were susceptable to the 
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old beliefs of medicine and that there existed the warmest 

friendship between the Indians and the reservation. 106 

There are certain psychological implications that ought 

to be dealt with at this juncture which we feel have been ne­

glected in the past in other writings concerning t he assimil­

ation of these tribes into a body politic. First, it should 

be noted by now that there was a definite cleavage of the 

friendship between these subject tribes owing to the circum­

stances of historical evidence recently presented. Secondly, 

the disl ike of the Klamaths for the Modocs was a deep rooted 

affair. The former never felt at any time that he was being 

imposed upon by the government , except possibly in individual 

and minority cases . The latter did not trust the treaty ar­

rangement from the beginning and was never convinced of it 

until sometime after he was forced to live there and get along . 

Thirdly, the Paiute or Snake was an enemy of both of the 

other contra cting parties, and refused to accept his destina­

tion as a whole tribe; only in partial components, and was 

the 18st one to become adjusted to his new affiliations. The 

first party mentioned adjusted himself to the military and 

governmental practices, and being of a more friendly nature 

than either of the other two, he stood in a most favorable 

position , politically and mentally. Little evidence was found 

of the Klarnaths being unhappy or disatisfied with the new ar­

rangement. Their complaints were limited to petty and person­

al problems of want. 

Lastly, it is important to catch the present picture 
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(1870) of the whole structure of the potenti81 cultural as­

pects for the reason that it expl8ins in a great mea.sure why 

certRin events were to teke place and why annalogous reactions 

shaped the course of reservation history for the next few 

years . 



CHAPTER VII I 

When the treaty of Council Grove was agreed to in 1864, 

the chiefs of the tribes had disagreed with the commissioners 

of the government over the boundaries of the plot of land 

that wa s to be their reservation. They had said that the 

rightful lines should have run from 11peak, to peak, to 

peak 11 , as they described it . 107 This meant tha.t certain 

mountain peaks within their minds formed the range and dis­

tance between which should run the lands that they were to 

live in. (see plate VIII) 

A careful glance at the map will show that it extended 

much farther to the north and west than the lines of the trea­

ty prescribed. Also, that it gave a much wider range to the 

east. In the intervening years between 1864 and 1871 nothing 

was done by the government to officially lay down the lines. 

Finally, in 1871, George Mercer was instructed to make 

a survey ana_ lay down the lines . 108 This he accomplished and 

it was accepted in November of that same year. 

The boundary lines were hardly settled than complaints 

began to come in from both white settlers and the Indians 

too. The latter claimed that the eastern boundary was loca-

ted too far west and that the line was wrong. 109 The cattle-

men claimed that the eastern boundary wae too far east, and 

wa s therefore depriving them of a large tract of the public 
-
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domain. Bad feeling arose between the two. 

The matter continued without any abatement of ill feel­

ing. The cattlemen continued to infringe upon what the Ind­

ians claimed was theirs, and in retaliation a good many cat­

tle were found missing from herds. When W. H. Odell, of the 

G~eral Land Office wrote to Ivan Applegate110 requesting him 

to aid Mercer in this survey, he was aware of the difficul­

ties involved. 

It seemed that in the treaty stipulations of the bound­

ary line no allowance was made for the difficulty of follow­

ing the prescribed lines, for it was found that in running 

the lines, they encountered certain mountain peaks. Instead 

of following the line up over these in good old Indian fash­

ion, the surveyor simply went around, not paying too much at­

tention as to the regularity of the line. 

An illistration of how the Snake Indians in the eastern 

end of Sprague River Valley, near the eastern boundary line, 

played upon the herds belonging to cattlemen is found in the 

affadavit111 of one John W. Brown in which he relates that on 

Sunday, November 10, 1872 the cattle were counted and every­

thing seemed to be alright; the full complement of heads were 

all accounted for. This was a. practice that his brother and 

he had gone through with everyday. On the following morning 

they found their cattle very much scattered, and in collect­

ing them together, they found one steer ~hot, and it was cov­

ered with brush, 



and that there was a bullet hole 
over the right eye, and his throat was 112 cut as good RS any butcher could do it. 
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and unon further search they found moccasin tracks leading up 

to the animal . These came from a brushy point not far away 

from where the dead steer lay. Brown followed the tracks and 

foa-nd that these sa_me moccasins were following two other ani­

mals who did not show up. He concludes by the remark that 

his brother and he had not returned to that part of the range 

since. 

These were only the beginnings of troubles for the res­

ervation authorities . Captain Jack and his Modoc band had 

been away now for some time. Complaints had been rife on cat­

tle stealing and other molestations that the settlers charged 

directly to the bands of Indians who were not yet on the res­

ervation, especially the Modocs . 

On August 2, 1871, 113 A. B. Meacham wrote to his son to 

go to the Modoc country and to try to prevent any hostilities 

from opening. The young agent was to go to Yainax, where Ivan 

Applegate was to join him in the enterprise. He had another 

reason for going there too . He did not know where Jack and 

his band were at this time as they had been reported in sev­

eral localities. 114 

Finally as plans did not work out satisfactorily, he 

sent word to the Indian chief through two of his tribesmen 

that his father wished to meet him to discuss the terms of 

his return to the reservation. He further instructed Jack 
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that the meeting would take place at the Whittle ranch on 

Link river within twenty days from that date. He was inform­

ed also that the military would not arrest him and that he 

was to do nothing that would excite grievances between him­

self and the settlers. 

In the meantime, J. N. High had been given the duty of 

replacing John Meacham as Agent and reported for his duties 

on September 1, 1871. The reservation at that time was mak­

ing rapid progress in its growth. To illustrate this, the 

employee list included A. J. Brown, mill laborer, W. B. Card­

well, physician, Charles Brown, interpreter, Allan Ferree, 

farm laborer, John Loosley, miller, John Hanley, James Long, 

John Stone, Marian Stout, as additional mill laborers, and 

H. G. W. Scott as teamster. 

These men comprised the first formidable staff of white 

employees on the reservation. A second saw had been hung at 

the mill and it had been cutting out lumber for houses for 

the Indians that were to be erected the following spring. 

Work on the flour mill was being pushed as rapidly as possi­

ble.115 Annuity goods had been issued including some new 

flannels and calicos for the women. 

The winter of 1871-72 had been hard on the tribes in 

many ways, and in the early spring they journeyed to Link Ri­

ver for the purpose of fishing as they had exhausted their 

own food supplies besides those that had been furnished by 
' 

the government . In permitting the excursion down to the ri-
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ver the agent was confronted by objections from the settlers 

to their movements . But a s he was forced to allow this me ans 

he cautioned the tribes not to take their dogs or horses with 

them and to stay out of any inclosures belonging to white 

people : 

I feel of course that you would make 
proper allowance for any improper conduct 
of this class of people . The people of the 
frontier must expect to be subject to a 
certain amount of trouble

1
f6om these ignor­

ant and benighted people . 

Frosts had killed some twenty or thirty acres of late­

sown oats at the agency farm, and the entire crop of turnips 

and carrots that hRd been planted for the Indians had been 

lost . Now for the first time in reserv2tion history there 

was talk of abandoning the idea of agriculture a s being the 

only means of support of the institution . The agent remarked 

that he wa s becoming more and more convinced that it wa s ab­

solutely necessary that they pay more attention to the pros­

pects of r a ising cattle on the reservation to support the Ind­

ians . 

High was not at the reserva tion for any gre a t length of 

time as he wa s replrced in the following May by LeRoy S . 

Dyar, aminister , who had come to take over the responsibili­

ties , and Dyar could have no way of knowing the important 

part that he w0 s to play in its history . 

It wes he who was to bring the first schools to the chil­

a_ren there , and it wa s he who we.s to carry the burden of the 
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Modoc War, and all its influence to the tribes who remained 

peaceful during that time. On Hights influence while agent, 

he instituted the idea of ta.~ing one half of the Indians• 

wages and investing them in cows and heifers, a plan that 

Dyar wos to carry on, much to the benefit of the tribes. 

The Modocs were still off the reservation but with the 

permission of the Superintendent, A. B. Meacham, but by now 

the military had been sent into their country for the protec­

tion of the settlers, and there was talk of establishing a 

separate reservation for J ack 1s band, 117 and although this 

never materialized, it was desired by Jack and his followers. 

They did not want to return to the Lake country. By April 

1872, the situation was beginning to have its effect upon the 

members of the reservation, for Dyar remarked, 118 

all this military action has had a 
demoralizing effect on the Indians here, 
especially those who desire to escape be­
ing punished by the Agent. I recommend 
that the Modocs be left on Lost River un­
til a reservation can be established for 
them. 

Apparently, there was an uneasiness a.mong the tribes over the 

prospects of events that were casting shadows of trouble. 

All through the remainder of the spring and into the 

summer of 1872 events passed without much danger fromthe vol­

atile possibilities. Dyar was a prolific man in the act of 

writing letters, for his records show that hArdly a day passed 

that he did not write to his superior concerning problems 

that were continuelly confronting him . 
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119 
In one of these of July 10th, he admits that the res-

ervation was without mail, and that if they wanted it at 811, 

they had to hire it to be brought in from Linkville, or go 

there after it, a distance of thirty-two miles. A man named 

Webb finally agreed to carry it for $20.00 per month. The 

appropriation for the fiscal year of 1872-73 for the Klamaths 

and Modocs was only $13,500.00, 120 and he object to such a 

smBll sum by remarking: 

if this amount is correct, I must 
give up all hope of accomplishing much. 
Wish you could see how much we need here. 

All through the years since 1864, supnlies had been very 

hard to get, and then in very scanty allotments and at irreg­

ular times. Hard luck seemed to persist in the crops; the 

whole grain crop at Yainax was lost, frost being the culprit 

as it had been for Lindsay Applegate. This loss at Yainax 

was a bitter blow as there were a considerable number of 

Sprague River Klamaths, Yahooskin Snakes, and a few Modocs 

living there, and who needed this food crop badly. Yainox 

was located in the southeastern area of the reservation and 

did not enjoy a bountiful nature in regard to easily accessa­

ble food supply. 

O. C. Applegate, who was by now the Commissary in charge 

at Yainax, reported121 that the Yahooskin Snakes with the 

Wal-Pah-Pe band and Schonchin 1s were all down in the Sprague 

River Valley, numbering about three hundred and fifty Indians. 

They were forced to hunt the adjacent mountains for winter 
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supplies . They did not have the Wocus to fall back on. 

The Paiute or Ocheco I s band of Snake Indians were still 

out in eastern Oregon near Camp Warner and were slowly work­

ing their way in towards Yainax . One of the peculiar t h ing s 

about this old chief and his band wa s that they invariably 

came back in the late months of the year and then left the 

reserv ation to go back to their old home in the desert. Some­

times he would not show up at all. Repeated att empts had 

been made to induce him to stay permanently with no avail . 

In spite of hardships they would rather st ey out where 

t hey had been born and come back in, nearly exhausted from 

starvation . The military ~t Camp Warner had in this year 

given them old clothing and some food . They numbered about 

230 . By September they were nearing the reservation, and 

App legate wa s worried as to wha t he was going to do with 

them a.s he did not ha.ve sufficient supnlies . 

His recommendation for supplies is interes t ing for the 

information (see appendix) it contained on just how these 

Indi ans were taken care of . I t we s also rumored at this time 

that the Modocs were coming to Yainax also and if this was 

true , i t w2s recommended that each of the bands be given 

20,00 0 pounds of flour and beef , a hundred pairs of blankets ! 

The Yaina.x headouarters was perhaps in the worst Sh8pe 

tha t one might imagine in attempting to tBke care of a large 

number of human being s . Nothing new had been done there as 

to living quarters; eighteen old dilapidated cabins that had 
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been erected originally were still there. The cabins that 

had been promised to the Chiefs, Barclay, Ben, and Chocktoot 

over a year ago, had never been built. The teacher that had 

been promised never materialized; the carpenter likewise , and 

Applegate had been the only me2ns they had of learning any­

thing, in ortherwords, their teRcher. 

In Applegates 1 request for supplies for the fiscal per­

iod of this year, one item was amusing: namely, 6000 needles. 

Just why and how all these were to be used will ever remain 

a mystery . When one looks over the whole list of supp lies 

and the itemized requests, one is almost shocked by the re­

mark:122 

the above is very light, but it is 
made so with the imnression that strict 
economy will be necessary, and I believe 
with these supr lies judicially issued we 
can get through the winter. 

Perhaps it is_ assuming too much to say that the request for 

supplies seemed enormous, yet when looking back at it, such 

things as 2170 y8rds of flannel, 4000 needles, for one group 

of Snake bands, numbering less than four hundred and to be 

used in a period of less than four months, it arouses one's 

curiosity as to the manner and method of disposal . At any 

rate, the supolies were never granted and they were forced 

to get along es they had been doing. 123 



CHAPTER IX 

Riddle makes the statement that all through the period 

from June 1870 to September 1872, the Modocs got along well 

with their white neighbors; even working for some of them. 

All of which may be relatively truthful. Yet the Modocs had 

made threats124 that if hostilities ever broke out between 

them and the white forces as a result of their being forced 

upon the reservation, that they would attack Yainax. They 

had been seen earlier that same fall reconnoitering around 

the area with a force of six to ten men , this action being 

before the fatal November meeting of the commissioners for 

peace. 

Now it could be possible that their motive for this was 

in search of food supplies which they knew were on hand at 

the Department stores. Furthermore, they h2d been friendly 

with P sm all group of Snakes at Yainax, and had extended ef­

forts to coax them away from the reservation. 125 They had 

grown to hate the reservation and what it stood for. They 

had been fired upon at one time by the guard in these same 

instances. It is doubtful if the intentions of the Modocs 

were as serene and peaceful as Riddle points out. Even so, 

this does not yet convict them. W'.hite settlers had been known 

to have induced the Modocs to stay off the reservation, and 

were not contributors to a peaceful way of settling these 
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difficulties . White persons at Yreka had made efforts to 

persuade them in this manner in order that the slave and 

liquor trade would remain in the 11 status quo'' , 126 even 

though the government had forbidden the sale of liquor to 

Indians . At any rate, the situation was now getting to the 

point where neither side had any respect for the other . 

On the 25th of November , Superintendent T. B. Ordneal , 

who had replaced A. B. Meacham, as head of Indian Affairs 

for Oregon, sent Ivan Applegate, a mEJn intimately acquainted 

with Indian character, and a Mr . James Brown , a department 

messenger from Linkville , to the camp of the Modo cs at the 

mouth of Lost River, to see Captain Jack , and the leading men , 

and to inform them that he (Ordneal) wished to meet him at 

Link River on the 28th . 

Should they not be willing to meet him there, to come 

to the reservation . He had said that he would guarantee them 

ample provisions for their subsistance and comfort . Jack did 

not come . On the evening of the 27th, Dyar and Ordneal left 

the reservation for Linkville to meet the Department messen­

ger . On the way to Linkville , they met Ivan A:::i~"'legat e and 

he reported that Captain Jack had refused to meet Mr . Ordneal . 

He had said that 11 he was done talking 11 • That he had been ad­

vised by his white friends in Yreka to stay where he was , 127 

and that he would not go upon the reservation . 

On reaching Linkville, Ordneal imnediately sent a mes­

senger to Major Green , at Ft . Klamath, stating t he f acts and 
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had gone into his hut , came out dressed in war costume with 

a gun , and waved his weapon in a defiant manner . Captain 

Jackson ordered him to lay down the instrument , and he re­

fused to do so . 

Jackson then ordered Lt . Boutelle to take four men and 

disarm him . As the Lt . was advancing with his men , Charley 

deli-oerately rp,_isea_ his gun and fired at him, who instantly 

returned the fire . There were some fifteen or twenty warri­

ors in the camp who immediGtely went into the brush and were 

driven out with a loss of four or five men , and several wound­

ed; among them was Black Jirn, one of the leaders. None of 

the leaders was killed . 

O. C. Applegate , who w3s on the other side of the river 

at the ti11e, had been talking to another group of Ind.i2ns, 

and had a party of civilians with him . When the Indians 

heard the shooting they began firing on these civilians who 

were forced to retreat as they were only partially armed . 

They found refuge behind a log house and defended themselves 

until relieved by the soldiers who had to cross the naturRl 

bridge on Lost River, six miles p,bove . 

One civilian and prob2bly two or three Indians were 

killed . The women were allowed to escape from the battle on 

the other side . Now it seems that Ordneal on learnin·g that 

the soldiers were on the move, sent two men to warn the set­

tlers, one of whom lived neer the scene of the fight . During 

the fight or i ~mediately afterwards, a party of six Indians 
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started down the lake murdering the helpless settlers who 

were entirely ignorant of any movement, resulting in one boy 

and thirteen men being murdered . 

Thus, we have here the version of the episode as told by 

LeRoy S. Dyar, Agent, 129 who was not present at the time, but 

learned of it immediately afterwards. To illustrate how easy 

it is for variable factors to become attached to this kind of 

event, one source130 has stated that Captain Jackson was un­

der the influence of liquor upon the arrival at the Modoc 

camp, and that his negligence in allowing the Indians to get 

in behind the troops near the Horses was responsible for some 

of the soldiers' horses being ts~en by Indians who rode down 

the valley murdering innocent settlers. 

There is good possibility in the latter statement being 

the truth, as the source is almost unimpeachable, and fur­

thermore, these circumstances are possible under such condi­

tions . In any case, neither Riddle nor Lt. Boutelle relate 
132 

the same story of the event. 131 In Ivan Applegate 1 s account 

it was Scarface and Bogus Charlie who came out waving guns , 

and so the variation goes on throughout (see appendix for Ap­

plegate story), enither side agreeing except on the bare es­

sentic_:ils. 

The main puroose , in part , of relating the account of 

this event has been to vresent a clear illustr~tion of the 

state of mind over the guilt of those participants . The 

brei=ik h2d now come; the long expected dissonance of White and 
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Red would soon make manifest the beginning of overt action . 

The real significance of all this insofar as this nar­

rative is concerned is the effect that it had on the lives 

on the Klamath Reservation during the ensuing year, and upon 

the difficulties of the administr ator at the Agency; for in 

December of that year, 0. C. Applegate reported that he wa.s 

forced to org2nize a small band of reliable scouts to pro­

tect Yainax against the border activity of Modocs. They had 

made the threat133 that if hostilities broke out, they would 

attack Yainax first. In accordance with this he stated: 134 

The Modocs have been in the vicinity 
and have been fired upon by the guard. 

It is further related that as many as six to ten Modocs, who 

were mounted, had been seen in nightly prowlings near the 

substation. 

In January, 1873, there had beAn considerable excite­

ment among the tribes on the reservation over the incident 

on Lost River, but at this time no serious outbreak had yet 

occurred between the military and the Modocs, th2t is, org­

anized warfare. But in snite of this Dyar reported135 that 

the business at the reservation had come to a standstill, and 

especially so down at Yainax, where every precaution was be­

ing taken against raids. 

The Modocs had retreated to the LEIVA Beds, a symphony of 

ugliness on the shore of Tule La:re, over the California line, 

where they made preparations for a seige, which they must have 

known would be felt soon. 
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In the interim, Dyar was now having cUfficulty (Ja.nuary 

27, 1873) in getting through the goods for the agency that 

he needed . It seems that George Nurse, the founder of Link­

ville, had decided not to consider himself bound to deliver 

the annuity goods that he had been responsible for , to the 

Klamath headquarters . Complaining about this situation , it 

wes SRid : 

I have done my best to urge him for.­
ward in the matter , but his pack animals 
have now been employed by the military at 136 high figures, and thus far I have failed . 

The pattern of human conduct seems never to have chan­

ged during opportunities for profit . The government of 

course (War Department) would necessarily be willing to pay 

a higher price that they might have those things needed for 

operations . Here we have two departments competing . The 

funds of the Indian Department being restricted for use left 

Dyar hopelessly ceught by circumst~nces of environment . 

Freight rates from Ashland to Linkville were ten cents 

per pound and he urged the Indian Department to pay this cost 

as it could not expect to get it done for less . The delay 

caused by this sudden upturn of events had caused the Snake 

Indians to become dissatisfied137 because no goods were com­

ing throug~ on schedu~e . A few deys later he was informed 

that Nurse's mules had been employed by the milit2ry at Ft . 

Klamath until the cessation of hostilities. 

On January 5, all of the enlisted men who had been sent 
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down there for protection of Yainax, were ca.lled into action , 

leaving the place exposed to raiding excursions of the hos­

tile group . By the end of February, the business at the Ag­

ency was paralyzed and the annuity goods had not yet arrived . 

Allen David, Klamath Chief, had been of great aid to Dyar in 

preserving the good will of the Indians toward the government . 

He had been especially active among the Snakes, warning them 

not to have anything to do with the Modocs. Dyar even sug­

gested that Allan David ought to be paid a salary. 138 

The war against the Modocs was prosecuted with vigor at 

their stronghold in the Lava Beds, but the end of it was not 

in sight. Jack's band withstood the early onslaughts with­

out succoming to superior forces. Efforts were being made 

to bring to an end the costly encounter. The combination of 

Genercl Canby, former Superintendent Meacham, and a Rev. 

Thomas, and Dyar were designated as the peace commission to 

see Capt. Jack and try to settle the matter. It ended in the 

murder of Canby and Thomas and with the near-murder of Mea-

cham. 

This event occurred on April 11, 1873, after a series 

of conferences in the form of councils had been held in an 

effort to subdue them to a workable arrangement . They were 

never able to get this from Jack; to the last he held out for 

a reservation for himself and his people; first at Lost River, 

and then finally at Hot Creek. 

The tribes at the Agency had been watching to see what 
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the government 1 s actions against the Modocs would be. To 

many of them it WBS an opportunity to witness the clash of 

governmental authority over against that of the Indians , and 

it meant that their own future would be directly affected no 

matter how it came out . Dyar reported139 that for some rea­

son the Indians at the Agency had gotten to thinking that 

the refractory ones had been treated better than those who 

had been cooperating with the government. 

This he alleges , was caused by the fact that they had 

thought of the Snakes, who had been very war- like in the past, 

as being clothed and fed better than they . Furthermore , 

should the Modoc be brought upon the reservation, would they 

too receive better treatment ? Apparently there had been 

some unintentional discriminations for he records his insis­

tence upon equel treatment in the future . 140 

But the Modo cs as a whole tribe were never brought upon 

the reservation . A few of them who had been loyal to the 

government remained , but the majority of them were to be sent 

to the Qµapaw reservation in Oklahoma , some returning many 

years later , in 1909 . Jack and his conspirators were captur­

ed and hung at Ft . Klamath on October 3, 1873 . 

I t was thought peace at hast had come to the Klamath 

Reservation with the close of the Modoc revolt, and indeed 

it had insofar as war was concerned . With its business 

brought to a. standstill and the recovery a slow one , Agent 

Dyar could turn his attention now to urgent matters . 
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It was mentioned earlier that the government had prohib­

ited the sale of liquor to Indians, and hBd made it subject 

to heavy fine and imprisonment. But in spite of this there 

were white men who would run the risk of sale or would give 

it to them for favors. Being a minister, he had his consci­

entious convictions on such matters. All through his term 

as agent, he had reg istered his protests with the Department 

against those who sought this traffic. There wa s something 

more than his person al at t itudes too; he had learned to re­

gard his Indian wards with en affection that drew heavily on 

his efforts to better their way of life. 

He wrote to Hon. A. C. Gibbs, United States District 

Attorney, at Portland, Oregon, 141 as of May 22, 1873, pro­

testing against the ca.se of William Forsyth, a resident of 

the Ft. Klamath area, who had given liquor to George Chilo­

quin, Moses Chiloquin, Chickaskane, Dick Mosenkasket, and 

Pete, Klamath IndiBns who had encountered Forsyth on the road 

between that point and the agency. It seems that George and 

Dick became slightly oversubscribed in the spirits and came 

back to the agency in a manner that they became boisterous , 

much to the irritation of Dyar, who took what steps he could 

to convince them of their wrong. 

One might be of the impression th2t a grec1.t de,1. l of 

drinking transpired among the tribes, but such is not the 

case a s might be expected from a group who had never known 

alcohol prior to the coming of the white man . Such incidents 
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were infrequent----indeed there had been the conversion of 

thirty-six Klamaths to the Christian church so fe.r that yea.r. 

It had been gaining in converts slowly, but regularly. 

July would see the first authorized missionary of the 

Methodist Conference of Oregon arrive at the Agency, a Mr. 

Ja~es Heorer, who was immediately given the double duty of 

becoming the Commissary in che~ge at Yainax, succeeding O. 
142 C. Applegate, who had resigned from that post. 

Now Dyar had been one of the peace commissioners that 

had met with the Modocs on that eventful day last April, and 

he had by the most sheer luck, escaped with his life; a very 

unnerving experience, and he Wfi.S badly scared and shaken as 

the result of it. Hooker Jim had chased him over four hun­

dred yards, shooting and. cursing at him, and seeing that he 

could not catch him, ga.ve up the race and returned to the 

scene of the murder. 143 

So now on the 19th of May he began preparing for 'a trip 

back to visit his father a.t Farmington, Maine, a long jour­

ney for those times. He was to return to the Agency late 

that summer. In the course of events that summer, the office 

of Superintendent of Indian Affairs for Oregon wss abolished; 

the Agency would now deal with Washington directly. 

In July of 1873, a new government policy was born 144 

which designated that in the future, all needs for supplies 

at the Indi an reservations in the United States, should nec­

essarily have to be submitted to bid before the consumation 
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of contracts related to purchasing of goods. This, obvious­

ly, was to affect the manner of business at the Klamath Res­

ervation. 

Now in conjunction with this, the Congress of the United 

Stet es failed to make an appropriation to the Indian Depart­

ment for the fiscal yea:r of 1873-74, which should have been 

done in July at the latest. This me ant that Dyar had no new 

funds with which to carry on his existence as a business en­

tity. In addition to this, an order from Washington speci­

fied that the agent or agents were not to travel on Indian 

145 business without an order from the Indian Department. 

When Congress discovered the oversight, it had to pass 

additional measures in order to pay past due bills. Condi­

tions of financial want became so bad that the Indians, in 

the meantime, cut lqgs from reservation timber, sold it and 

went to Ashland to buy flour in quantities as high as two and 

three thousand pounds at a time, a distance of over 200 miles, 

there and back. This was an illustration of a repeated pro­

cedure that had gone on at the reservation since 1864. It 

was a matter of temporary expedience in order to live. The 

flour was subdivided where it was needed. It should be fur­

ther pointed out here that Congressional oversight was evi­

dent all through the 80 1 s. Dyar makes the remark that: 146 

Credit of the Department has suffered 
no little by this bungling method, and we 
have lost the most efficient emuloyees who 
have quit on account of it. -

In spite of this, life carried on and the reservation 
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did manage to recover slowly, but this was caused by the per­

sonal efforts of Dyar and his Indian aids. To illustrate 

this further, the Indians built a wooden bridge across the 

Williamson River in September 1873, and proceeded to make 

a Toll bridge out of it. Travel was considerable between the 

Fort and Linkville and elsewhere in the surrounding area, and 

the idea was entertained147 that the revenue would support 

several families. 

Now while all this transaction of events was going on, 

there were other problems too. Ocheco and his band of Snakes 

were still refusing to come on the reservation, and had sent 

word148 that they did not intend to return to Yainax. To 

attempt to alleviate this distress of affairs, Dyar went a­

lone out into eastern Oregon, into the Warner Valley Country, 

to see them, but for an other reB.son too. 

It seems that several bands of Snakes had threatened149 

war on the settlers of the country east of Summers Lake. 

The Snakes had told them that a large band of Indians were 

going to attack their homes, and this on top of the effects 

of the Modoc wa.r, had caused the settlers to arm themselves 

and to take a c t ion. The attempted to meet the Indians peace­

fully, and tried to persuade them that they should go to the 

reservation. The Indians replied that they would not, and 

one of them broke into a run. A man named Small shot and 

missed him as he tried to escape and ran toward the hills. 

He was intercepted again by Small who shot end still missed, 
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whereupon, the Indian turned and a.rew his bow and arrow; this 

time he was killed by a bullet from Small's rifle. 

For the moment the other two had no such intentions. 

But after proceeding about a mile down the 11 road 11 , one of 

them broke and ran, and was shot and killed by a man named 

Dunn. The last one of the trio was taken to the stockade of 

one of the nearby ranches, and imprisoned there over night. 

At daybreak the following morning, the third and last of these 

intrepid sons of the desert tried to mR_ke his escape from his 

captivity, and was shot and killed by the guard of the stock­

ade . 

Now this incident did not help matters for Ocheco and 

his band. The r ecord does not say whether these three were 

members of his, but is presumed that they were since they had 

been seen in association with him. However, the military 

went after Ocheco, and the War Department issued instructions 

to Col. Bynard, 150 at Ft. Bidwell to visit the chief and to 

tell him that he either had to go to Yainax or to the Malheur 

Reservation, whereupon, Ocheco chose Yainax. But he did not 

do so without stating his reason for wanting to stRy out in 

the Warner country. He simply said that the country was 

filling u~ with cattle, and that: 151 

he could live off of them by stealing 
them from the white settlers. 

Here we have virtually the last remnant of the large 

bands of Snakes who had resisted with their every might the 

efforts of white civilization to subdue them. It was fort-
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unate for Yainsx that Congress finally made an appropriation 

of $20,000152 for the subsistance of that segment of the res­

ervation. They would need it with 0checo 1 s coming. 

The winter of 1873-74 saw the death of between thirty 

and forty Indian residents as the result of Measels, a new 

disease on the premises. Like the Spanish who brought dis­

ease to the inhabitants of Mexico, it seemed that something 

new was cutting into the health of the aborigines, and at a 

steady and continuous pace. The effect of this was to delay 

the opening of the new boarding school at the reservation, a 

thing that Dyar had worked for a long time. He too had seen 

the weakness of the Day school, in that the children did not 

come to school because no means of enforcing it had been made. 

It was to have opened in mid-December, but was delayed until 

the 28th of J anuary, 1874. 

Now the principal idea behind the boarding school was 

that it gave the reservation greeter control over the lives 

of the youngsters, and took them awqy from their parents for 

a short dur&tion, but long enough to attempt to tec3ch them 

English. Heretofore, they had spoken only in their native 

tongue, and this was a serious handicap if they were to ever 

to master their new culture, rod understand it. This was 

vitAl to the success of the whole enterprise, and Dyer knew 

it. 

In this respect, the treaty had urovided for two tea­

chers to be placed upon the reservation, and so far this had 
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not materialized. He wrote to the Commissioner at Washing­

ton,153 and reminded him of this f act . Furthermore, the 

t~e8ty had also provided for two interpreters, but had recei­

ved only one. He referred to it as simply an oversight. 

Before going further with the history of the strug=le 

at the lake, it is necessary at this time to summarize brie­

fly some of the more potent forces that had shaped the events 

and the lives of those people concerned. 

This year was an important one for it brought out sev­

eral currents of economic and political trends that are worth 

especial attention. First, the loyalty of the bands to the 

government during the Modoc uprising, was demonstrated clear­

ly to their credit by the fact that there never appeared at 

any time, any real form of organized sympathy with the Modoc 

renegades . True, there must have been some individual cases 

of it, but the best demonstration of this was in the fact 

that old Chief Schonchin, of the Modoc band down at Yainax, 

remained loyal throughout the conflict, and even urged his 
15A. fellow tribesmen to not follow the ex2JTiple of their brothers . • 

Secondly, through the cooperation of the Indians, Dyar 

we.sable to hold the reservation together in spite of the 

loss of transportation facilities due mostly to military use, 

and thereby holding on to the respect for his leadership. 

Business even though it had been stopped, was able to regain 

its foothold immediately after the release of a means of car­

rying it on had been made. Thirdly, the war crystalized the 
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meaning of the white man's purpose in the minds of the tri­

bes; there never was ag2in any attempt to divert from the 

routine of life provided for them . Lastly, it settled for­

ever any further danger to the white settlers from outl8W­

Indi2n 8ttacks on their property . That st 0 tus and role of 

the Indian wss ended insofar as the Klamath country was con­

cerned . 

Tµe cost of the Modoc wpr upon lives and in terms of 

destruction of property and equipment had been far greater 

than anyone had anticipated . The military had expected the 

war to end by January , and as we have shown, it did not . The 

Modocs surprised everyone by inflicting great damage in loss 

of life at the Lava Beds . They were far more resourceful 

than the military was able to imag ine . Blunders on the part 

of the military command did not aid in abating the conflict . 

The money cost of this war amounted to $438,131 . 91 .
155 

It represented a cost of neorly half a million dollars in the 
• 

actual cost of Opl'ations, not to include the pensions , hos­

pitalization and other accessory costs. Below is an itemized 

list of the expenditures : 

REGULAR ARMY SUPPLIES 
INCIDENTAL SUPFLIES 
TRANSPORTATION COSTS 
CAVALRY , ARTILLERY , HORSES 
CLAIMS OF OREGON CITIZENS 
CLAIMS ALLOWED CALIFORNIA CITIZENS 
GOLD PAID OUT BY STATE OF OREGON 

$ 27 , :385 . 33 
12,166.66 

183 , 712 . 61 
7 , 302 . 50 

70,268.08 
4 , 441.33 

132,855 . 20 
438 , 131 . 91 

What had started out to be nothing more than a skirmish had 

ended up as a rather expensive enterprise . 
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The State of Oregon was refunded the amount of $70, 

268.08 by the government in lieu of the claims of her citi­

zens, but orig inally the government had tried to reduce this 

claim down to $32,207.50. A bill was introduced into the 

Congress for the claims of Oregon citizens for the amount of 

$136,000.00, but did not succeed in passing. 156 

General Hardie, who was Inspector of the claims, found 

many instances of exhorbitant claims by citizens of both Cal­

ifornia and Oregon that he simply reduced157 in accordance 

with the normal cost of the times. Freight rates, for exam­

ple, from Redding California to Ft. Klamath, were found to 

be as high as $1.10 per pound. Many claimants priced the 

value of a dead horse 9t about three times what it was worth 

on the market. 

It is supposed that no one will ever know the grand to­

t8l cost to everyone and everything that was influenced by 

this particular type of madness in the settlement of the 

west. At any rate, the cost of the war did not end the cost 

of the show that must go on. 



CHAPTER X 

The old chief and the Warner Valley groups of Snakes 

finally made their appearance at Yainax in December 1873, 

and they were again in a semi-starved condition, as was their 

custom these past few years. Yainax was now to be provided 

with extra food to take care of all the tribes that had now 

assembled at thAt point. Seventy thousand nounds of beef had 

been provided for them and the agent surmised that they might 

get through the winter without any trouble. 

The sup J lies that had been brought into the agency had 

been freighted in by wagons and pack trains in the early days, 

and by now the method had been improved by the arrival of the 

railroeds as the newest mens of accomplishing this feat. 

With this came adcUtional and new devices of business manage­

ment. 

It seems that the Indian Department had been buying 

goods for the reservation from New York firms and that they 

had been shipued at greet expense to Linkvi lle , where a.gency 

teams would meet them and bring them in. Dyar had recommen­

ded158 that they purchased directly at San Francisco, and 

shipped to Redding, California, and then brought in by the 

means of hauling them from the latter 9oint to Linkville. 

The California Pacific railroad had been hauling goods for 

one half their regular ~rice in order to prevent their being 



shipped via Portland. 

101 
159 

Now for the first time in years, events began to break 

for the betterment of the agency at least in some respects. 

Funds for the purchase of cattle had been allowed in Septem­

ber 1873 and the following May, the order was received from 

160 the Commissioner at Washington to proceed with the offer-

ing of bids for the purchase of cat tl e for the Indi ans , ful­

filling the desire of a long felt need. This was only the 

beginning of an enterprise that was to last for a long time. 

The basis of agricultural dependency was to retreat into the 

background of the economics, although it was by no means ab­

andoned . 

During the winter and spring months the boarding houses 

had been tSoing up with the aid of Indian labor an a_ lumber 

from the mill. These structures, made out of rew lumber, 

arose in the dimensions of 26 X 40 for the girls boarding 

house with one and one-half stories; sleeping quarters above . 

Two buildings of 15 X 22 feet, one of them being for the boys , 

with the capacity at 40, and a room for the teacher. The 

regular school house was not yet completed as of September. 

Congress in June of that year made an appropriation of 

$9,600.00161 for the salaries of the employees at the Agency, 

but maa_e none for Yainax. An oversight no doubt , but it was 

not felt that way by the administrator qt the headquarters. 

For, in that same month, he was forced to discharge all o•f 

the employees at Yainax simply because there were no funds 

to uay with. 

,,1 r 
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This was necess2ry as he nut it: 162 

in order to seve enough food for 
those I feel I will have to feed. 

Here we have another example of the reason why Dyar referred 

to the method of "bun5ling 11 that the government through its 

offices persisted in doing. It was exasperating to one who 

conscientiously extended himself in his service. 

The employee list as of June 1874, showed a complete 

change-over in personnel. It recorded W. S. Moore, Miller; 

W. H. Watson, Blacksmith; J. W. Kuylendall, WPM; S. Worden, 

Supt. of Farm; M. T. Dyar; the agent 's wife, as teacher; Wm. 

Kuykendall as Carpenter; E.W. Hammond, teacher; and B. P. 

Quisney, Physician. These were all retained at the agency. 

Their salaries ranged from $1050.00 to $1250.00. 

In August, Dyar lost his patience when he received a 

letter from Edward P. Smith, 163 Indian Commissioner at Wqsh­

ington, that the appropris.tion for the coming fiscal year 

would be $24,700.00, and wrote the Commissioner in caustic 

terms to the effect that it would not even commence to do 

what the job called for. He cited the loyalty of the Klam­

ath and other Indi ::ins during the Modoc affRir. He revealed 

that inspector Vandevere who had been at the Agency that month 

had told that the 11 snaltes at Yainax must steal or starve 11 , 

unless further nrovided for. 

In the past , Yainax hRd had an appropriation of $20,000 

and they needed every penny of it. He estimated that it 

would take an extra $5,000 to barely exist on the basis of 
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this amount being above the mentioned sum. 

In September the boarding school closed for lack of 

funds. This WP S a blow that hurt him worse than anything 

else that had happened. On top of this, all Indian laborers 

were let go from employment. The following February, the 

day school which had been abandoned in favor of the more 

efficient boarding school, had to b e reopened again to pro­

vide some means as best that could be found, for the educa­

tional interests of the agency children. But the attendance 

was ags.in the same old story. Very few showed. up for the bell. 

It seems that the growth of the white civilization by 

the spring of 1875 had now begun to make itself felt by the 

presence of its existence between Linkvil:e anQ the Agency 

and in the settlements around Lost River. This was re pson 

enough at le2st to the extent that the Indians were not now 

a.lbV'Bd to make the annual journey there for fishing purposes. 

Political pressure was making itself manifest. 164 

The tribes did not object loudly to this prohibition; 

they took it stoically, and in spite of the fact that the 

gra in and '\focus crops were near failures now. For that rea­

son it wa s decided to purchase 7000 pounds of addition°l flour 

besides that which had been purchnsed last fall. The price 

wa s $3.60 per one hundred pound barrel. The one cheerful 

note was that the cattle purchased 1 2 st f a ll were a.oing nice­

ly now, n~ne had died from the cold and st arvation, but a few 

had died from poison which they found along the banks of the 
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creek.
165 

The population count that had been made166 reveals that 

in the intervening years there had occur~ed a shrinkage among 

the tribes. It will be remembered th~t neQrly ten yeprs ago 

the count of the tribes at Ft. Klamath showed that there were 

710 Klemaths and 339 Modoc , . The 22 Snakes of course at that 

time di~ not represent them whol~y. The resson is obvious. 

But the count in March, 1875 showed, Klamaths, 546; Modocs, 

80; and the Snakes 494. 

The reader should understand by now the re2sons for most 

of this variance. Of course death had intercepted some, but 

a most noticable loss is that of the Mod.ocs. Their folly of 

attempting to beat their destiny was ruinous. They never re­

covered from it. The Snake bands had shown the most notice­

able gain , but it would have been impossible to have known 

how many there were in the beginning, as no accurate count 

could be made until Ocheco came that December, in 1873. Even 

now his band was only 150. 

However, there were ten hundred and forty of them now 

altogether and they were destined to grow in numbers, even 

thou~h it might take years; in spite of all of the barriers 

that had so far met their edv2nce . Even the remaining Modocs 

now were f eqrful of being tc1ken away like their brothers , and 

old Schonchin would not now have anything to do with his fell­

ows. He wanted to die on the Klamath reservation. 

Whatever may be said of the Americgn frontier, as ruth-

less as it was, it seemed to have the virtue of knowing what 
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it w2nted, and it held no recourse to the consequences of 

its actions . The f~ctors which influenced the lives of·the 

Indians on the reserva ion up to now had been those of set­

tlement, w2rs, reorganization, and the adjustments of nec­

essity, which had been ceused mainly by the circumstences of 

western environment and the feilure of Congress to see the 

.realization thet these people really meant to live and ad­

vance . 

The resentment of the white settlers towqrQ the I ndian , 

even though he was now controlled on the reservation, went 

on at an even more accentuated basis . This we.s caused part­

ly by the fears tha.t were pent up during the Modoc Wt1r , and 

the killings of several white civilians and the loss of over 

four hundred soldiers lives; all of this had its carry- over 

effect . 

The Indien was still thought of by the whites as .en ob­

stacle not worthy of sympathetic understending . Cattlemen 

on the fringe of the reservation continued to ~r ze theirs 

on Indian lands. Dyar had sent word to them on numerous oc­

casions, and finally in 1875, got an agreement of fifty cents 

par head uer day for grazing , after several yeers of freedom. 

No agreement , however, was yet obtained with those who per­

sisted on attemptin0 the nurpose of getting the Indi~n drunk . 

Even the military was a contributing factor to the det­

riment of the tribes . The troops at Ft . Klamath now had be­

come well established , with a good many men . Their relations 
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with the Indians had been established almost from the start . 

F. H. Smith, Secretary of the Boprd of Indian Commissioners 

at Weshington in a letter to LeRoy Dyar167 stating that as 

far as the Indians were concerned , they were not needed . He 

admits that the Fort dil provide the Indian with a market 

for his lumber , but that their influence insofar as respect 

for morality and progress of civilization was emphatically 

and powerfully detrimental . He believed that the tribes 

would never make great advancement in Christianity ana_ moral­

ity while the post continued . Dyar added his personal agen­

da th8t : 168 

I wish to speak in the highest terms 
of the officers who have been in command of 
the oost since my term at the Agency . But 
in spite of all that is done, the common 
soldiers will continue with the debaucheries 
with Indian women; they need better oat terns 
than these men. 

Dy ar had worked dilisently ori this matter of soldier­

Indian relations as far back as 1872. At that time he had 

received a letter from the oost com~and comnlaining about 

venereal disease among the men there . 169 He reulied to this 

com~unication170 on October 30 to the effect that he had al­

ways done what he could to improve the relations between sol­

diers and Indi an women, but th~t in spite of the fact that 

he had forbidden the women to leave the reserv;:ition without 

a pass, some had done so ana. had not been apprehended . Also 

that : l 7l 

Soldiers are in the habit of frequently 
visiting the Indian camus below the agency--



sometimes remaining over night. Cannot 
measures be taken to prevent this? The 
Indian women will never admit when they 
have it. 
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But in 1875 the relations were still going on and it was be­

ginning to be a costly thing to the tribes. To this day, 

the scars of the frontier are still evident. 

The difficulty in finances at the Agency was stL'. .. l of 

the same marrow in the bone of Congressional financial ad­

ministration. An order of July 1st cancelled the seventy­

five cents p:r day subsistance allowance that had been given 

to the employees of the government , and this WPS to cost them 

nearly three hundred dollars each in salary. 

As a result of this W. S. Moore, his best miller , resi­

gned , and the Indiens , who had thought a gre8.t de2l of him 

dug down in their own pockets and collected one hundred and 

fifty dollars to help make up the lass. The Agent said 

they 11 understood the si tuBtion 11 • In the meentime, the board­

ing school that had been closed for so many months , was to 

reopen again in July, 1874. This was accomplished by Dyar 1 s 

skimping ~rnd saving at all corners of financial retregt in 

order that he might again have the institution operating. 

He had sent back to Washington a sum of $4996 as 11 unexpen­

ded11 monies from accounts thPt had not been used up. 

The trouble with this system was that the Indian Bureau 

alloted so much money for each type of expenditure, and from 

year to ye ar never mqde an allow2nce b2sed on needs in spite 
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of repeated pleadings from the agent. No funds could be 

trpnsferred from one a ccount to the other without expressed 

permission, and only rarely did it ever happen that this 

could be done . , Dyar often denied the Klamath Agency things 

that it WPS fin an cially entitled to in order to keep Yainax 

on its feet. 



CHAPTER XI 

When we left the road builders last , they he.d neared • 

the head of Sprague River Valley in their southward push . 

The twelve mile , alternate- sectioned road right was begin­

ning to cut into the he art of the most fertile and produc­

tive section of the Klamath Reservation . The tribes by this 

time had become fully aware of the imp licat ions of this new­

est intrusion of their doma in , and were be~inning to show 

indignation at this thrust . 

The Agent had be en protesting this title- confused epi­

sode since 1872 . I t wa s acknowledged that the treaty had 

g iven this right . The I ndia ns knew it too . What they did 

not know wa s that there had been a mist ake on the part of 

Congress in e;r e nting thi s l and t o the State of Oregon , which 

in turn had granted the s e sections to the ro ad company . 

But now the error had gone too far . Settlers had made 

purchases of land in good faith a long the route ; they had 

bona f i de titles to their lands . The co mp any proceeded 

c1 l ong with its project without apparent knowledge ths.t there 

was such a thing a s an Indian reserva tion through which their 

ro ad right w ,s de s tined to run . 

By 1870 Congress wa s aware of it , but took no action . 

The Committee of Public Lands in the House of Represent a tives 

with Mr . Laf ayette Lane as its cha irman, reported172 the 
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whole legal aspects of the case . It was 9ointed out at that 

time that the company had legel title to 133,377 acres of 

land which were embrc1ced in the Klamath Reservation. 

On September 23, 1874 , Dyar had protested ag?in173 that 

if this title to the land of these sections was allowed to 

persist , that it would tc1ke away the most fertile grazing 

land on the reservation, and th t they had just started to 

raise cattle there . Furthermore, it W9S signified that it 

would cut a strip for sixty miles in length through the val­

ley and sweep out the whole of its value to the Indians . 

He had made personal talks with white settlers AB to 

their feelings ebout the matter and found that they were a­

ware of the significance of the implications. It WAS best 
174 

expressed when he said : 

that if public announcement were made 
today of the 3000 white men and red inhab­
itants of this section of the country , it 
would be that we stend on verge of a war of 
which the late Modoc difficulty would be 
dwarfed into insignificance . A combination 
of Klamath, Modoc , and Piutes could at a 
single stroke destroy the sparse settlements 
that would cost the government millions of 
d.ollars . 

Dyar was under no illusionment when he said this , for set­

tlers h2d already petitioned their feelings about the matter~75 

and were alarmed over the prospects of it . (see appendix) 

The Indian attitude was expressed in the form of argu­

ment thc1t ran to the effect thRt the government made a sol­

emn treaty with them, giving full title to lands, gnd they 
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could not understand this except in terms of that it was a 

conspiracy to take their lands away from them. In 1876 they 

were still contending this argument. Dyar met with the chiefs 

of the tribes and tried to explain how the land company got 

the land, but they replied that when they signed the treaty 

nothing was said about this . 

They replied further that if the government were to al­

low these lands which were their main dependence for winter 

range for their stock, it would meen that their cattle would 

be taken away from thsm. They would therefore feel that they 

would have no reason to believe that they would be protected 

in the future of any of their rights; that they might as well 

be killed off at once, and that if they were driven to fight, 

although they had no chance of winning, they would c~use the 

government a very great expense!! 

Mr. Pengra , the representative of the Oregon Central 

Military Ro3d Company offered to take a settlement in lieu 

of the lands lest to the reservation, if the case took that 

turn for his company. 176 But nothing was to be done about 

this matter. It was to drag on for years to come. Congress 

seemingly had no intentions of trying to untR_ngle the legal 

knot that had be~n tied by what seemed to be its own error. 

In the meantime, the white settler continued to go on occu­

pying the land. The frontiersman-farmer was willing to take 

a chance, come what may. Only those old time residents of 

the period realized its implications . 
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This topic of reservation history W8S to dominate all 

others for the next few yesrs in the minds of the Indians 

and the reservation authorities . Unrest over it seethed at 

times, and Dya_r met with the chiefs freq_uently in trying to 

hol the esteem for the gov ernment. It was a difficult task, 

and not an enjoyable one. In view of what had hapuened at 

the reservation in the p "' St few years, the Indian was still 

not convinced of the white man 1 s word. 

The Governor of the Sta_te of Oregon took the matter in­

to his own hands in an effort to aid in the solution of the 

problem when wrote177 to the Secretary of the Interior in 

December 1878. He outlined the c ase in brief and extended 

the argument further by pointing out that the Indian wars in 

Oregon had been a costly thing and that the Kla_maths were a 

tribe thet held tremenduous influence over the other tribes, 

and should be kept peaceful pt all costs. 

He even went so far 2s to suggest that the troops at 

Ft. Klamath be removed to show the Indian tha t our faith in 

them was one of confidence. This was never done , however . 

Endless r>mounts of letters and official correspondence poured 

out over the problem and by this time (1878) the matter had 

begun to die down with thehope on the part of the Indians 

that somewhere, somehow, they would surely not be betrayed . 

During the interim of all this road construction contro­

versy, Dyar was nearing the end of his regime as the head of 

the agency 's business affairs. But before he left in May , 
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1877, several more improvements were founded. All of 

the Indians had adopted the custom of white dress; only the 

Snakes had still insisted on not meeting completely this ad­

vance of civilization. The old Wickiup hPd virtually dis­

appeared, and most of the tribes of the Agency were living 

in houses, even though some of them were rather crude. 

One of the greatest achievements of the reservation dur­

ing the 70fs was the Indians' willingness to learn how to 

work for himself and to learn to plan his life according to 

the white civilizationrs manner. Even though it WPS slow it 

came about with the expansion of the agency farm and the 8.C­

quisi tion of cattle as a means of subsistance. His lands in 

the reservation within its boundaries amounted to originally 

1,056,000 acres. The future wes to hold out far more resources 

for him in his timbered lands and the development of his cat­

t,le industry. 

Frugelity and industry, which were forced upon him in 

the early days by circumstances of his environment and which 

have already been illustrated, came about by such exploits 

as the one which occurred in late October in 1875. 178 Ind­

ians from the agency together with two white employees, 

freighted one hundred thousand pounds of wheat over the Cas­

cades from Ashland to the Agency, a distance of over 90 miles, 

over a ror->d th2t is now the Crater Lake HighwE'y, at an expense 

to the Department of less than $200, thus spving $1800 freight 

charges. This was simply a matter of economy since the funds 
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did not permit such an expenditure. 

For the first time in a good many months, the fishing 

restrictions qgainst the tribes eased up and in March of 

1876, they made a.n excursion to Lo st River where they c2u~h t 

several tons of white suckers, dried them and returned to the 

reservation. This time the Superintendent of Farming had 

gone with them. 

Between 1878 and 1881179 the Klamath Reservation, in­

cluding all tribes, received for distribution according to 

their numbers, a total of 225 cattle of a variety of breeds . 

This WP.s the greatest influx of 11beef on thei hoof 11 that had 

been added to the wealth of the tribes so f2r . It meant that 

they would soon be in a position to increas the herds to a 

uoint where the business would pay off sizeable dividends, 

at least compared to what they had in the past. The policy 

of High and Dyar was beginning to bear fruit. 

In addition to this they were to see the arrival of 

thirty-two new utility wagons, something that hRd been needed 

for a long time. But this was ell that arrived during the 

period in the form of 11 new 11 equinment, and the reason for it 

was a sound one-------Congress had again failed to make ap­

proprietions for the years 1879, 1880 and 1881, in sufficient 

amount thet would enPble the Indinn Department to allocate 

them where needed. 

A letter written180 to the Interior Department in 1881, 

the Commissioner of Indian Affeirs revealed the u2st policy 
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of Congress in the matter of e.ppropriations to the Indian 

Department, and its influence upon the reservations. It 

seems that one of the chief difficulties took form in the 

fact that in these appropriations, Congress did not allow 

funds for the transportation of goods to the points of dis­

tribution. It may have been this condition in the past, but 

not entirely though. 

The government owed atotal sum of $100,000 in back debts 

which he stated was the cause of contractors refusing to do 

business with the Indian Department, and for the obvious rea­

son, they were not very anxious to render their services of 

delivery and then wait for several years for their money. 

For exe.mple, flour that had been contract ea_ for deli very in 

1880 to the various agencies in the United States in the month 

of October, was not delivered until the following August, 

1881. 

When the bureau ca lled this to the attention of the con­

tractors and rea_ue st ea_ them to be more prompt in this matter, 

they simnly replied that the India.n Department did not have 

any funds with which to pay them, and that until this malad­

justment was overcome they did not care to do any further 

business. This he concluded was sufficient excuse for the 

delay! 

Here then, is at least some of the reason why an agent 

in far-off Oregon might become exasperc1.ted because he could 

not have those things for which he had pleaded to the Depart-
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ment. In any case, there was certainly not the cooperation 

and coordination that there should have been. Of course in 

this analysis we must bear in mind once again that during 

the 1870•s and the decade following, the west was still a 

pretty rough and uncoord.inated structure of cultural envir­

onment, and that the headquarters for all this was still a 

great distance away in spite of the rapid advance of civil­

ization . 

But the advance that was being made on the Klamath Res­

ervation was now going on at a pace that almost matched that 

of the above. In many wcys it even surpassed 1t. 

In 1881 we have our first real observation of the devel­

opment of the reservation in the form of compiled statistics , 
181 

some of which are accumulative, while others are not: 

TABLE I 
Showin% Stock-Products- Subsistance 

Number Acres Number Acres Number Acre 
In Klamath of Tillable Cultivated 
Reservation Lands by Govtt 
1,056,000 20,000 10 

Number Acres Number Acres Number Bu . No. 
Cultivated by Broken Wheat Veg. 
Indians By Indians Harvest Lbs, 

100 20 50 415 

Number Number Number Number Number Number 
Tons Cattle Feet of Cords Rods Horses 
Hay Pigs Lumber Wd Cut Fence Owned 

1200 600 300000 3000 1600 2500 
12 
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TABLE II 
Showing civilization 

Number Number Males Number Number 
Farming In Civilized Houses Houses 
Families Occunations Lived in Built 

80 204 91 20 

Number Number Number Number Number 
B & G Dollars Months B & G New 
s Age on Ed. School Read Readers 

261 $5400 10 67 19 

Number Number Number Number Number 
Indian Indian Wagons Mowing Indians 
Deaths Births M1;J.chines On Res. 

24 26 80 7 1053 

Money Money Money ~Money Money 
Grants Grants Grants Grants Grants 
To Res. Med. s. Annu. Subs. Schools 

$3000 $190 $1886 $38 $144.68 

For reasons that are obvious it should not be difficult 

to distinguish between those accumulative items and those 

that are not. Most of the figures are those for the years 

or fiscal year we should say of 1880-81. In a few br1ef 

years, especially since 1873, that there had been consider­

able growth. For example, 67 boys and girls had now learned 

to read proficiently, whereas this had been accomplished since 

July of 1873 when the boarding school was reopened. There 

were 19 who had learned to read during the year. The indus­

try that was spoken of above is reflected in the sums of pro­

ductive labor that shows up in such items as, number of tons 

of hay cut during the year, number of cords of wood cut, etc. 

The housing short age shows up in the total number of 

them built and lived in as of this year, 111. The population 

r 
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of 1053 shows even a greater shrinkage, assuming that it is 

correct, and we have only the agent•s word for it which should 

be sufficient. In 1875 the total count was 1120 Indians. 

It shows that sickness and death had cut lnto them for about 

73 individuals. The birth rate was holding its own for this 

year. 

By this time a greater allotment of funds was coming 

through as evidenced by educational costs, and incidentally 

it should not be taken too literally for in 1883 the Indian 

Department wps raising a great storm of protest at what it 

believed to be deliberate abuse on the part of Congress in 

the appropriations for the fiscal year of 1882-83. Even so, 

$38.88 is a rather small amount for subsistance supDlies. 

The Secretary of the Interior had stated182 that while 

the year had been gratifying in results on the reservations, 

it wa s apparent that Congress did not yet see the whole need 

of the Department's problems. 183 For example: 

last year (1882) $100,000was asked 
for and we were granted $5000, and this 
year we asked for the same amount and we 
got not a dollar. 

At a last verbal thrust, he opined that Congress furthermore 

had not made any appropriation for the prosecution of the 

whites who had sold liauor to the tribes. 

The year m2.rked a. -oivotal position for the reserv a tion 

for the means to an end had gone up in the form of two new 

school houses. The new one at the Agency was 72 x 34 feet 

and two stories high, but could only accomodate half of the 
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pupils who applied. The one at Yainax was 40 X 90 feet and 

also two stories high . 

The pattern of instruction at both schools wa s elemen­

tary work in the mornings, and industrial school in the 

afternoon. Mr . William T. Leake was the principal and in­

structor at Yainax . The new erection at the Agency wQs the 

second one there as Dyar had finished the original one in the 

late fall of 1874 . 

In general the civilization of the people was improving 

rapidly . They still had a. few of their old weys, but what 

race made faster improvement for only having been established 

for some twenty years? 

There was of course much to be done yet. They were by 

no means fu l ly civilized, yet their progress up to this uoint 

had been remarkable . Nickerson stated:
184 

Give them the years of protection 
that other people have had and they will 
in my judgment be second to none in all 
that is reauired of citizenship! 

There were other matters too that should be noted for this 

year . In 1878 the idea of Indian Police caught hold of Con­

gress , and five years later it was a rea lity on the Klamath 

Reservation. Now it seems incredible that a man could devote 

his whole time to a job of any kind and. receive a s his SPlary 

the magnific~ent sum of $5.00 per month, furnish two or three 

suits a year, ana_ still keep his family from want , yet that 
185 is exactly what the new procedure ca lled for . But it 

worked. The chief of the Klamaths was Captain . 
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Congress ought to be given credit here for having fin­

ally awakened to its obligations to the national tribes for 

in the annual appropriations for the ensuing year the total 

sum of $487 , 000 was given over to the cost of maintaining 

the educational systems on the reservations of the nation , 

as compared to $135 , 000 for the previous yea.r , an increase 

of 260% . 
186 The most exciting thing that happened during the win-

ter of 1883-84 was the killing of an Indian 11 doctor 11 by a 

member of the tribes . He was caught and convicted by a 

court composed of his own people . It had a great effect on 

them for it was an entirely new experience. Heretofore , they 

had never had this privilige, and it marked a milestone in 

civic consciousness . 

During Dyar 1s administration a wooden structure, as a 

11 toll 11 brid.ge, had. been built across the Williamson River . 

Now it seems that in August 1884 , there was agitation for 

the construction of a new one . 

The proposition was delivered to Klamath County, since 

that institution was now a legally functioning entity , that 

it should be the one to replace the old one; it seems that 

it had just tottered and fell into the river . Now with the 

military at Ft . Klamath, a bridge was e necessity . Klamath 

County did not feel that it was able to construct a new one . 

The military under the direction of Capt. G. H. Burton 

finally built a new one . It was the pride and joy of the 
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Indians. Thirty thous3nd feet of lumber were used for it . 

Now true to human nature, the IndiPns down at Yainax wanted 

one too . So the next year they got it, and of course it 

meant money in the pockets of the Indian laborers who had to 

cut the timber . 187 

This lumber business though was not the only me~ns they 

had of earning money for themselves . Last year they earned 

a total of $3 , 000 freighting for outside parties , and this 

yep.r the amount w~s $5,500 . Qµite a sizeable sum , and they 

were putting their money into horses for themselves . 



CHAPTER XII 

Beginning shortly aft er the turn of the so t s , Congress 

begen to realize that it had a problem on its hands in the 

matter of its responsibility to the w2rdship of the American 

Indian . I t had taken it a l ong time to converge its opinion 

to the r ealization that it could no l onger negle c t them . The 

events of the period indi cate this . 

This same element of time was also clouded again with 

the nefar i ous s chemes of land speculators , and the ultimate 

l and fr aud sui ts by the government . The "Swamp Angels 11 had 

had their turn 9t corrupt manipulations of fraudulent land 

titles . This period was one of re ckoning , for the govern­

ment had up to March 24, 188 8 , a total of 8 , 264 land suits 

in the Federal Courts agp inst those citizens and corporations 

who had primarily , through mis- management of contracts and 

i ncompetency on the part of land agents fromthe Land Office , 

obta ined thou s ands of acres of the public domain . The year 

before it had had 12 , 299 cases . 188 

We h ave already pointed out the reaction of the Klamath 

tribes to the advance through their lands of the road company . 

But they had had to fore go their fe elings by virtue of tacit 

indifference to the authorities . As we st a ted earlier , the 

company proceeded ahe ad with the s ale of l ands , and the all­

eged construction of the ro ad to its terminus . The tribes 
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had not forgotten though; they simply WPited for their time 

to come . 

The first of the series of events which are celled. to 

our attention is the matter of the reservat ion boundary . It 

will be reci=illed that the area. ha.d been surveyed in 1871 , by 

George Mercer, out of the office of the Surveyor General of 

the State of Oregon. Further , the tribes stated at that time 

that the boundary was not right . 

In 1884 agitption again began in earnest . This time it 

was coming from officipldom . On July 4, 1884 Congress passed 

an act which provided for $50,000 in Federal funds for the 

re- survey of tribal lands wherever needed . 189 It further 

provided for the machinery of the land allotments th2t were 

to follow two years later . 

Since the initial survey , the out-boundaries of the res­

ervation had witnessed a dispute between the cattlemen on 

the fringe of it, a'ld the Indians, who now had cattle of their 

own , and who demanded that they alone be given full access 

to grazing lands that were theirs . They had claimed that 

the eastern boundary was located too far west depriving them 

of a large tract of land that was given them in the treaty!9O 

The Agent was instructed to191 make a full investig -

tion of the matter and take all of the available evidence . 

After this report was made , and in view of the vague and in­

definite descriptions that were given concerning the boundary 

dispute, and the fa.ct that settlements had been made upon the 



124 

lands east of the reservation, it was determined to reestab­

lish the eastern boundary in accordance with the survey of 

1871 . 

Although the claim of t~e Indiens was well established , 

it was decided to go ahead with the new survey. It was also 

decided th~t the military would be used to protect the res­

ervation from the encroachment of cattlemen. The Secretary 

192 furthermore advised in his report that he intended to 

represent the claim of the Indians for the lands lost by the 

faulty survey of 1871 . 

In 1888 , Wm . Thiel was employed to make the new one for 
193 

the reserva.tion . When it ws.s allover it was found that the 

two lines had unwittingly confounded each other . This survey 

ra_n along the north shore of Klamath Lake and Wood River , but 

north of thEt it r2n farther west and extended further north 

by two miles . On the east it was found that both lines 

(1871- 1888) were coincident . In other words, they were right 

back where they started . Worse yet , the new line (1888) had 

now embrEJced four townships thet were not IN ·rHE SURVEY OF 

1871 ! ! ( see plate VIII) 

True to inviolable tradition, the matter was to stay 

where it wr- s for a few yeers more . Did anyone really know 

where the boundary was? 

In the meantime, the feud grew worse along the border . 

For the next few years neither side were willing to relent 

in the prosecution of what each thought were their rights , 
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in spite of the fact that the cattlemen had no right at all 

Indian lands. By proclamation 194 of May 4 , 1886, the mil-on 

i t2.ry at Ft. Klamath was placed under the control of the Sec-

retary of the Interior . This had been a part of a movement 

now underway to aoolish the troops at Ft . Klamath . The ob­

ject now was, use them for protection of the reservation . 

A letter from the Klamath Agent to the Indian Commiss­

ioner stated195 that the Indians were rapidly advancing in 

civilization and that they were learning to take care of 

themselves, but that they were prompt to revenge injuries . 

Furthermore , that the whites surroundint: the reservation were 

of the most lawless and turbulent in character . 

His argument carried on to the effect that these set­

tlers (cattlemen) were only too anxious to fasten a quarrel 

upon the I ndians in the hope that an Indian war would result 

in the opening up of the reservation to settlement by whites. 

He therefore requested that troops be left at Ft . Klamath 

to keep the lawless element of the border under control . 

Now another event which had been urged as far back as 
. 196 

1876 , the Land In Severalty Act , was passed by Congress , 

and this was to add still further consternation to the minds 

of all persons involved . The Indian had wanted this for a 

long time because it meant that at last he was to receive a 

tract of land of his own; to work and to establish for his 

family an inherita.nce of real estate. 

This act which was passed on February 8, 1887 , gave to 
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the Indians of the reservation certain tracts of land of which 

each head of a family received one quarter section; single or 

orphaned Indians received one eighth section ; provided they 

were under eighteen; and to each other single person born 

prior to the act , one sixteenth of a section. The act fur­

ther specified that married women were barred from receiving 

lands . The law was to be amended in 1891 at which time it 

wa s to be further provided that each member of a tribe should 

have an equal allotment which was to be held in trust for 

twenty five years, after which they were to be released to 

their heirs . This arrangement now made it possible for mem­

bers of the tribes to have a new incentive for life . Here­

tofore, they had remained upon the reservation for a long 

time, living without individual land enterprise, but working 

as a collective group for subsi stance, and_ they had made an 

impressive record . 

For several years now , as we have already ment~oned, 

the slow but definite movement for the removal of t~e troops 

at Ft . Klamath had been gaining momentum . White settler , 

both law abiding and lawless, be:s an to express fears of re­

venge on the part of the Indians . After much discourse and 

unnecessary expression and exaggeration of the situation 

insofar as the 11 war threat" was concerned , the Department 

sent from Washington an inspector, James H. Cisney, to in­

vestigate, and report 'his findings .197 

These were to the effect that he found things peacefully 



127 

inclined and that the Indians seemed to be anxious to keep 

out of trouble, and that there was no fear fromthem unless 

there was a continuation of imposition on the part of the 

lawless minority along the borders of the reservation. No 

fear existed between the law 2biding whites as regp,rds to 

the Indians, and that such woula. be the case if the troops 

were removed . 

It was pointed out, however , that certain white cattle­

men on seeing the number of troops reduced at the fort, had 

driven about ten thousand head of cattle into the Klamath 

marsh are2 of the reservstion , and that the Indians wanted 

this region for their own grazing lands, since it was theirs 

in the first place, and by doing this could save their home 

pastures for the winter . 

Further, this move had caused additional alarm now, and 

that since one company of Cavalry had been removed from the 

Fort in the summer of 1886, it had served as a cue for this 

on the part of these cattlemen . It wa.s alluded that if the 

troops were removed entirely that it would be only a short 

time, he believed, until they would take away all rights of 

the Indian, and then some Indian would resist in some inci­

dent and that :
198 

some white cowboy would kill him and 
then the fray would commence . And from the 
best evidence that I can gather here, there 
are many of these white settlers just wait­
ing for this opportunity . They claim that 
they are just as much entitled to the grass 
that grows upon the reservation for their 



cattle as the Indians are, and that the 
Indians have no rights that the white 
man is bound to respect . 
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Protests poured in from all sources (see appendix) , and the 

troops were not to be removed until three years later, 1889, 

when it was found that they no longer served as a public re­

source for protection , for by that time civilization had cut 

its indelible pattern. It wa s a fortunate thing though that 

some were left to enforce order in respecting Indian rights . 

Indian police were in no Dosition to aid in the matter , even 

though Federal Courts existed for the protection of the Ind­

ian. 

Finally, in 1889 an amended act of Congress199 made it 

possible for the cattlemen to enter into lease agreement 

with the Reserv a tion for gra zing lands, thus an ugly sore in 

the history of this strug6le was healed . 

The Land in Severalty Act which we mentioned a moment 

ago had been organized and under way for barely a few years 

when the Oregon California Land Company , the successor to 

the old Orei on Central Military Road Company , brought suit 

against the government in an effort to stop the effects of 

the above act . The object of course wrs found in the mat­

ter of these lends that it had inherited on the reservation 

through purchPse . 

The former company haa. been selling the lends when in 

1885 it wa s brought to task by the government on charges of 

fraud in connection with the roed building and its purpose 
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as a company . Spece does not nermit more detail here , than 

to say that the whole matter was aired in the courts, and the 

government, even though losing its suit against the O. C.i.vi.R. 

Co . , brought out some very reve9ling information which showed 

plain evidence of fraud . 200 

In the case of the former land company , the court held 

against it as a means of interfering with the development 

of the allotment of lands to the Indians of the reservation~Ol 

This decision also upheld the tre2ty of 1864 as being velid 

and for the first time established the legPlity of the same . 

At least in part, a halt W8S brought to the matter of sell­

ing Indian lands on the reservation by outsiders . The 

settlement of this case in its final judgment and the com­

pensation for the loss of lands etc . , was not to be made 

until 1938 . (see appendix) 

It WPS remarked eerlier thPt in the 1880 1 s the policy 

of the government under went a great change in the manner Qf 

operat i on on the several agencies in the United States, and 

these changes made themselves felt on the Klamath Reserva­

tion . 

So far, we h ve shown the main features of this period 

and it remains now to point out some additional information 

on such matters 98 educational policy and the changes that 

occurred; growth of reservation as a whole; the final settle­

ment of the boundary ouestion , and the close of the century 

and this narrative . 



CHAPTER XIII 

Previous years had seen the schools of the reservation 

go on without an orgRnized curriculum of studies. It was 

left up to the individual agent to order whatever books and 

material that he thought fit for such purpose. This meant 

thet there was a low standardization of the process of learn­

ing; some learning meant thqt there w~s justifiable progress , 

while in other ceses it diQ not reflect as well. 

Agent Emery, who had replaced L. M. Nickerson, reported 

the condition at the agency, 202 and remarked that up to 1885 

no course of study had been organized for the schools yet, 

and that: 

as might be expected the schools are 
supplied with books that are illy adapted 
to the Indian s needs. In some cases books 
are ordered and then no use is found for 
them at all. 

This condition was corrected in 1891 with the ad.mission of 

an organized curriculum of study materials by grades and the 

books prescribed for each level. (see appendix) From this 

time on the rapidity of the Achievement ste dily increased. 

Naturally, this WAS to reflect itself in the civiliza­

tion program . The schools had grown to considerable size in 

1884 over the period of three years before. At this time the 

government was spending $1240 . 22 for the supnort of the 

schools, whereas three years earlier it had spent $144 .38. 
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This is due primarily to the fact that the annual appropria­

tion for schools that year h3d risen to $675,00o , 203 a fur­

ther illustration that Congress was extending itself to catch 

up with its responsibility , a feet that must not be overlooked 

from this time on . 

Yainax now boasted of 151 who could reRd out of total 

population of 311 residing at thst he3douarters . The o.ver­

age daily attendance at school wa.s 38 , the manual trciining 

school now had three teachers; 150 were engpged in civilized 

pursuits , and 120 were engaged in agriculture . Here then is 

a.n ia.eP of what had been going on down at the post that had 

been so badly neglected in previous times . 

The Agency schools were repor ting similar progress for 

the same yeBr . The boarding school had eighty students with 

an average daily attendance of 63, and maintained 9 employees, 

and we see that $94 . 55 and $71 . 94 was spent on school mater­

ials at the agency and Yainax respectively . 204 

Now the most conclusive evidence of the growth during 

the ten year period of 1881 to 1891 will be found in the 
205 

following trbles : 



Number Acres 
in Kla.math 
Reservation 

1,056,000 

Number Acres 
Under Fence 
on Reservatn 

15,000 
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TABLE III 1890 
SHOWING LANDS-CROPS-PRODUCTS-STOCK 

Number Acres 
Cultivated by 
Government 

50 

Number 
Acres fenced 
During Year 

1000 Rods 

Number Acres 
Cultivated by 
Indians 

2900 

Number Fam­
ilies Farm 
Workers 

185 

Number Acres 
Broken by 
Indians 

500 

Number Bushels 
Wheat harvested 
in Year 

3900 

Number Bu . Number Bu. 
Oats & Barley Vegetables 

Number Tons 
Hay Grown 
During Year 

Number pounds 
Butt er MR.de 
During Ye 0 r Harvested Grown in Yr, 

2,800 800 3,500 

Number Feet 
Lumber Cut 
During Year 

25,000 

Number Hor­
ses a.nd Mu­
les on H1:md 

2425 

Number of 
People on 
Reservation 

975 
Number Ind­
ians Live 
In Houses 
191 (fam) 
Number of 
Missions 
on Reserv. 

3 
Number of 
Births in 
Vear 

41 
Number Re­
covered fr 
All I1 7 s 

441 

Number Cords 
Wood Cut Dur­
ing Ye8r 

500 

Number Cat­
tle on Hand 
August 1890 

1500 

Number Lbs. 
Goods Trans­
norted by I. 

200,000 

Number Pigs 
on Hand of 
Same Date 

100 

TABLE IV 1890 
SHOWING CIVILIZATION 

Number In Number Who Number W'no 
Civilian Le arned Are Able 
Dress To Read Speak Eng. 

975 270 645 
Number Number Ind- Number In-
Houses ians in dians who 
Built Civ, Pur. Hunt- Fish 

0 75 20 
Number Number Number of 
Chur ch Church Marriages 
Members Bdlgs During Yr 

500 2 8 
Number of Number Number Vi-
De aths in Tried by olent Dis-
Year Court eases Yr, 

17 9 184 
Number Number of Number of 
Held For Cases of MeRsels 
Treatment T.B Res. Cases 

7 12 101 

2,000 

Number Dollars 
Earned from 
Sarne 

$1,700.00 

Number of 
Chickens on 
Hand 

1000 

Number Houses 
Built During 
Year for Ind. 

15 
Number Issued 
Government 
Rations in Year 

5 
Number Divorces 
During Year 

1 
Number of All 
Cases of Ill­
ness in Year 

441 
Number of In­
fluenza Ca.ses 
in Year 

202 
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From the foregoing, there has been considerable change 

in all phases of growth . One of the most outstanding is 

found in .the fact that all Indians in 1890 were in civilian 

dress . Agriculture hed made outstanding progress in the 

amount of work accomplished . The introduction of the steel 

plow had speeded up farming operations, because up to 1884 

they had not had this . This is also indicated by the number 

of acres broken during the year , and the number of acres 

cultivated as compared with the figures of ten years before . 

Illness was still a major problem among them, and this 

seems to be partly by a change of conditions of living which 

they had not yet adjusted to . Of course we have no figures 

before the reservation on the health of these Indians, but 

it is the mere guess of the author that this is a major cause 

of it . 

The cost of Educat i on this year (1890) wos $11 , 093.48 

at the Agency and $7,709 . 20 at Yainax. 206 Indicating again 

a sharp rise in government support for this entity . It 

seems appropriate again to note that the government had allo-
207 

tea. $1,842,270 this yee.r for all Indian education, which 

age.in shows the influence as noted above. Another interes­

ting thing pbout this is that by now both agriculture and 

cattle raising were successful enterprises, whereas years be­

fore agriculture had been a failure, but . this should be und­

erstandable . 

E. L. Applegate, who was now Agent, made a very inter­

esting summary of life ~t the boarding school to the effect 
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that the work at the school was very heavy on those who were 

old enoughto be of assistance. There were 110 of them and 

this constituted a large family. The housekeeping, cooking, 

weshing and ironing amounted to a very heavy task. When the 

repairing a.nd making of a vast amount of clothing WPS taken 

into consideration, together with all the work necessarily 

required by milking, and taking care of the horses and 

cattle; the cutting of all the wood, and the cultivating of 

the garden, it was not hard to see: 208 

that the life at the boarding school 
was a very exacting place. 

The school had a Superintendent, Mr. H.B. Compton, at 

a salary of $1,000 per year. His assistants were, Sarah Em­

ery, Dellie Lee, Teachers, at $600; Frances Comton, Matron; 

Myrtle Compton, Assistant Matron; Alice McFarland, Seam­

stress; and Emily Sloan, Laundress at salaries of four, five 

and three hundred dollars respectively. The place was an 

institution! 

Yaina.x had a Superintendent too, Mr. J. W. Brandenburg 

at a salary schedule of $800 per year. Bertha Emery wes the 

teacher, the remaining load of the position being conducted 

by the Superintendent. Melissa Brendenburg was listed as 

Matron, with Luella Drew and Mollie Brown as assistants. 

Althea Brandenburg acted as Seamstress, Emma Moses and Jennie 

Nickerson as Laundresses, and Aneasa Moses and George Nick­

erson as Industrial Instructors. 

Now we may see in rather bold relief the exact nature 
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of the Klamath Reservation in 1890. It is indeed quite a 

contrast to the loosely framed and incoherent organization 

that had existed twenty years before. Government support 

had been a powerful influence. 

The government was again reaching out and trying to 

correct the mistakes that had been made in the past. Of all 

things that had plagued the halls of Congress in relation to 

the Klamath Reservation, the settlement of the boundary lines 

was the most aggravating. 

For it seems that in 1888 when the Thiel survey was made 

the Indians had agreed to cede all the lands between the 

boundaries of 1871 and that of the above year. This was done 

in an effort to straighten the matter out. A commission was 

appointed by Congress in 1896
209 

to ascertain the number of 

acres that had been excluded from the treaty reservation, 

that is, that land that had been cut off on the eastern boun­

dary, and by the erroneous surveys. 

The House of Representatives had a bill before it that 

would in its present form, reestablish the survey of 1871, 

and restore to settlement the lands within the boundaries of 

the existing reservation then covered by the approved Indian 

allotments. If this bill was to pass it would have been the 

cause of renewed dissension between the Indians and the white 

settler~. On account of this, the bill was resubmitted. 

On May 10, 1901, the Commissioner of the General Land 
210 Office made the report that the confusion lay in the sup-
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position that the Thiel Survey did not embrace in the reser­

vation any lands not included in it by the survey of 1871. 

The opinion was expressed that a new treaty (3rd) should be 

made with the Klamath tribes and be substituted for the one 

now pending (1900). It was suggested that the only change 

that seemed necessary was to strike out in Article I of the 

original treaty which said, 11 made in 1871 11 and insert, 11 ap­

proved in 1888 by", in lieu thereof. 

On October 28, 1900, Inspector McLaughlin had gone to 

the reservation to arrange for the reconsidera~ions. In 

June 1901, he transmitted to the Interior Department a new 

agri~ment with the Indians. By this one they agreed to cede 

all rights to lands lying between the boundaries described 

in the treaty of 1864, and the reservation lines established 

in 1888. W. A. Jones, the Land Commissioner then recom;nended 

that the new agreement should be acted upon. 

It was finally accepted and approved on December 7, 

1901, and it was estimated that the area involved amounted 

to 624,000 acres that had been erroneously taken away from 

the Klamath tribes by the series of borderline mistakes. To 

compensate for this the government paid the sum of $527,000.20 

slightly less than eighty-five cents an acre for land that 

had been settled on by white settlers or owned a.s pasturage. 

However, the land actually had more value than this for there 

was timber to be found in the northern limits of it. Be that 

as it may, the settlement put the tribes on their feet fin-
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ancially. · 

Of this eoove sum, $350 ,000 was to be held in trust for 

them in the U. S. Treasury at interest of five percent annu­

ally, and together with the accrued princinal from interest, 

it made a lasting endowment for them and was to be the lPSt 

of the big sums of money they were to get until the famous 

Yamsay Mountain decision of the Supreme Court from which they 

were given the sum of $5,019,738. (See Appendix) 

And now after thirty-seven years of legal and personal 

turmoil they had at last found a pla ce they could call their 

own, and the future was bright; they had become civilized; 

the government , though tardy, had come to their side in the 

hour of their greatest need. They could lo ok behind them 

and see fresh evidences of a new world without warfare and 

the wrangle of civilization; they were free to grow . So 

they built their houses, and planted their fields. 



CHAPTER XIV 

When in the final analysis one considers the record of 

the Klamath Reservation there emer6 es one outstanding trend 

of tribute that is characteristic of the American Indian; 

namely, that he hEJS accomplished a degree of civilization 

that places him far above many other races of the earth, and 

has reached that goal in a comparatively short time . 

Few rEJces C8n boast of a better record; one which invol­

ved a complete extinction of one kind of cultural comules; 

the up-rooting of centuries-old traditions, and customs; and 

last but not least, the rehabilitating of the ment?l processes 

and the necessary adjustment to a civilization thrust upon 

them by a superior force . 

What, then, shoµld we say as to their future'? Is the 

Indian always to remain on a reservation'? Shall he always 

look to the advice and parental supplications of e 11master 

race 11 '? Or will he ever be g iven the opportunity of finding 

himself and make his appearance on the stage of what is 

c2lled civilization, and play his role within the status of 

those precepts that have been given to him as his ·inherit­

ance of European-North American culture'? These are some of 

the questions which the Congress of the United St9tes will 

have to answer . 

The progress made during the closing decede of 1890-
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1900 in the matter of civilization and industrial aggrand­

izement is indicative of the cepacity of the Klamath tribes 

(see appendix) to adapt themselves to their new cultural in­

heritance and to make the best from what was once a gruel­

ing endurance under the guidance , fortunately , of a quality 

of leadership as expressed in the terms of the white man 1 s 

effort t o crente for them a livable environment. To LeRoy 

S . Dyar i s due the credit.for having surmounted the cres­

cendo of economic strife , and political turbulence of a 

period of time when , he.d not their leadership been in the 

hands of a man whose charRcter and God- fearing fortituie 

SPVed them from disaster , there might have been a tale of 

asunder that would not have refle c ted the fate of a people 

well bound on their journey to comparative hap:iness . 

As was said in the beginnincS, the Government of the Un­

ited States , while undergoing the adolescence of a misman­

agement , finally evolved itself into 2 orogram of credited 

effort to make amends for those shortcomings of an ep.rlier 

dP-y , and this Wes a large factor in the success of the Ind­

ian reaching his pr 0 sent position . 

The greatest and last step that can be made in this 

progess of economic and politicRl maturation lies in the 

ultimate disbarment of the reservation as a.n expedient for 

the management of the lives of the Inc'cian . There has been 

a slow, but Derceptable movement in this direction, and in­

sofar as the Klamath tribes are concerned, it h2s reached 
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211 the stage of legal maturity in the form of Senate Bill 

#1313 , to remove the restrictions on the property and moneys 

belonging to the individually enrolled members of the several 

Klamath tribes , and to provide for the liquidation of tribal 

property and the distrioution of the proceeds thereof; to 

confer complete citizenship , and other purposes . 

The bill was introduced in the Senate by Senators Wayne 

Morse and Guy Cordon , representative s of Oregon in the Senate . 

It harkens like a clarion call back to the day in that cham­

ber in 1864 , when another Senator rose to recuest permission 

that he mi~ht brin~ relief to the settlers of southeastern 

Oregon, and it represents the close of a cultural cycle . 

I t is not the purpose of the aut hor to argue the merits 

of this movement to release the American Indian to f~~ and 

------competitive citizenship , and all of the h~ds that f're 

commensurate with it . The record of History has the answer 

for such matters ; it is only a phase of time until the pre­

sent system will be relegated to that realm of progress in 

humanity wherein 2 man or men must live in any form of human 

bondage . 
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BIBLIOGRAPHICAL ADDENDA 

The purpose of the following brief discussion is to 

emphasize some of the most valuable sources found by the 

author in the process of assimilating the material that has 

been alluded to in the notes and references and the biblio­

graphy . 

Of the primary sources, and without cuestion the most 

valuable source of direct and original information, was 

found in the Original Agents Journal , a part of the library 

collection at the Klamath Agency . The Department of Indian 

Affairs had instructed their agents to keep a running "Ccount 

of the daily transactions of all business end of personal 

notes pertinent to the affairs of the local agency . 

This journal contained scores of personal letters , 

notes and comments, offiCi9l correspondence, and statistical 

records of the Klamath Agents from the end of the year 1869 

to 1877. Further, there was found to be recorded many let­

ters in the original ha.ndwriting of the agents ; the ink so 

badly faded at times that it was necessary to use a strong 

readin~ glass to bring out the contents clearly and intell­

igibly . The fortunate access to this journal saved many long 

hours of what would have been expended on outside research . 

In all, there was a total of 433 pages . 

In conjunction with this, there was found 2lso a small 
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journal containing the original letters from various offici­

als within the Ore6on jurisdiction. These, without comment, 

served as valuable historical materiel . 

Of the secondary sources , the two theses by Bruce and 

Cliff represented fine scholarship and organization of the 

material concerning the history of the Oregon Central Mili­

tary Road and the early history of Indian wars in Oregon, 

respectively . 

Ethnologically , the works by Cressm2n, Spier, Kelley, 

and Gatschet represent a collection of fine authority on the 

earl,v lives and ra.cial antecedents of the Klamath, Modoc , 

and Paiute Indians. 

Jeff Riddle's book on the Modoc W2r , while open to cri­

ticism in many respects of coloration, presents for the most 

part a rather accurat e picture of the times involved . Much 

of its contents were taken from the War Department records , 

and as we have alre2dy nointed out elsewhere, it is essen­

ti2lly the word of the Indian against that of the white . 
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INTRODUCTION 

1 11 Old Mose 11 , a name applied to a Link River Indian who had 
guided Lindsay Applegate in the fall of 1865. 

2 Yulalona, a Klamath language name applied to the site on 
the banks of Link River where the Modocs and the Klamaths 
held joint occupation. 

3 Kowasti, Klamath name refering to the place where Lindsay 
Applegate began operations at the first agency. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF AT KLAMATH RESERVArION 1900
212 

NA:-1:E POSITION ANNUAL SALARY 

o. C. Applegate Agent $1 , 200 . 00 

Henry Montague Clerk 840 . 00 

Stac,y Hemenway Physician 1 , 000 . 00 

Adolphus H. Engle Sawyer 800 . 00 

George H. Hurn Farmer 720 . 00 

INDIAN EMPLOYEES 

William Crawford Judge 96 . 00 

Robin Hood Judge 96 . 00 

Robert Wilson Judge 96 . 00 

Harrison Brown Judge 96 . 00 

Logan Pompey Blacksmith 60 . 00 

William Ball Stockman 480 . 00 

INDIAN POLICE FORCE 

Joseph Kirk Capt pin 180 . 00 

George Duval Lieutenant 180 . 00 

Elmer Hill Private 120 . 00 

Byron Latches Private 120 . 00 

Abraham Charlie Private 120 . 00 

Kay Davis Private 120 . 00 

Elmer Lynch Private 120 . 00 

Bright Jim Private 120 . 00 

Jack Palmer Private 120 . 00 

Robert Hook Private 120 . 00 

$6,804 . 00 
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FFIDAVIT 213 

I, John W. Brown, a settler in the upper Spr8gue River Val­

ley, just east of the eastern li~it of the Klamath Reserva­

tion, ma~e oath to the following facts, to wit: That my 

brother, George W. Brown and I have cattle at a place in the 

, valley aforesaid, and that we have collected and counted the 

said cattle every day since we came there last fall; that on 

Sunday, Nov. 10, 1872, we counted the said cattle and found 

the full complement of one hundred and ten (110) head; that 

on the morning ensuing , we found the~ very much disturbed and 

scattered and collecting them together we found a steer shot, 

and covered with brush; that there was c bullet hole over the 

ri6ht eye, and his throat was cut a.s good as any butcher could 

do it; that we found moccasin tracks going to the aforesaid 

steer from a brushy point near by , and that my brother end 

I followed the seid tracks away from aforescid steer and foll­

owed them, finding t~at they led to two other of our steers 

which we foun'd missing; that a heavy storm coming up, we left 

and h ve not been back or returned to th8t nart of the afore-

seid range. 

Subscribed and sworn before me this 
12th d2y of March, A.D. 1872, 

ATTEST: LeRoy S. Dyar, Agent. 

Signed 

John W. Brown 



Number Acres 
Cultivated 
in Year 

200 
Number Bu . 
Wheat Har­
vested in Yr. 

283 
Amount Money 
Earned By 
A<>me 

;!t2 412 . 00 
Number Feet 
Lumber Sawed 
During Year 

300 000 
Number Mules, 
Burros & Horses 

4 , 000 
Number Days of 
Indian Man 
Hours Lab . 

335 

Number Peoole 
Living Upon 
The Reserve 

1338 
Number Indians 
In Civilian 
I:ursui ts 

84 
Number Indians 
Who Belong To 
Indian Church 

350 
Number of 
Marriages 
During ;;(ear 

12 
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AGENCY GROWTH APD DEVELOPMENT 214 

1901 

TA3LE V 
Showing Products & Stock 

Number Acres Number Acres 
Under Fence Under Fence 
Up to Date During YeRr 

32 . 500 10.200 
Number Bu. Number Bu. 
Oats & Bar- Vegetables 
ley in Year Harvested 

945 710 
Amt. Money Amt . Sold To 
Earned From Government 
Prod Sold Durin~ Year 

$1 970 . 00 $1.440 . 00 
Number lbs . Number Cords 
Butter Made Wood Cut 
During Year During Year 

1 200 900 
Number Cattle Number Swine 
On Hand On Hand 

3,825 250 
Number Miles Number Miles 
New Road Old Road 
Made in Year Repaired 

10 10 

TABLE VI 
SHOWING THE CIVILIZATION 

Number Indian Number Ind-
People Who ians Who 

Number Families 
living on Al­
lotted Lands 

205 
Number Tons of 
Hay Cut During 
Ye8r 

10 000 
Miscellaneous 
Products sold 
To Government 

®32 000 . 00 
Number Tons 
Freight Hauled 
During Year 

144 000 
Number Chickins 
On Hand 

600 

Number Ind-
ians Speak 

Wear Civ. Dress Ce.n Read Well Eng. Fluent , 
1338 510 705 

Number IndiBns Nu'!lber of Number Houses 
Still on Gov. New Houses Lived in By 
Retions Built in Yr. Indians 

16 11 205 
Number of Number of Amt . Money 
Missionaries Church Bldgs . Donated to 
On Reservation On Reserve Church Work 

1 2 ~350,00 
Number of Number of Number Div-
Births in Year Deaths on orces Dur-
On Reserve Reserve ing YeRr 

30 22 3 

(, 
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BOUTELLE 1 S ACCOUNT OF PEACE AT;EMPT2l5 

November 29 , 1873 

Major Jackson finally rode over to me and said , "Mr . 
Boutelle , what do you think of the situation? There is 
going to be a fight 11 • I replied , 11 the sooner you open it 
the better , before there are any more comDlete prepara­
tions11 . He then ordered me to take some men and arrest 
Scarface Charlie and his followers . I had taken the sit­
uation pretty well in hand and I knew that an attempt to 
arrest meant the killing of more men than could be spared , 
if any of the survivors were to escape . 

I was standing in front of the troops . I called out 
to the men , 11 shoot over those Indians 11 , and raised my pis­
tol and fired at Scarface Charlie . Great minds alJDear to 
have thought alike . At the same moment, Charlie raised his 
(rifle) and fired at me . We both missed, his shot passing 
through my clothing over my elbow . It cut two holes through 
my blouse, one long slit in a cardigan jacket and missed my 
inner shirt . 

My pistol bullet passed through a red handkerchief 
Charlie had tied around his head , so he told me afterwards . 
There was some discussion after the close of the war , as to 
who fired the first shot. I used a pistol in my left hand . 
The tr8ck of Scarface Charlie 1 s bullet showed my arm was 
bent in the act of firing, when he fired. We talked the mat­
ter over, but neither could tell which had fired first! 
The fight became general . Shots came from everywhere , from 
the mouth of the Tiois, from sagebrush on our left, from the 
river bank and from the bunch of braves in which Scarface 
Charlie was at work . As soon as I had time to see that I 
had missed, I supnose I fired another shot at Charlie , at 
which he crawled off in the brush . Just then an Indian 
dropped on his knees in the opening of a Tipi a few yards to 
our right , and let loose an arrow at me . This I dodged and 
in the subsequent proceedings interested him no more . 

AUTHOR'S NOTE : The reader should examine the accounts of 
Dyar, Applegate, and the above carefully . 



CHRISTMAS AT THE AGENCy21 6 

1900 
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At the tap of a bell, Capt . 0 . C. Applegate entered 
the room where 110 children were seated at tables enjoying 
an excellent rep 0 st . Twelve turkeys h8d been nicely roasted; 
mashed potatoes were nicely smoothed , and rounded up by the 
hands of the Indian girls under the direction of Mrs . Elvira 
Mann; three kinds of cake and pie , plumb pudding and fresh 
roasted pork . 

After they had finished their meal , 110 grown persons, 
patrons of the school and police were served with dinner . 
The general management was directed by the school Superin­
tendent, misses Anna Egan , Anna Ap-o legate, Mary Bassen, and 
Mrs . and Mr . Butler exemplified their skill at serving . 

Sixty visitors remarked in conversation that many a 
child in some of our great cities had no such rep~st as 
that . Dinner over , an appropriate progrem was carried out , 
and a tree nice decorated with presents for the evening. 
The play , 11At The Court of King Winter 11 , with the follow­
ing characters was rendered: King Winter, John Cole , Nov­
ember, Minnie Cookman, December, Bessie Chiloquin, Dame 
Nature, Rachael Wilson, Santa Claus, Roy Applegate , Christ­
mas Day, Hattie Barkley, Forefathers Day, Mollie Corbell , 
Winds, Elsie Sto~es , Lena Kirk, HerP.lds, Qpimby Chickasket , 
Patrick Jackson, Flowers, Intermediate Children, Elves, 
Primary Children . The writer had the privilidge of seeing 
a nicely prepared program pr 0 sented, and a gift GO Capt. 
O. C. Applegate . 



DEATH OF CAPT. JACK AND FOLLOWERS 217 
(Eye Witness Account) 
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"Precisely at 9 AM the troops were formed on the par­
ade ground, the artillery and cavalry being mounted. They 
took up their line of march to the guard hbuse, where a 
wagon, drawn by four horses and containing the prisoners , 
took its place in the column. After arriving at the gall­
ows, the military took up its position on three sides of 
the gallows , leaving an open space, on the fourth. In the 
rear of the drop were stationed three enlisted men, immed­
iately charged with the execution of the Modocs. 

11 The order of the execution wa.s read to the prison­
ers; Barucho and Sloluck were pleased to find that their 
sentence had been commuted to life imprisonment and stepped 
lightly back to the guardhouse . The chaplain offered a 
fervid prayer and the fatal nooses were placed around the 
necks of the victims. It was necessary to cut off a little 
of Jack 1 s long hair, it being in the way of the rope . 
Captain Hayes bid farewell to the prisoners and the black 
caps were drawn over the heads of the culprits. At 10:15 
at the signal the ropes were cut and the drops released. 
The bodies swung around several times, J ack and Jim dying 
easily while Schonchin and Boston underwent terrible agony. 

11As the drop fell and four poor ana. wretched human be­
ings dropped to eternity a smothered cry of horror went up 
from the crowd of more than 500 Klamath Indians who were 
witnesses of the scene and from far-off came the wails of 
agony of the widowed squaws. 



ESTIMATE OF ANNUITIES SUP?LIEs218 
1876- 77 

Klamath Agency 

50 pr Blankets (Indigo) 
10 doz Spools Cotton 
1000 yds of Calico 
50 yds Bro11m Sheeting 
100 yds Blue Flannel 
100 yds Red Flanel 
500 yds Kentucky Jeans 
100 yds Hard Tissues 
100 yds Hickory Shirting 
2 doz Pint Cups 
2 doz Tinned Table Spoons 
1 doz Hatchets 
24 doz Fish Hooks 
12 doz Fish Sines 
2 doz sewing awls 
2 doz coarse Combs 
2 doz Fine Combs 
¼ doz Wire Seives 
50 , 000 lbs beef on foot 
40,000 lbs iN'heat 
100 lbs Coffee 
250 l bs Sugar 
90 gal Molasses 
100 lbs Soap 
30 Mules 
17 Sets Harness 
2 Riding Saddles 

@ $6.00 
. 60 
. 072 
. 10 

2 Iron Buckeye Mowing Machines 

$ 300 . 00 
6 . 00 

75 . 00 
5 . 00 

33 . 00 
38.00 

100 . 00 
89 . 00 
13.00 
1.18 

. 66 
5 . 00 
1. 2C, 
4 . 68 

.16 

. 80 

. 88 

.56 
1950 . 00 
1200.00 

21 . 37 
24 . 42 
20.25 

4 . 25 
2250.00 

427 .38 
34 . 28 

375 . 00 
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ESTIMATE MADE BY 0, C. APPLEGATE 219 
FOR WINTER SUPFLIEd OF 1872- 1873 

AT YAINAX SUBSTATION 

FOR SNAKE INDIA~S 
AGGREGATE Ntf.iB~R INDIANS: 434 

Flour 35,000 lbs 
Beef 50 , 000 lbs 
Blankets 217 nrs 
Flannel 2170. yards 
Stron~ woo len cloth 1150 yards 
1 Gross Hats Assorted 
10 Boxes Thread Assorted 
4000 Needles 
3 Doz Prs Scissors 
5 Doz Camp Kettles 
3 Doz Fry Pans 
3 Doz Axes 
6 Doz Axe Handles 
5 Doz Sheeth Knives 
50 Pounds Powder 
50 Lbs Lead 
50 Lbs Tobacco 
1 Tin Case Matches 
1 Gross each Fish Hooks & Lines 
1 Doz sets maul Rings 
1 Doz iron Wedges 

FOR MODOC INDIANS 
AGGREGATE NffivIBER ABOUT 366 

Flour 26 , 000 lbs 
Beef 30,000 lbs 
Blankets 150 prs 
Flannel 1500-yards 
Strong woolens 850 yards 
5 Boxes of Thread, Flax 
2000 Needles 
2 Doz scissors 
2 Doz Fry Pans 
2 Doz Kettles 
2 Doz Axes 
4 Doz Ave Handles 
2 Doz Sheath Knives 
25 Pounds Powder 
25 Pounds Lead 
25 Pounds Tobacco 
1 Tin Case Matches 
1 Gross Fish Hooks & Lines 
1 Doz Sets Maul Rings 
1 Iron Wedge 
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Oregon Central Military Road Co . 220 
FINANCIAL STA~EMENT 

Report Submitted by W. H. Odell 
J . G. Gray , John T. Gilfrey . 

March 30, 1867 

Capital Stock Subscriutions 
Assessments to date (55%) 
Subject to Assessment 

$100,000 
55 , 000 
45 , 000 

Amount received by assessment to date 
Amount received on sale of lands 
Total Amount Received from all sources 

Amount paid Treasurer es per receiuts on file 
Amount paid to Simuson on road contrAct 
Amount paid to A. S. Patterson on Contract 
Amount paid to B. J . Underwood on order #142 
Sold for coin (lands) 
Amount charged to Simpson as per receipts 
Cash on Hand 

Coin received from Ladd & Tilton Bank 
Received from A , C. Hovey 
Amount on sale of legal tender notes 
Total Receipts 

Total Amount received in coin by Treasurer 
Cash on Hand 
Total 

Total amount received from treasurer 

Paid out to B. Simpson on contract on road 
Paid out for north fork ferry boat 
Paid out for other disbursements 
TOTALS 
Ammounts of assets of company not including the 
45% not yet levied on capital stock : 

Delinauent on assessments made to date 
Secured from notes on sales from land 
Property as per inventory 
Received but not collected 
Cash on Hand 
Coin on Hand 

TOTALS 
LIABILI'l'IES : 

Coin to B. Simpson on contract $2 , 883 . 16 
Legal Tender notes on loan 10 , 209 . 00 

13 , 092 . 16 
EXCESS OF ASSETS 

$39,298.50 
5 , 265 . 55 

44,562 . 05 

26 , 004.90 
950 . 00 

99 . 00 
450 . 00 

15 , 925 . 00 
742 . 15 
300 . 00 

7,000.00 
800 . 00 

11,307 . 80 
19 , 107 . 80 

18,911.80 
196 . 00 

19,107 . 80 

18, 911.80 

17,154 . 12 
123 . 00 

1,633 . 68 
18 . 911.80 

15 , 701.00 
1,251.12 
2,113 . 50 

724 . 15 
300 . 00 
196 . 00 

20 , 286 . 27 

7 , 194 . 11 
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HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE COLUMBIA 

Hon. A. B. Meacham 
Superintendent of Indian Affairs 
Salem, Oregon 

Sir: 

Portland, Oregon 
Feb. 5, 1872. 

I have the honor to acknowledte the receipt of your 
communication of Jan. 25th in relation to the Modoc Indians, 
and also of the sketch of the Klamath Reservation as recent­
ly surveyed (Mercer) which reached me Saturday. 

Referring to the report of the Commissioners appointed 
by you to confer with the Modocs, and transmitted in your 
letter of August 28, 1871, I find that it stated as the re­
sult of that conference, under the circumstances we did not 
it advisable to talk very much with them further with them 
other than to advise them that to not to do anything that 
would have a tendency to cause any collision between them and 
the settlers; to remain where they were until they saw you; 
not to resist the Military under any circumstances, and to 
pay no attention to the talk of irresponsible white parties . 
This has been understood as temporary settlement of the 
question. 

They have been authorized to remain for the time at the 
point where they were found by the commi sioners. Unless some 
different arrangement has since been made , I think that it 
would not be expedient or polotic to send a military force 
against these Indians or at least until notified of the det­
ermination of the go"ernment of the point at which they are 
to be established; and fully warned that they will be treat­
ed as enemies if within a reasonable and specified time they 
do not esta~lish themselves as required. -

I should say that I would be pleased to hear from you 
fully upon the subject and as early as may be convenient and 
in the meantime I will send a copy of your letter to the Com­
manding officer at Ft. Klamath to take all necessary measures 
to protect the settlers agains hostilities from the Modoc and 
be prepared to aid in their removal to the po int indicated in 
your letter, should forceable means be necessary. 

Respectfully yours 
Edward B. Canby 
Brigadier General, Comdg. 
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OFFICE OF SUPERINTENDENT
222 

OF INDIAN AFFAIRS FOR OREGON 

I. D. Applegate, Esq., 
Commisary in Charge, 
Klamath Indian Reservation, Yainax, 

Sir: 

Salem, Oregon 
August 22, 1870 

From and after date you will take entire control of 
( su·oject only to orders from this office) all the Indians 
now or hereafter to be located at Yainax, Klamath Reservation, 
consisting of the various bands known as Snakes, Wal- pah-pes, 
and Modocs. You will be allowed such assistance and emuloy­
es as the funds appropriated for these Indians will permit 
from time to time . 

You will be re quired to receipt and account for all mon­
ies and property placed under your charge. You will have 
jurisdiction of all that part of the Klamath reservation ly­
ing and being east of Mohogany mountans . 

You will not allow settlement of any of the above des­
cribed country by other persons than those belonging to your 
charge. You will proceed at once to erect those buildings 
at Yainax as may be necessary for the use and accommodation 
of the employes and Indian Department, also stables and cor­
rals for Department animals and from time to time assist var­
ious bands of Indians under your charge in the erection of 
suitable dwellings, teking care always to install in the Ind­
ians an ambition and desire for civilized modes end manners. 

You will bear in mind that the object of the Department 
is to bring these people to a self supporting condition as 
civilized people as f a st as possible . You will be further 
instructed from time to time in regards to your duties. 

And further, you will make at least a monthly reuort of 
all proceedings and doings of your station. Also, keeping 
a record of important doings in regards to Indians, to be 
~reserved and belonging to the Department. Your pay will be 
$1200 . 00 per annum. 

AUTHOR'S NOTE: 

Respectfully yours, 
A. B. Meacham 
Superintendent 

The above division is coincidental with that mentioned 
in Meacham 1 s letter of September 21, 1870 . Appendix. 
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LETTER223 

May 18, 1871 
I. D. Applegate 
Commissary at Yainax 
Klamath Reservation 

Dear Sir: 

You will make out and report to this office without 
delay, as nearly as possible, an estimate of goods of 
ALL KINDS reauired for your Agency for the year 1872. 

It is not expected that you can make an estirr:ate in 
detail, but approximate. You will also estimate for the 
schools, including school houses. 

You will take into considerations that within the 
ensuing year nearly all or quite all your people will have 
lands alloted in severalty. This new state of af~Rirs 
should have a bearing on the kin~ of goods estimated for. 

AUTHORS OTE: 

Very Respectfully, 

A. B. Meacham 
Superintendent. 

This 11 new state of affeirs 11 did not come true until 
sixteen years later. 
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OFFICE OF INDIAN AFFAIRS 224 

Salem , Oregon 
July 25, 1871 . 

I. D. Applegate 
Commissary 
Klamath Reserv~tion 

Sir : 

In the matter of Modoc Indians who have committed 
murder . It would seem that when you have exhausted your 
powers to control them , they are no long under yours , or 
the Indian Department, and therefore are subject to the 
Military supervision . 

Your duty under such circumstances is to notify the 
Commander of the Fort at Ft . Klamath or the Department of 
the Columbia at Portland of such resistance , and let them 
do as they may feel otherwise in premises . 

I have no doubt about the authority of the Military 
to deal with the murderers. I have some doubts of our own 
rights to punish Indians who are not under our control . 

A. B. Meacham 
Supt . Indian Affairs 
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LETTER225 

Eugene , Oregon 
J une 3 , 1871. 

Capt . I . D. Applegate 
Klamath Reservation 

Dear Sir : 

Yours of May 25th inst ., received . In answer to 
yours I have to state that I shall have the country you 
speak of surveyed this summer , I think , without fail . 

I have just sent George Mercer to survey the boundary 
l ines of the reservation , and any information that you may 
give him in regard to the locations of the eastern boundary 
will be much advantage to him . I hope the survey will not 
cause any disaffection among the Indians . 

W. H. Odell 
Surveyor General 
State of Oregon 
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LETTER OF PROTEST FRO,. CITIZENS OF LAKE COUNTY 
SENT TO HON . JOHN MITCHELL , SENATOR FROM O.rlEGON 226 

"We the undersigned citizens of Lake County Oregon 
earnestly protest agi=tinst the removal of troops and the 
abandonment of Ft . Klamath for the following reasons : 

This country as well as the counties lying next to 
Ft . Klamath, are almost exclusively occupied by men en­
gaged in the business of raising cattle , and have large 
bands of cattle and employ large numbers of men to care for 
same , very many of whom range their bands in the vicinity 
of the Klamath Reservation . 

That said reservation is the very best stock range in 
southern Oregon , and many of these men during the past have 
encroached upon the Indian territory and to such an extent 
that the government found it necessary during the summer of 
1888, to send a company of Calvary to the reservation to 
protect the Indians in their rights . 

Thet we believe that if trooDs are withdrawn serious 
troubles will arise between the Indians and these stock­
men , and that many innocent people will suffer thereby . 

Signed , 

C. A. Cogswell , State Senator 
Chas . Eshleman, Recorder 
C. A. Moore , Attorney 
A. McCallen, Cashier , Lakeview Bank 
W. A. Wiltshire , County Judge 
Will T. Boyd , County Clerk 
Wm. Carll, County Sheriff 
W. N. Sutton, Postmester 
Bernard Daly , M. D., County Physician 
Wm. Townsend , Receiver , U. S. Land Of . 
Warren Truitt , Register , U.S . Land Of . 



Name 

Lindsey Applegate 
O. C. Inapp 
John Meacham 
J . N. High 
LeRoy S. Dyar 
J ohn Roork 
Linns M. Nickerson 
Joseph Emery 
Elisha Applegate 
David W. Matthews 
Marshall Petet 
Mareus D. Shelby 
Joseph Emery 

O. C. Applegate 
Hor9ce G. Wilson 
Edson Watson Watson 
William B. Freer 
Calvin H. Ashbury 
J ohn M. J ohnson 
J oseph H. Norris 
Walter G. West 
Fred A. Baker 
LeRoy A. Arnold 
Clyde M. Blair 
B. G. Courtright 
Wade Crawford 
Louis Mueller 
B. G. Courtright 

AUTnORS NOTE : 

LIST OF AG:5:NTS & SUP5:RINTENJE: 0 Ts228 
AT KLAMAT :: INDIAN RESERVATION 

SUPERINTENDENTS 

YeElr 

1865- 69 
1869- 70 
1870 --
1871 --
1871- 77 
1877- 79 
1879- 85 
1885- 89 
1889- 90 
1890- 94 
1894- 96 
1896 --
1896- 98 

1898- 1905 
1905- 1910 
1910- 1914 
1914- 1917 
1917 ----
1917- 1918 
1918 ----
1919- 1922 
1922- 1925 
1925- 1931 
1931- 1933 
1933 ----
1933- 1937 
1937 
1937 ----
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B. G. Courtright is at present the Superintendent of 
The Klamath Indian Reservation , and has served the longest 
term of any agent or superintendent in the history of the 
Reservation . A great deal has been accomDlished for the 
tribes under his administration . -
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LIST OF BOOKS ADOPTED FOR INDIAN SCHOOLS IN u.s. 229 
BY INDIAN COMhISSIONER 

SUBJECT 

Read.ing 
Arithmetic 

Reading 
Numbers 
Geography 

Reading 
II 

Geography 

Reading 
II 

Arithmetic 
Geography 

Reading 

Orthonography (S) 
Arithmetic 
Language 
Geography 
Observation 
General Exercise 

DEPT. OF INTER. 

Primary 

Appletons Reader Chart 
Aid To Numbers 

Second Year 

Eclectic 1st Reader 
Aid To Numbers 
Topics in Geography 

Third Year 

Eclectic Reeder 
Book of Cats & Dogs 
Topics in Geography 

Fourth Year 

Eclectic Reader 
Friends-Feathers-Furs 
Numbers Illustrated 
Elementary Geography 

ADVANCED GRADES 
1st Year 

Eclectic Third Reader 
Robinson Crusoe 
Neighbors with Wings 
and Furs 

Alternate Speller 
Mental Arithmetic 
Practical Lessons 
Elementary Geography 
Primary Lessons 

AUTHOR 

Badlam 

McGuffey 
Badlam 
Nichols 

McGuffey 
Johonnot 
Nichols 

McGuffey 
Johonnot 
Rickoff 
Barnes 

McGuffey 

McGuffey 
Seaver & Walton 
Hyde 
Barnes 
Calkins 



PEACE COMMISSION MURDERs230 
April 11 , 1873 
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General Canby and Dr . Thomas were the first to arrive . 
They were greeted by the Indians with extreme cora.iali ty . 
General Canby giving each a cigar . Instead of five unarmed 
men, including Scarface Charlie , as promised by Boston Char­
lie , in negotiating for the council , we found eight well­
armed desperadoes, including the notorious cut- throats , 
Hooker Jim and Black Jim . Captain Jack seemed very anxious 
and ill at eese , and did not exhibit the friendship the 
others of his party pretended. 

General Canby seemed calm and thoroughly possessed . 
Dr. Thomas did not appear to notice any suspicious circum­
stances, but was endeavoring to impress the Indians with his 
good intentions. I made my election to abide by the conse­
quences . I knew that the horse beneath me was one of the 
fleetest in the Modoc country , and not withstanding the 
rocky trail, could carry me out of danger with a few bounds , 
which he seemed to be more than willing to do at the slight­
est invitation . I made up my mind that Canby and Thomas 
should not be endangered by cowordice on my part. 

Withdrawing from my overcoat and hanging it on the horn 
of the saddle , I dismounted , dropping the halter to the 
ground , leaving my horse free . Mr . Dyar dismounted leaving 
his horse free . Mr . Riddle secured Wi- ne- ma 1s horse, and 
we all gathered around the council fire . 

Before the council talk began I sat down facing the 
Chief and began to talk by refering to the proposition of 
the day before made by Boston Charlie , and continued by say­
ing that we were engaged to complete the arrangements for 
peace . Captain Jack asked of we were willing to remove the 
soldiers from the Lava Beds, and give his people a home in 
the country . I felt that if his demand was met we could es­
cape , although General Canby had refused to allow me to make 
this promise , I thought that convinced as he must be of in­
tended treachery , he could feel justified in assenting to 
the request . Cautiously turning to him I asked him to talk . 
After a moments waiting he rose and stood erect . Every eye 
was upon him . All seemed to feel that if he assented to the 
withdrawal of the troops of the army the trouble would be 
over . As to whether General Canby realized this situation 
with all of its fearfull possibilities , and would not swerve 
even from his purpose; or even if he still thought the Modoc 
had not the desperate courage to execute the plan, can never 
be known . If he said the soldiers should be removed , the 
phantom would be passed as a dream . If he said they should 
NOT be withdrawn , the phantom must soon become a terrible 
reality . With dignity that was peculiar to that brave sold­
ier , he firmly pronounced his own death sentence as well as 
that of Dr . Thomas by saying that "the soldiers could not be 
withdrawn 11 • 
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Again and again the Modoc chief repeated the demand for 
the soldiers to be withdrawn. General Canby having once re­
fused was mute . Turning to Dr. Thomas who was sitting on my 
left, I think I asked him if he wished to talk. The Doctor 
dropped forward on his knees, and made his last proclamation 
of peace. He assured the Modocs that he was a friend to 
them; that God had sent us to them as messengers of peace. 

The Modoc chief leaned forward, and touching me on the 
arm he declared once more that no peace could be had until 
the soldiers were taken away. I believed that to this time 
Captain Jack had hoped it would be granted, and thereby 
bloodshed avoided. Schonchin John sprang to the seat vaca­
ted by Captain Jack and in loud angry tones repeated the ul­
timatum. "Wi-ne- ma had thrown herself on the ground in front 
of Dr. Thomas, and was interpreting Schonchins speech, at 
the moment when Captain Jack gave the signal, _IIKau- Tux '1 (all 
ready). Almost at the same instand the Modoc fell, and there 
broke from the rocks two armed Modocs bearing rifles . 

Captain Jack drew a pistol and shot General Canby. 
11 Ellens 11 man joined in the attack . General Canby did not 
fall until he had run 40 or 50 yards when a shot struck him 
in the head. His assailants came upon him, and shooting 
again, stripped him of his clo t hing , turned his face downward 
and then left him. 

Dr. Thomas received a shot from the hand of Boston Char­
lie . He sank slowly, catching by his right hand. He was 
permitted to get up on his feet slowly and stagger away a 
few rods , his murderers taunting him with not believing Wi­
ne- ma , jeering him , and ridiculing his religion and the fail­
ure of his prayers. Finally pu,shing him down, they shot him 
through the head, stripped him , and turned him also upon his 
face, gathered up the dripping garments , and joined the other 
murderers at the council fire . 

Mr . Dyar , having his horse for a cover , when the attack 
began, made good his escape, although pursued by Hooker Jim . 
Mr. Riddle escaped by running , covered by Scarface Charlie ' s 
rifle, who declared that it •was unworthy of a Modoc to kill 
unarmed men 1 • Simultaneously with the attack on General 
Canby , and Dr . Thomas, Schonchin John sprang to his feet , 
and drawing a knife and pistol , shouted , 11 Chock- e- la 11 (blood) , 
pointed at my head and discharged a pistol, the bullet tear­
ing through the collar of my coat and vest. Before the next 
shot , Wi-ne- ma was between him and his victim , grasping his 
arm and pleading for my life. I walked backwards 40 yards, 
while my heroic defender struggled to save me . Shacknasty 
Jim joined Schonchin in the attack and Wi-ne- ma running from 
one to the other, continued to turn aside the pistols aimed 
at me, until I went down. 

After I fell I raised my head above the rock over which 
I had fallen and at the instant Schonchin aimed at me so cor­
rectly that this shot struck me between the eyes, and glanced 
out over the left eye, which was blinded. A shot from Schack-
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nasty Jim struck me on the right side of the head , over 
the ear, which stunned me, and I be came unconcious. From 
Wi-ne-ma and Scarface Charlie I learned that Shacknasty Jim 
robbed me of my clothing in part, notwithstanding Wi-ne-mats 
expostulations; that while Jim was unbuttoning my shirt 
collar, one of the other murders came up with a gun, and 
pointing at my head was just about to pull the trigger, 
when Jim pushed the gun up, and said, 11 Dontt shoot any more. 
Him dead. He no get up, I hit him high up; save the powder 11 • 

Having taken my coat, pants, vest, they left me saying to 
Wi-ne-ma, 11 take care of your little white brother 11 • Wi-ne­
ma wiped the blood from my face and straightened my limbs, 
believing me dead. 

Boston Charlie drew a knife which however, was dull, 
and began the difficult task of scalping a bald headed man , 
and what added to the difficulty was the strong arm of 
Wi-ne-ma, grasping him and hurling him as though he was a 
boy, to the rocks beside me. But Boston Charlie has the 
Modoc :i:;ersistency, and springing to his feet, struck her a 
blow upon the head, at the same time threatening to shoot 
her should she again interfere, and resumed the delicate 
task. Wi-ne-ma, dazed by the blow for a moment, in half­
bewilderment, saw the dull blade cutting down to the bone, 
while Boston, enraged and impatient, set one foot upon the 
back of my neck, and muttering curses in broken English, 
succeeded in cutting a circle almost around my head, and had 
so far lifted the scalp that he had inserted the finger of 
his left hand beneath it, preparatory to tearing it off, 
when Wi-ne-ma, recovering her presence of mind, resorted to 
strategy, shouting exultingly, 1Kap-ho Bostee-na-soldiers! 11 

(soldiers coming). Boston Charlie without waiting for any 
proof of the announcement, giving his victim a parting kick, 
left him as he still supposed, a corpse in Wi-ne-ma 1 s care. 11 
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PETITION 1872231 

The undersigned respectfully represent that they are settlers 
living in the vicinity of the Klamath Reservation, Oregon, 
and California, and being well acquainted with the character 
and past history of the various tribes of Indians upon the 
Reservation do hereby earnestly beseech and solicit an immed­
iate settlement of the private land claims within the bound­
aries of the reservation 8S they fully believe if the Ind­
ians knew that they had not full and complete rights to the 
whole reservation, and that if the government hesitated in 
protecting that right, the consequences would be most alarm­
ing, and therefore before r~lief could be had, the whole 
southeastern Oregon and northern California would be surely 
depopulated. Humbly submitted. 

SIGNED: 

S. B. Cranston 
U.S. Registrar, Linkville 
George Conn 
U. S. Receiver, Linkville 
A. F. Lewelling 
County Commissioner 
George Nurse 
Thomas Mulholland 
Sheriff 
J. R. Roberts 
County Commissioner 
L.B. Applegate 
Jacob Bales 
J. Thompson 
Sam B. Whi tm.an 
A. D. Buck. 
Robert Taylor 
L. S. Ball 
Wm Roberts 
W. J. Small 
H. M. Thatcher 
John T. Falkner 
Capt. D. J. Freree 
C. J. Phillips 
R. B. Hatton 
John Dick 
Asa S. Harron 
F. W. Smith 
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SAMPLE TELEGRAMS23 i2 

Linkville, Oregon 
August 3, 1889 
via Ashland, Oregom 

Senator J. N. Dolph: 
The people of Klamath and Lake Counties earnestly pro­

test against the abandonment of Ft. Klamath, as it will 
leave the lives and property of many a defenseless men and 
women and children adjacent to the Klamath Reservation ex­
posed to the tre2chery of the Modoc, Snake and Klamath 
Indi Pns . Secure suspension of order until we can be heard. 

AUTHOR'S NOTE : 

- Chas. S. Morse 
F. A. Cogswell 
J. H. Hammaker 
Geo. T. Baldwin 
J. T. Forbes 
G. W. Smith 
W. S. Moore 
W. C. Hale 

There is no histori cal evidence that will support the 
f~lse charges contained in this telegram 

SAMPLE TELEGRAMS 233 

To Hon. John H. Mitchell : 

Ashlend, Oregon 
August 3, 1889. 

Secret2ry of War has issued orders for immediate remov­
al of troops and abandonment of Ft. Klamath. Please make 
every effort to have order suspended, as we believe its 
maintenance is absolutely necessary to protect citizens of 
southern Oregon . No time lost. Troops leave next Thursday . 

To Hon. Binger Herman: 

J.M. McCall 
C. B. Watson 
W. H. Leeds 
D. R. Mills 
S. B. Galey 
F. Roper 
W. H. Aitkinson 
J. C. Helman 

Portland , Oregon 
August 3, 1889. 

0 rder for remov8l of Troops from Ft. Klamath, and ab­
andonment of uost. Please endeavor to have order counter-
manded.. -

Kahn Bros., 
Julius Kahn. 



SUPREME COURT CONCLUSION§ 
YAMSAY MOUNTAIN CASE2u4 
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It is appropriate to observe that while the United 
States has power td control the affairs of it t s Indian w?rds 
in good faith for their welfare, that power is subject to 
constitutional limitations , and does not enable the United 
States without paying just compensation therefore to ap lrop­
riate lands of the Indians or of Indian tribes to its own use 
or to hand them over the lands to others . Nor is it quite 
accurate to say that interest as such is added to value at 
the time or taking in order to arrive at just compensation 
subsequently ascerta ined and paid . The estaolished rule is 
that the teking of property by the United States in the ex­
ertion of its power of eminent domain implies a promise to 
pay just compensation, i . e . value at the time of the taking 
Plus an amount sufficient to produce the full eouivalent of 
that value paid contemporaneously with the taking . The lands 
here are in question are not the allotted areas mRking up 
the 111 , 385 acres that·the United States conveyed by mis­
take and through error in the conduct of litigation , as its 
counsel says , failed to recover. Plaintiff seeks to a just 
compensation for the 87 , 000 acres given to the land comnany 
in exchange for the allotted areas which the latter owned . 
The United States argues that the rule of just compensations 
does not lie or apply because 11 the tract was lost by mis­
take rather than by the power of eminent domain 11 • But the 
87 , 000 acres here involved does not have a foundation for 
that assertion . 



THE INITIAL SHOT235 
By 

Ivan D. Applegate 
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Perhaps few places on earth , of like area , have cost 
so much in-blood and treasure es Klamath Land, and yet it 
may be worth the price, dear as it was , for it is one of 
natures brightest gems . The native possessor held it with 
a tenacity which compels us to admire his patriotism, his 
reverence for the land of his ancestors, while we depreciate 
the methods of his warfare. As he put it : "Here is the 
dust of my fathers. Better for me to die here than to be 
removed to any other country . If I die here I go down to 
dust with my fatper and my people . If I die in some other 
land I shall be lo st forever 11 • 

The Modocs stood as bloody sentinels along the line of 
the emigrant road. As far bpck as 1852 they began the work 
of ambush 2nd slaughter and Modoc land was for a quarter of 
a century the scene of not only savage treachery and cruelty, 
but of heroic deeds and tragic incident . Weary immigrants 
toiling towards the setting sun- -no record tells how many-­
were sacrificed almost on the very threshold of the land of 
their promise. Later when the enterprising white mHn , hav­
ing seen and appreciated this land of green meadows, silvery 
lakes and crystal streams, determined to possess it , brave 
settlers , representing that hardy race of men and women who 
have led the hosts of civilization across the continent , 
planted settlements here; but a band of about thre e hundred 
renegade Modocs under Capt. Jack, renouncing the authority 
of brave old Schon- chin, the rightful chief, inaugurated a 
reign of terror throughout the country. 

During the summer of 1872 many petitions were forwarded 
through the Indian Department asking the authorities at 
Washington to order the removal of Capt . Jack ' s band from 
the vicinity of Tule Lake , their ancient home , to the Klam­
ath reservation, and to keep them there . Orders were fin­
ally received by the Supt. of Indian Affairs in Oregon , 
Hon. Thos. B. Odeneal, to secure their removal , peacefully 
if possible, but forcefully if necessary. On his arrival 
from Salem , Mr . Odneal having by messenger called upon the 
Modocs to return to the reservation without avail , determined 
to pla ce the matter in the hands of Capt . James Jackson , of 
the U. S. Army, an officer well known for discretion and cour­
age . At noon on the 28th day of November, 1872 , Capt. Jack­
son with thirty five men of Co. B, 1st U. S. Cavalry , left 
Ft . Klamath and arrived at the town of Linkville a little 
after dark. Here he met Supt . Odneal and received instruc­
tions as follows,: 

11 When you arrive at thecamp of the Modocs , request an 
interview with the head men and say to them that you did 
not come to fight or to harm them , but to have them to go 
peacefully to Camp Yainax on Klamath reservation , where ample 
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provisions have been made for them and their comfort, and 
where by treaty they agreed to live. Talk kindly to them, 
and whatever else you may do, I desire to urge that if there 
is fighting to be done, let Indians be the aggressor. Fire 
no gun except in self defense, after they have first fired 
upon you. I. D. Applegate will accompany you as my repre­
sentative ana_ will also act as guide and interpreter. 11 

During the dark rainy night we made our way from Link­
ville down the Klamath Valley towards the stone bridge on 
Lost River where Capt. Jack was encamped on the west side. 
About a third of his forces were under Hooker Jim and the 
curly-headed doctor and some others of his trusted lieuten­
ants, were encamped on the east side of the river near the 
Dennis Crowlev cabin. 

We foundvit very difficult in the darkness to 'make our 
way through the heavy sage brush, for we had to leave the 
road in order not to be covered by the wily Indians who, 
doubtless were observing as closely as possible every move­
ment. We followed along the foot of the chain of hills 
west from Lost River and at daylight were about one mile 
west of the Modoc camp, which was at that point on the river 
bank where the Dan Colwell residence now stands. 

The company was formed into two platoons and we rode 
directly through the village and halted upon the river bank, 
facing the encampment. As we qame near the river, Scarface 
Charlie, who had crossed just before we came up, fired at 
us from the other side of the river, shouting at the same 
time to arouse the sleeping Indians. In arnoment there was 
great excitement and commotion. As soon as the men were dis­
mounted, advanced in line, standing at order arms in front 
of the horses, I was directed to enter the camp to see Capt­
ain Jack and inform him of our friendly mission and assure 
him that no harm was intended but that he would be re quired 
to move with his people to the reservation. Going from 
camp to camp I was not able to find Capt. Jack. As I came 
out of one of the huts I saw Scarface Charlie coming up the 
bank of the river. As he passed Major Jackson, who was 
still mounted, the ma2or ordered him to halt at the same 
time drawing his revolver. To this Scarface paid no atten­
tion, but came on into the village, all the time harangueing 
his people and demanding that they fight to the death; tell­
ing them that if they would be quick enough aruut it, they 
could kill every soldier without the loss of a man. With an 
oath, he rushed past me and went into Bogus Charlie's tent 
and in a moment both Scarfs ce ana_ Bogus appeared with their 
guns drawn and ca lled to the women and .children to throw 
themselves flat on the ground. Then I knew they were going 
to fire upon us. Immediately I started towards our men say­
ing , 11Major, they are going to fire". At this, the Major 
ordered Lieutenant Boutelle who stood in advance of the line, 
to take four men and arrest the two Indians who had guns in 
their hands. As Boutelle stepped forward with the four men 
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the two Indians fired. The warriors in the camps and in the 
heavy sage brush in the rear of the village, fired simultan­
eously. Then all was din and commotion. Men were falling 
in the line; the riderless horses were dashing here and there, 
and kicking among us, but instantly came the order from the 
brRve major, "fire". The attack was so sudden and desper­
ate, the Modocs who had rushed upon us like demons, that the 
men were forced back a step or two, and it seemed for a mom­
ent that the thin line would yield and break. But immediate­
ly came the ora_er, "forward 11 , and it wc1s like an inspiration. 
The men sprang forward, under the leadership of the brave 
Boutelle, delivering a deadly fire, and the Indians were 
forced back. Scarface's first shot struck Boutelle 1 s revol­
ver, disabling it and cutting through the sleeve of his 
blouse, passed through the clothing of his right shoulder. 
Scarface was knocked down by a bullet which cut through a 
handkerchief which he had tied around his head, and Watch­
man, Captain J2ck 1 s most daring lieutenant fell, riddled with 
bullets. Boutelle 1 s calmness saved us. Speaking to the men 
cooly and confidently, he led the charge into and through the 
village, driving the Indians out, advancing his skirmish line 
far beyond into the heavy sage brush. 
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YAMSAY MOUNTAIN CASE236 

Altogether 402 , 204 . 67 a cres were granted in this subsidy 
t o the road company . Out of lands already reserved for the 
I ndians , the company took 111 , 385 a cres for its own purposes . 
(NOTE : Figures here are wrong . See Gov 1 t . figures in own 
notes ) The lands thus lost to the Indians were not only 
within the reservation , but had been alloted to individual 
Indians or members of the tribes . (Here he is speeking of 
Sprague River Valley lands ). I n 1889 , 25 years after the 
government gr ants to the road company had been made , the 
Attorney General at Washington f i led suit age. inst the Calif­
ornia Oregon Land Company to restore the patent rights and 
to deprive the company of its titles to the s e lands . The 
case was tried in Portland , under J udge Deady , and the gov­
ernment lost the original case . It was appealed twice more , 
and still the government lost . 

When the government undert ook to right a wrong , it 
blundered again--- - -this time the blunder b ecame the b asi s 
for the case which has just been settled for $5 , 313 , 347 . 00 . 
I t was agreed between the Dept . of Interior and the road 
company that the thing to do was to exchange the lands in 
dispute for othe~ lends . They gave the Indians back the land 
taken away from them in 1864 and to compensate the company , 
they took another s ection of the Klamath Reser vation . The 
difference was that the original grant had been alloted to 
Indi vid.ual Indians , whi l e the se cond area was a large lump 
a creage owned by the tribes as a whole . 

Congress authorized this de al in 1906. The company no 
doubt was enthusiastically willing . It obtained in lieu of 
alternate sections , a consolidated holdings of 87,000 acres , 
called the YAMSAY MOUNTAIN ACT . On it were 1 , 713 , 000 , 000 
feet of rre rchan table t imtrer, valued at $2 , 980 , 000 . 00 . 

There was not any adjustment of the grievances in the 
deal , and the Indians knew nothing about it before it was 
consolidated . There was , however , a weak gesture on the be­
half of the Indians . Congress authorized that they should 
be paid $108 , 750 . 00 for the Yamsay land . In 1913 the comm­
issioner of Internal Revenue , for income tax purposes , placed 
the value of the Yam s ay tra ct at $3 , 550 , 000 . 00 . In 1918 The 
Oregon Land and Livestock Company which beceJne the owner of 
the 87 , 000 acre tra ct , sold it to the Long Bell Lumber Com­
pany for ~3,7000 , 000 . 00 . But the Indian got only $108 , 750 
for it i 

After this event , there begen al ong drawn out series 
of suits in the courts until 1935 , when the Indian lost 
their case in the court of claims . The only way that this 
could be gotten around was throu6h Congress itself . In 
1936 Congress p a ssed another act , this time directing the 
Court of Cla i ms to retry the ca se irrespective of this 
11 rele2se 11 , which h=i d cost the Indians the right of claim . 
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The suit followed and the 3overnment Attorneys argued 
long and loudly , that it hc1a_ the c1u thori ty to t?ke lands a·way 
from the Indians unaer the trec1ty of 1864 . It even claimed 
thpt the Indians claim to the 87 , 000 acres only extended 
to the lands and not to the timber or the rights to timber 
sales , in spite of the fact that the I ndians had been selling 
timoer off of the lani for a long time ! 

The Court rejected these 2rguments . It held thet the 
United States w:::s un:5-er oblig2t ion to pay the Indians for 
the 111 , 385 acres originally taken . The exchange of the 
87 , 000 acres for the 111 , 395 acre area merely made the Yamsay 
tract a part of the consideration paid the company for build­
ing the Military road . So it was held that the government 
was obligated to give the Indians just comuensation for the 
87 , 000 acres , ti~ber and all . 

The total due to the Plaintiff in this case on Jan . 7 , 
1937 , was $7 , 291 , 778 . 56 . Now from this , the court took 

-"gratuity disbursements" made by the government for the benefit 
of the Indians in the amount of $1 , 978 , 431.24 . I n other words , 
certain government expenditures through the years were 
chc1rged off therein . 

The United States Supreme Court on April 2o, 1933 , over 
a yeer later, sustained the decision of the lower court of 
claims, making the decision final , at last ! 

The Deoartment of Interior was oooosed to allowing the 
I ndians thi~ a~ount in one lump sum o~~ment to the Indians . 
I~ offered a compromise by settleing $2 , 900 , 000 . 00 to be 
divided equ& :y amount 1470 I ndians , each to receive $100 . 00 
in cash , and $1900 . 00 in credits for purchase of ceoital 
investments, lands, cattle etc . Some-$cOO , OOO . OO goes to a 
tribal loan fund and $375 , 000 . 00 in payments of 11500 . 00 each 
to some 250 members of the tribe . The balance was to go in to 
a reserve fund . 

By the way, where is thRt road ! 
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INTERVIEWS237 

County Judge of Klamath County, U. E. Reeder , a resident 
of the Klamath Countr? since 1895 , h8S been a witness to the 
greater part of the growth and develoument of the Kla.m 0 th 
region , and wnile not directly connected with the history of 
the Klamath In~ian Reservation , but being a lon~ time 
resident , was in the position of being Able to inform the 
autnor of many incidents related to it . It was through his 
willingness to devote a brief period of his official time 
that the author wcJs enabled to meet several of the 11 old timers 11 

who proved to be more than just ordinary individuals . 
When asked about the Indian fishing excursions to Lost 

River , the Judge remc>rked , 11hell yes , they used to come over 
to Lost River , and stey for days, bring their families with 
them , kids too . They ' d catch suckers end dry them, and then 
at night you could he2r them chant:l.Dg and gambling all night . 
They played a game with a stick thet required the othPr ones 
to guess which hand it was in . Some times they ' d get into 
fights anc7.. raise hell with e2c".l other too . 11 

In connection with these excursions to Lost River, Mrs . 
MPr jorie Howe , daughter of Judge Re ea.er remar ked , 11 when my 
sister Dorothy and I were going down the road once , we saw 
some Indians coming in their hacks with their kids all piled 
in the back . We were only about eight or nine years old I 
guess , anyway, we ran and hid in a ditch bec'luse we were so 
scared of them 11 • "They el so cam-ped at the dam for days at a 
time and held their games and dances there at nig1..1.t too . 11 

One of the most unusual person°lities encountered in 
the author's brief stqy while gathering material in Klameth 
county , was the visit to the residence of 11 01 11 Hammaker , 
91 years old, and one of the early residents of Klamath County . 

11 01 11 helped divide Klamath County from Lak"' , when the 
former was m2de into an independent legal institution in 
1882 . His brother 11 Wes 11 had helped mp_ke the first map of 
Klamath county . But to get b2ck to 11 01 11 , and for an illustrat­
ion of Indian burial customs , Henry Jackson's daughter died 
in his store , and previous to that time, he had sold Henry 
a wetch for her, so Henry decided th'lt he would bury the watch 
with her in order that she mi6ht be able to tell time in 
heaven . · 

Explaining about the 11 fishery II at Lost River GRp , 01 
remarked that one day he with his brother Clark , Henry Stout , 
and Bob Hunsaker, had gone down to where the Indians were 
camping , and decided to have a bite of fish with them . They 
noticed that the tribe was roAsting fish with the entrails 
remaining inside , and apparently eating them . After watching 
one Indian eat a piece of 11 inards 11 they left without both2ring 
to become 2ccuainted with the fine art of such delicRte cusine . 

For protection there , the Indians had made houses out of 
willow brPnches and at that time were living in them the year 
around . 01 knew meny Modoc ana. Klamath Indians personally and 
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could speck their language fluently, as he demonstr2ted to 
the author, all of which, however might have been some other 
language insofar as the author was concerned, but we gave 
him the benefit of the doubt . 

Basil Sinclair Grigsby, or better known as just plain , 
11 Bak 11 to his many Klamath friends , was sitting in a hunched 
position just inside a shoe shop on 7th Street in Klamath 
Falls, when the author W8S introduced to him by Judge Reeder . 
Here wes a m2n who had come to the Klamath country when a boy 
of fourteen, in 1877. He had been in business a long time , 
and in the course of such a life had had m2.ny dealings with 
Klamath Indians . 

He had sold hay, grain and cattle to them and made the 
remark that 11 on the whole, they were pretty honest . It never 
lost more th2n $50 . 00 to them in all my life . They were 
alright as long as you didn't let them get into you too far . 
The government made them crooked; I knew L. S. Dyar , he was 
a good man, his son Herbert w~s the first county Superintendent 
of schools. 

"Yes, I knew about that road compa.ny a_eal , they gave a 
lot of money to get a strip across the four mile erea on the 
east side of the reservrtion. The settlers h2d come in on 
the east side and settled there. The government hired two 
attorneys, 0 1Neal and Irwin , to fight the case, end gave it 
to them on a percentage basis. They got a lot of money out 
of it . 11 

11 If you'll wait for me to fix my hair a little bit, I 
can take you down to see my mother , she'll be glad to see 
you", spoke Rebecca Kirk daughter of Mrs . Lizzie Kirk , a 
Klamath Indian, who lived down on Modoc Point, about five 
miles away. 

We waited, and before long, · and ~t't~r following a cloud 
of dust for the l2st mile, we emerged at the gcte of an old 
wooden fence . Rebecca had already gotten out and had opened 
the gate . She said she had better do it as she knew how . 
We didn't protest. 

About two hundred yards away a rather unusual looking 
house with a square cupola- looking roof attr2cted out attention . 
A dog 1 s bark distracted out attention just as we observed the 
blue, brown, and red trimmings of the house in question . 
Walking down a narrow lane , through an open field, we came to 
a second fence at which 11 his master's voice" was heard again, 
and it turned out to be a friendly one . 

In the front yard which had the auuearance of a modern 
residence in ~ost respects, there was observed a tub resting 
on an open fire, and its contents steaming . We reverted to 
our "animal instinct 11 end bent over to see the contents at a 
closer range and to smell its contents. Failing to come to 
any decision except thst it smelled -oalatable , we turned to the 
front porch to be greeted by a woman with black shining hair , 
who spoke to us in a manner that was convincing immediately of 
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the fact that it was the English tongue . 
Never having a date with an Indian lady before , we were 

at some loss at to what to expect , but Mrs . Kirk , disp ensed 
with all doubts within a few minutes . She invited us in to 
sit down . 1:Te did, sno_ experienced one of the most interesting 
conv ersation s of our life . 

Mrs . Kirk had been born at Pelicqn Bay in 1879, and had 
lived all of her life upon the reservation . Hc,r father was 
Scotch- Irish . Her maiden name had been Blair, but in her 
veins ran the a.ncient blood of the Kl0ma ths . She had attended 
the Boarding school at the Agency for four or five years during 
the administration of Eli she Aoplegq_te . · Her original 
residence had been on land given to her during allotment times 
upon the Klamath marsh, but she had been at Modoc point now 
for some years. 

rut in the kitchen and hanging on a wire were dried fish 
and veni son . The temptation was gr at ,-, but we didn I t do it . 
At any rate , the anpearance of this kitchen might be compared 
with any ordinary f arm house kitchen . There was a wooden cook 
stove, oil cloth- covered table, papered walls and ceiling , 
with running wat er . The most amazing co:lection of Indian 
artifacts thst we have ever seen was found displc,yed on the 
floor of an adjoining room ; specimens that would make any 
scientific collection of these objects become really a genuine 
collection . 

After auite some time of conversation we learned that 
she still liked to tell stories about animals that talked , 
and she had even written a story of Crater Lake . She was an 
avowed spiritualist in spite of her daughter's remonstrances 
against it . 

One of our curiosities about this remarkable lady was 
answered to the effect that she still liked Wocus as a part 
of her diet . Her a.aught er remarked, 11 didn I t you ever taste 
it, its sure good" . When esked what it is compc,red with in 
our own diet, she replied, 11 oh its like nuts'' . On tl1.e stove 
was a not of it . This was not all . She raised tame ducks for 
the eggs . Her diet evidenced itself by the fact that her 
health was excellent Fnd that she did not have a grey hair in 
her head, in spite of her nearly seventy years of age . She 
still used the co noe to go hunting for food (wocus) out in the 
waters of near-by Kl2math Lake; still ground it on a rock. 

The conversation inevit~bly drifted around to the old 
customs of the Klema.ths . We le2rned that in their 11 dream dance 11 

the Klamaths would line up in a circle and each one sing his 
or her dream , and at the same time keeping a slow shuffling 
movement of the circle until all haa finished . Some times 
this would take a long time . The "doctor dance 11 W8S another 
of her favorite subjects . She SBid t~is w~s climaxed by the 
"shooting of arrows through the body without hurting anyone . 11 

Her daughter Rebecca was the head of the locsl Red 
Cross end hc1d done her part in aiding the war effort during 
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1945 . She had also been responsible for heloing to feed 
the members of the tribes at social g2therings up on Sprague 
River, near Chiloquin . 

Mrs . E. K. LooslfY of Klamath Falls, Oregon, told an 
interesting account of the method of voring among the 
Klam2.ths at the time they chose a new chief . It seems that 
at the first election after the Reservation had been formed 
(1868) it was held ta point near the bridge at Williamson 
river, on the flats this side of the old church . 

La Lakes had been the Chief end is reouted to ha,ve been 
hard and cruel . Lindsay Applegate was present in a super­
visory position , Henry Blow was sub-chief, and the tribe came 
to the event on horses , wagons and on foot . The method of 
voring was to take their plac e beside the ca.ndidate that t hey 
chose: Allan David won over Blow by a narrow margin . The 
old chief , La Lakes was given the job of being in charge of 
the ferry at the river . He kept track of passengers by • 
drawing pictures of a man , mules , or whatever came his way . 

Her husbrnds father , John Loosley, was one of the original 
settlers at Ft . Klamath and had been emnloyed at the reservation 
in several caoacities , having helped build the first flour 
mill at the Agency . Mrs . Loosley has writen a good many 
articles on southern Oregon history . 

J oseph Monks , Chief Clerk at the Klaucth Reservation , 
has stated that , 11 the Indian is no fool, he knows when you 
are disinterested in his oroblems . He recuires patience 
and understanding, and you must know each one ' s background , 
before you can deal with him properly . 11 They still have 
difficulty at times of thinking clearly on matters , and this 
is due partly to the fact that some of them still speak 
their language at home 11 • 

It was interesting to listen to a woman who had been 
born on the reservation , right at ths Agsncy, and who was 
the daughter of Capt . Ivan Apnleg,,,te . We are of course 
telking about Mrs . Alice Apnlegate Piel, a resident at the 
present time ; as a matter of fact a very long time , at Ashland, 
Oregon . 

Her orivate collection of history about her family and 
the multiiude of activities and events that they participated 
in , are in deed, a historicEl treasure . Her fether , as has 
been pointed out elsewhere , was one of the main supoorting 
structures in early southern Oregon history , and □ore 
prominently identified with the Klame.th Reserv<O'.tion for a 
number of years . It w2.s Ivan Auplegate w!:lo was l2rgely 
resDonsible for the rounding up of Sna.ke bends in eastern 
Oregon, and it was he who laid the foundation for the sub-Agency 
et Yainex . 

Mrs. Peil threw considereble light upon the matter of 
the Peace Commissions efforts in November 29 , 1872 . She 
claimed that her father had told hsr about this event and the 
vorious reasons for its failure to bring about a workable 
solution to the Modocs . 
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PRESIDENT OF THE UNI ED STATES OF AMERICA 

To All And Singular To Whom These Presents Shall Corne, Greet­
ings: 

Whereas a Treaty was made and concluded at Klamath Lake, 
in the State of Oregon, on the fourteenth day of October, in 
the year of Our Lord one thousand eight hundred a.nd sixty 
four, by and between J. W. Perit Huntington and William LogFin, 
Commissioners , on the nart of the United States, and La Lakes, 
Chil-o- que-nas, and other chiefs and He,drnen of the Klamath 
tribe of Indians, Schonchin, Stak-it-ut, and other Chiefs and 
Headmen of the Moadoc tribe of Indians, rod Kile-to-ak and 
Sky-te-ocket, Chiefs 2~d Headmen of the Yahooskin bend of 
Snakes, re spectively, on the part of said tribes and band of 
Indi ans , and duly a1thorized thereto by them, which treaty 
is in the words and figures following to wit: 

Articles of Agreement ana_ Convention made and concluded 
at Klamath Lake, Oregon, on the fourteanth day of October, 
A.D. one thousand eight hundred and sixty four, by J. W. Per­
it Huntington, Superintendent of Indian Affairs in Oregon, 
and William Logan, United States Indian Agent for Oregon, 
on the oart of the United States, and the Chiefs 2nd Headmen 
of the Klamath and Moadoc tribes, and Yahooskin band of 
Snake Indi ans , hereinafter named to wit: La Lake, Chil-o-Q,ue­
nas, Kelloaue, Mo-Ghen-k2s-kit, Blow, Le-Lu, Palmer, Jack, 
Que-as, Poos-ek-sult, Che-mult, No-ak--sum, :Mooch-k2t-al lick , 
Toon-tuck-te, Boos-kl-you, Sk i-a-tic, Shol-las-loos, T2-tet­
-oas, Muz-has, Her::nan-koo s-mam, Chiefs and headmen of the 
Kl emaths , Schon chin, Stak-i t-ut, Keint-poo s, o.nd. Chcuk-e-i­
ox, Chiefs and headmen of the Moedocs, and Kile-to-2k and 
Sky-te-ock-et , Chiefs of the Yahooskin band of Snakes. 

Article I 

The tribes of I ndians aforesaid cede to the United 
States all their right , and title, and claim to all of the 
country claimed by them, the same being determined by the 
following boundaries, to wit: Beginning at the point where 
the 44th paralel of north lattitude crosses the summit of 
the Cas cades mountains ; thence following the main dividing 
rid6 e of said mountains in a southerly direction to the 
ridge which separates the waters of Pitt and McCloud Rivers 
from the waters on the north; thence along said dividing 
ridge in an ea.sterly direction to tl.-ie southern end of Goose 
Lake; thence northeasterly to the northern end of Harney 
Lake; thence due north to the 44th paralell of north latitude; 
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thence west to the place of beginning: PROVIDED, That the 
following described tract, within the country ceded by this 
treaty, shall until otherwise directed by the President of 
the Unite d States, be set apart as a residence for said 
Indi ans , held and regerded as an Indian Reservation , to wit: 
Beginning upon the eastern shore of the middle of Klamath 
Lake , at the point of Rocks, about twelve miles below the 
mouth of Williamson River; thence following up said eastern 
shore to the mouth of Wood River; thence up Wood River to 
a point one mile north of the bridge at Ft. Klamath; thence 
due eest to the summit of the ridge which divides the upper 
and middle lakes; thence due east, passing the seid north end 
of Klamath Lake, to the summit of the rnountBins on the east 
side of the lake; thence elong said mountain to the point 
where Sprague River is intersected by Ish-tish-ea-wax cre ek; 
thence in a southerly direction to the summit of the moun­
tain, the southerly extremity of which forms the point of 
Rocks; thence along said mountain to the point of begin-
ing. And the tribes aforese.id agree and bind themselves 
that, immediately after the ratification of this treaty, they 
will remove to said reservation and remain thereon, unless 
temporary leave of absence is granted to them by the super­
intendent or agent in charge of the tribes. 

It is further stipulated and agreed that no white per­
sons shall be Dermitted to locPte or remain uuon the reser­
vation, except"the Indian superintendent and agent, employ­
es of the Indien Department, and officers of the army of 
the United States, guaranteed that in case uersons other 
than those specified are found upon the reservation, they 
shall be im~ediately expelled therefrom; and the exclusive 
right of t aking fish in the streams and lakes, included in 
said reservation, and of gathering edible roots, seeds and 
berries wi~hin its limits, is hereby secured to the Indians 
aforesaid: PROVIDED, also , That the right of wey for public 
roads and public railroads across said reservation is guar­
anteed to the citizens of the United States. 

Article II 

In consideration of and in payment for the country 
ceded by this treaty, the United St ates agree to pay to the 
tribes conveying the same of the several sums of money here­
inafter enumerated, to wit: Eight thousand dollars per annum 
for a ueriod of five years, commencing on the first day of 
October , 186b, or as soon thereafter as this treaty may be 
ratified; five thous and dollars per annum for the term of 
five years next succeeding the first five yeBrs; and three 
thousend dollars per annum for term of five years next suc­
ceeding the second five years; all of the sums sholl be 
applied to the use and benifit of S8id Indians by the Sup-
er int en dent or agents having charge of t~e tribes, under 
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the direction of the President of the United Stetes, who 
shall, from time to time, in his discretion, determine for 
what projects the s"'me shall be exuended, so as to carry out 
the desi~n of the exnenditure, (it) being to promote the well­
bing of the Indians, sdvence them in civilizstion, and esnec­
ially, agriculture, and to secure them their mor:~l im·)rove­
ment. 

Article III 

The United st~tes agree to pay SP.id Indians the addit­
ional sum of thirty five thousand dollars, a -oortion whereof 
shell be used to 'Jay for such a.rticle s as may be a.dvenced to 
them at the time of the signing of this tre2ty, and the re­
mainder sh8ll be ~o~lied to subsisting the Indians during the 
first year ~fter their removal to the reservation, the pur­
chase of too:s, seeds, clothing, and nrovisions, end for the 
uayment of the necess2ry emnloyes . 

Article rv 

The United States further agree that there shall be cre­
ated at suitable -ooints on the reserv8tion, as soon as prac­
ticqble after the ratification of this treety, one saw mill, 
one flouring mill, suitable buildings for the use of the 
blacksmith, carpenter, and wagon and plough maker, the nec­
essary buildings for one manual labor school, and such hos­
nital building as may be necessary, which shall be ke-ot in 
repair at the expense of the United Stetes for the term of 
twenty years; and it is further stiryulated that the necess­
cry tools and material for t:1.e saw-mill, flouring mill, car­
penter, blacksmith, a.nd wagon maker "Tl d -olough sho-os, and 
boozs and stationery for the manual labor school, shall be 
furnished by the United States for t~e period of twenty years . 

Article V 

The United States further engage to furnish and -oay for 
the services and subsistence, for the term of fifteen years, 
of one superintendent of farmin~ operations, one farmer, one 
blacksmith, one sawyer, one carpenter, and one wagon maker and 
plough maker, and for the term of twenty years one uhysician, 
one miller, and two school teachers. 

Article VI 

The United States may, in their discretion, cause a n°rt 
or the whole of the reservation -orovided for in Article I to 
be surveyed into tr 0 cts ~nd assi~n to members of the tribes of 
IndiRn uarties to this treaty, or such of them as may aopear 
likely to be benefitted by the same, under the following res­
trictions and limitqtions, to wit: Toe-ch head of a family 
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shall be assigned and granted a tract not less than forty 
nor more than one hundred and twenty acres, a ccording to 
the number .')f persons in such family; and to each single man 
above the age of twenty one years a tract not exceeding for­
ty acres. The Indi e..ns to whom these tracts are granted are 
guaranteed the perpetual possession and use of the tracts 
thus granted and of the improvements which may be placed 
thereon; but no Indi an shall have the right to alienate or 
convey any such tract to a.ny person whet soever , and the same 
shall be forever exempt from levy, sale, or forfeiture: 
PROVIDED, Thnt the Congress of the United States ma.y here­
after abolish these restrictions and Permit the s~le of the 
lands so assigned , if the nronerty of the Indians will be 
advanced thereby: AND PROVIDED FURTHER, If any Indian, to 
whom an assignment of land hes been made , shall refuse to 
reside upon the trAct so assigned for a neriod of two ye rs, 
his right to the same shall be deemed forfeited. 

Article VII 

The President of The United States is emnowered to de­
clare such rules and regulations as will secure to the fam­
ily, in case of death of the head thereof, the use 2nd pos­
ession of the tract assigned to ~im, with the improvements 
thereon. 

Article VIII 

The annuities mentioned in this trenty shall not be 
held liable or t?ken to pay the debts of individuals. 

Article IX 

The several tribes of Indians, narties to this treaty, 
a cknowledge their denendence ur.:ion the government of the 
United States, and agree to be friendly with all citizens 
thereof, and to commit no depredations upon the person or 
oroperty of said citizens, and to refrain from c~rrying on 
any war upon the other tribes; and they further a ree that 
they will not communicate with or assist any persons or 
nation hostile to the United States, and , further , that 
they will submit to and obey all laws and regulPtions which 
the United States may prescribe for their government and 
conduct. 

Article X 

It is hereby provided that if any member of these tribes 
shall drink any s1)iri tous liauor or bring a.ny such liouor· 
uoon the reservation, his or her proportion of the benefits 
of this treaty may be withheld for such a. time BS the Presi­
dent of the United States may direct. 
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Article XI 

It is agreed between the contracting parties that if 
the Unit ed States, at any future time may desire to locate 
other tribes uoon the reservation orovided for in this trea­
ty, no objection sh8ll be maa_e thereto; but the tribes, par­
ties to this treaty, shall not, by such location of other 
tribes, forfeit any of their rights or Drivileges guaranteed 
to them by this treaty. 

Article XII 

This treaty shall bind the contracting l;)arties whenever 
the same is ratified by the Senate and President of the Un­
ited States. 

In witness of which, the several parties named in the 
foregoing treaty have hereunto set their hands 2nd se,3ls at 
the olace and date above written. 

OFFICIAL SIGNATURES 

J. W. Perit Huntington, (SEAL) 
Supt . of Indi an Affairs 

William Logan, (SEAL) 
u. s. Indian Agt. 

LA-LAKES, his X mark (SEAL) 
CHIL-0-QUE-NAS, his X mark (SEAL) 
KELL ;GUE, His X merk (SEAL) 
MO-GHEN-KAS-KIT, his X ma~ (SEAL~ 
BLOW, his X mark (SEAL 
LE-LU, his X mark (SEAL) 
PALMER, his X mark (S:ct:AL) 
JACK, his X mark (SEAL) 
Q.UE-ASS I his X mark (SBAL) 
POO-SAK-SULT, his X mark (SEAL) 
CHE-MULT, his X mark (SEAL) 
NO-AK-SUM, his X mark (SEAL) 
MOOCH-KAT-ALLICK, his X mark (SEAL) 
TOON-TUC-TEE, his X mark (SEAL) 

:~~~A~:;Ig~, his X mark (SEAL) 
his X mark (SEAL) 

i~~~T~~~ k~~s, his X mark (SEAL) 
his X mark (SEAL) 

MUK-HAS, his X mark (SEAL) 
HE.'9.MAN-KUS-MA:t,,~, his X mark (SEAL) 
JACKSON, his X mark (SEAL) 



Signed in the 

SCHONCHIN, his X mark 
ST.AK-IT-UT, his X mark 
KEINT-POOS, his X mark 
CHUCK-E-I-OX, his X mark 

KILE-TO-AK, his X mark 
SKY-TE- OCK- ET , his X mark 

oresence of: 

R. P. EARHART, Secretary, 
Wm. Kelley, 
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(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 

(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 

Caot. 1st. Cav ., Oregon Volunteers, 
James Halorhan, 

2nd Lieut. 1st Inf., W.T. Vols. 
Wm. C. McKay, M.D., 

his 
ROBERT X BIDDLE. 

mark 

And whereas, the sa.id treaty having being submitted to 
the Senate of the United States for its constitutional action 
thereon, on the second day of July, one thousand ei6ht hundred 
and sixty six, advise and conset to the ratification of the 
same, with amendments , by resolution in the words and figures 
following to wit: 

IN EXECUTIVE SESSI01r, SENATE OF THE UNITED STATES, 

July 2, 1866 

Resolved, ( two-thirds of the Senators ·ore sent concurr­
ing), That the Senate advise and consent to the ratification 
of the Articles of Agreement and Convention made and concluded 
at Klamath Lake, Or e~<on , on the 14th of October, by the Com­
missioners of the United States and the Klamath and Moadoc 
tribes and Yahoo skin b,rnd of Snakes, with the following: 

A1ENDMENTS: 

1st. Article I, ~aragrauh 2, line 3, strike out the word, 
11 guaran teed 11 , and insert in lieu thereof the word end . 

2nd. Same r_rticle , same oaragraph, line 7, strike out the 
word 11 guaranteed 11 , and insert in lieu thereof the word 
reserved. 

Attest: J. W. Forney, 
Secret2ry. 

And wheregs, the fore.o,::oing amendments having been fully 
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exolained and interpreted to the Chiefs 2nd Headmen of 
the aforementioned Klamath and Moad.oc tribes and Yahooskin 
band of Sne.kes, whose names are herein8fter signed, they did, 
on the tenth day of December, one thous9nd eight hundred and 
sixty nine, give their free and voluntary assent to the S8id 
amen~~ents, in the words and figures following to wit : 

Whereas the Senate of the United States, in executive 
session, did, on the second day of July, A.D . 1866, advise 
and consent to the ratification of the Articles of Agreement 
and Convention made and concluded at Klamath Lake, Oregon, on 
the 14th day of October, 1864, by the Commissioners on the 
part of the United States and the Klamath and Moadoc tribes 
and Yahoo skin b8.nd of Snake Indi1rns, with the following amend­
ments: 

1st Article 1, parc1grauh 2, line 3, strike out the word 
11 Guaranteed 11 , Bnd insert in lieu thereof the word and. 

2nd. Same article, same paragrauh, line 7, strike out 
the word 11 gueranteed 11 and insert in lieu thereof the word 
reserved. 

And whereas the foregoing amendments hqve been fully 
interpreted and explained to the undersigned chiefs and 
Headmen of the aforesaid Klamath and Moadoc tribes and Yahoos­
kin band of Snake Indians, we do hereby agree and assent to 
the same. 

Done at Klamath Agency, Ore/on on this tenth day of Dec­
ember, A.D., 1869. In witness of which the several narties 
named in the said treaty have hereunto set their hands and 
seBl, at the place and date above written. 

A. B. Meacham, 
Supt. of Indian Affairs 

0. c·. KnapD 
U.S. Indian Agent 

Allan Davie, signed as 
Boss-Kiyou, his X mark 

LE-LAKE, his X mark 
CHIL-O-QUE-NOS, his X mark 
MO-GHEN-KAS-KIT his X mark 
BLOW, ' his X mark 
LE-LU, his X mark 
PALMER, his X rn8rk 
JACK, his X mark 
QUE-ALL his X mark 
POO-SAK his X mark 
CHE--MULT his X mark 

(SEAL) 

(SEAL) 

(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 



NO-AK-SUM, 
MOOCH-KAT-ALLICK , 
TOON-TUC-TE, 
SHOL-LAL-LOOS, 
TAT-TET-POS, 
MUK-HAS , 
HERMAN- KUS- iv1AN 
JACKSON, ' 
SCHON-CHIN, 
KILE-TO-AK, 
STAK-IT-UT, 
KEINT-POCS, 

Signed in the presence of : 

Wm. C. McKay, Secretary 
J. (I'?) D. Apolegg_te 
Jno. Meacham . 

his 
his 
h is 
his 
his 
his 
h is 
his 
his 
h is 
his 
his 

X mark 
X mark 
X mark 
X m"'rk 
X mark 
X mark 
X mark 
X m2rk 
X mark 
X mark 
X mark 
X mark 
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(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL) 
(SEAL ) 
(SEAL ) 
(SEAL ) 
(SEAL ) 
(SEAL ) 
(SEAL ) 
(SEAL) 

Now, therefore, be it known that I, Ulysses S. Grent, 
President of the United States of America, do, in nursuo.nce of 
the advice and consent of the SenAte, as expressed in its res­
olution of the second day of July, one thousand eight hundred 
E>nd sixty six, a cc ept , ratify, and confirm the s"'id treaty , 
with the amendments as aforesaid . 

In testimony whereof , I hcve hereto signed my nar1e , and 
CPused the sePl of the United States to be affixed. 

Done at the City of Washington this seventeenth dAy of 
Febru,,,ry, in the yeer of Our Lord one thouse.nd eizht hundred 
P.nd seventy, and of the Independence of the United St2tes of 
America the ninety fourth . 

By the President: Ham Fish Sec. U. S. GRANT 
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